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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-36766

New Relic, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Delaware 26-2017431
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

188 Spear Street, Suite 1200
San Francisco, California 94105
(Address of principal executive offices, includingip code)

(650) 777-7600
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which register
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per shai New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢iie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%edBéturities Act.  Yed] No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 o) % the Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sexti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &418uring
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter pahatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing neguents for
the past 90 days. Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iisnitted electronically and posted on its corpovdeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File rieed to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the pding 12 months (or for such shorter period that th
registrant was required to submit and post suek)fil Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorK§8229.405) is not contained herein, and will betcontained, t
the best of registrant’'s knowledge, in definitivexy or information statements incorporated by nexiee in Part 111 of this Form 1R-or any amendment to tt
Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se the
definition of “large accelerated filer”, “acceleedtfiler”, and “smaller reporting company” in Rul2b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a small reporting compal Small reporting compar O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantdbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje Act). Yes[O No

The aggregate market value of the voting and namg@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgistrant, based on the closing price of a shatbeof
registrant’'s common stock on December 31, 2014 perted by the New York Stock Exchange on such, date approximately $693,393,031. The registrant
has elected to use December 31, 2014, which wdaghbusiness day of the registrant’s most regemtmpleted third fiscal quarter, as the calcutatate
because on September 30, 2014 (the last busingss thee registrant’'s most recently completed sedistal quarter), the registrant was a privatedyah
company and therefore the registrant is unablaltutate market value as of that date. Shareseofdgistrant’'s common stock held by each execuatifieer,
director and holder of 10% or more of the outstagdiommon stock (as determined based on publig§)i have been excluded in that such persons may be
deemed to be affiliates. This calculation doesrafdect a determination that certain persons dikesés of the registrant for any other purpose.

As of May 15, 2015, there were 47,222,049 sharéiseofegistrant’'s common stock, par value $0.0G1spare, outstanding.

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statmt relating to the Annual Meeting of Stockholdams incorporated by reference into Part Il o§tAhnual
Report on Form 10-K where indicated. Such DefigitRroxy Statement will be filed with the Securitiesl Exchange Commission within 120 days after the
end of the registrant’s fiscal year ended March281,5.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwémdking statements within the meaning of the fetseaurities laws, which stateme
involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Fodalaoking statements generally relate to futurenéser our future financial or operating
performance. In some cases, you can identify faivi@oking statements because they contain words as¢may,” “will,” “should,” “shall,”
“might,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates;believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” or “continue” or the negative of theserds or other similar terms or expressions thatern our expectations, strategy, plans, or
intentions. Forward-looking statements containethis Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but ao¢ Imited to, statements about:

. our future financial performance, including savenue, cost of revenue, gross profit, gross imaogerating expenses, ability to
generate positive cash flow, and ability to achiamd maintain profitability

. the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalentaget our liquidity need:

. our ability to attract and retain customersise our products, to optimize the pricing for oroducts, and to expand our sales to ou
customers

. the evolution of technologies affecting our produahd markets

. our ability to innovate and provide a superior usgrerience and our intentions and strategy wiheet theretc
. our ability to successfully expand in our existingrkets and into new markets, including internaionarkets
. the attraction and retention of key person

. our ability to effectively manage our growth anduiie expense:

. our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance otellectual property

. worldwide economic conditions and their impact perging; anc

. our ability to comply with modified or new lavesid regulations applying to our business, inclggirivacy and data security
regulations

We caution you that the foregoing list does nottainall of the forward-looking statements mad#hiis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statemeaggpredictions of future events. We have basetbtiaard-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K priilyaon our current expectations and projectionsudtfioture events and trends that we
believe may affect our business, financial conditimperating results, and prospects. The outcontieeagvents described in these forward-
looking statements is subject to risks, uncertamtand other factors described in the secti@ttitRisk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a \oemypetitive and rapidly changing environment. Nesks and uncertainties emerge from
time to time, and it is not possible for us to peedll risks and uncertainties that could havemapact on the forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Waraat assure you that the results, events, andmstances reflected in the forwaabking
statements will be achieved or occur, and actiglltg events, or circumstances could differ maligrirom those described in the forward-
looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this AnrRegbort on Form 10-K relate only to events as ofd&e on which the statements are
made. We undertake no obligation to update anydaiviooking statements made in this Annual Reporform 10-K to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of this Annual Repoifform 10-K or to reflect new information or thecarrence of unanticipated events, excep
as required by law. We may not actually achievepthes, intentions, or expectations disclosed infoward-looking statements and you
should not place undue reliance on our forward-loglstatements. Our forward-looking statements atareflect the potential impact of any
future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joiehtures, or investments we may make.
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PART |

Iltem 1. Business
Overview

We are defining a new category of enterprise saftwee call Software Analytics. Our cloud-basedfplat and suite of products enables
organizations to collect, store, and analyze masamounts of software data in real time. We dealbour products to be highly intuitive and
frictionless; they are easy to deploy, and custsman rapidly, often within minutes, realize betsedind results. Technology users can use ou
products to quickly find and fix performance prohkeas well as prevent future issues. Business ggehsas product managers can get ans
to how their new product launch is being receivedhow a pricing change impacted customer retentigtmout waiting for help from IT.
Software developers can build better applicati@ssefr, as they can see how their software willgparfand is actually performing for end-
users. As of March 31, 2015, we enabled our usetsltect, store, and analyze over 700 billion dadants daily and monitored user
experiences on over a million website domains. fglarch 31, 2015, we had over 500,000 users. Wimelef user as an email address
associated with an account that has deployed diwa® code and from which we receive data froneast one application. As of March 31,
2015, we had 11,910 paid business accounts. Aestugitomer may have multiple paid business accdongeparate divisions, segments, or
subsidiaries.

Software has become increasingly critical to bussee and consumers worldwide, from online retatiingocial networking to customer
relationship management. This software is founajgplications and throughout the architectures oichivtihose applications run: servers,
websites, operating systems, mobile devices, amel dT assets. The use of this software generatgs iolumes of data about how it is
performing, the end-user experience, and the tctioss flowing through it. Historically, organizatis collected and analyzed only a small
fraction of this data due to technology and busiremstraints, including high costs and limitedddas, except for specific use cases such as
application performance management, clickstreantysisaand web traffic measurement. Legacy softvwpaioelucts were typically customized,
expensive, required training, and thus limiteddsibess-critical applications within large orgatiaas. As a result, the vast majority of
software data has been underutilized.

Several fundamental technology and business traredenabling Software Analytics today. As softwaaie become increasingly critical,
it contains more of the data that organizationglrieanake key decisions. As cloud computing antasok-as-a-service, or Saas, replace on-
premise architectures, more data is being geneeatédnalyzed. Software developers are rapidlyeaging in stature and influence within
organizations, and able to shape IT trends sucloas adoption. New technologies have been devdltpenable greater storage and faster
analysis of massive quantities of unstructuredstnettured data with greater speed and flexibility.

In light of these trends, we saw the opportunitySoftware Analytics to empower technology and bess users to make use of this
underutilized software data. We provide developéts our software code, called agents, to add &ir tapplications and infrastructure quickly
and easily. These intelligent agents enable oususddentify vast amounts of data they would li&éave sent to our cloud-based, big data
database. Our database stores and organizes ¢hthdbive receive from our users for analysis thihoa simple dashboard interface that users
can easily configure to monitor their key metriosl @uickly make queries using simple phrases. Gtuitive and frictionless product design
results in users being able to quickly receive ysialof their data. With this visibility, develoetan significantly improve the quality of their
software, and business and technology users caeagetime insights into their data.

Our Software Analytics solution is comprised ofiategrated suite of products, a big data datatzsan open platform. All of our
products have a simple user interface, and requimémal training or integration. Our products fechnology users focus on software
performance management and monitoring and corfsiééw Relic APM (Application Performance Managemehtew Relic Mobile, New
Relic Servers, New Relic Browser, and New RelictBgtics. New Relic Insights provides big data atiedyto both business and technology
users that enable them to easily extract actionafdemation from the massive quantities of unstwoed and
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structured data flowing through their software. NRelic Plugins offers a plugin architecture inchmliapplication programming interfaces, or
APIs, and software development kits, or SDKs, fsstomers and partners to embed and extend ouiaolato their products. Today, there
hundreds of plugins to extend our functionalityotber applications and infrastructures includingafon Web Services, Microsoft Azure,
MongoDB, and Oracle mySQL.

Our go-to-market strategy combines grassrootsad@ption with both low-touch and high-touch salpgraaches. Our products are easy
to download and use, which allowed us to buildrgdaase of users and smaller organizations befereven began to grow and develop our
enterprise sales organization. Over time, usefsinvirger organizations began to grow our footpniithin their companies, as they often
purchase our products for a specific use case @mskguently expand their use of our products. Wiiruee to build our direct enterprise sales
and support operation in order to better markeinid support larger organizations, which represgmbwing portion of our revenue.

We have achieved rapid customer adoption, higlooust retention, and significant growth since owmfding. For our fiscal years ended
March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, our revenue wa8.8Itillion, $63.2 million, and $29.7 million, resgtively, representing year-over-year
growth of 113% from the fiscal year ended MarchZ113 to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014,7%% from the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2014 to the fiscal year ended March 8152 We had net losses of $50.1 million, $40.2iarilland $22.5 million for our fiscal ye:
ended March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

We were formed in Delaware in September 2007 as Relie Software, LLC. We converted from a Delawirated liability company
to a Delaware corporation and changed our nameste Relic, Inc. in February 2008. Our principal extaee offices are located at 188 Spear
Street, Suite 1200, San Francisco, California 942688 our telephone number is (650) 777-7600. Galrsite address igww.newrelic.com
Information contained on, or that can be accedseditih, our website is not intended to be incorfgardy reference into this Annual Repor
Form 10-K and references to our website addresisrAnnual Report on Form 10-K are inactive tekteéerences only. We completed our
initial public offering in December 2014 and ounomon stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchangéer the symbol “NEWR.” Unless
the context requires otherwise, the words “New &efive,” “Company,” “us,” and “our” refer to New &ic, Inc. and our wholly owned
subsidiaries. “New Relic,” the New Relic logo, asttier trademarks or service marks of New Relic thay appear in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K are our property. This Annual Report anrfr 10-K contains additional trade names, tradesjakd service marks of other
companies. We do not intend our use or displayttidrocompanies’ trade names, trademarks, or semvérks to imply a relationship with, or
endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these otmepanies.

Our Solution

We have developed our Software Analytics suiterofipcts, big data database, and open platformlpotéehnology and business users
make real-time, data-driven decisions to improvsifess and IT performance. In addition, developarsbuild better software, build it faster,
and keep it running optimally for end-user exper@n Our solution enables users to collect, storé,analyze vast quantities of unstructured
and structured data flowing through and about tbefitware.

We currently offer an integrated suite of severdpas that we continue to enhance and expand:
* New Relic APM: Application performance managem
* New Relic Mobile: Mobile application performance managem
* New Relic Server: Server monitoring for cloud and data cen
* New Relic Browse: Enc-user experience monitoring and performance monidx
* New Relic Synthetic: Software testing through simulated us

* New Relic Plugins: Plugins to extend our functionality into othepégpations

4



Table of Contents

New Relic Insights: Rea-time big data analytics for business mana

This suite of products uses a common infrastrudimenable customers to:

Collect.Our intelligent agents are software code that dgesks easily deploy into their applications andtesd IT infrastructure,
including physical and virtual servers, browsers] mobile devices. These agents configure autoaitito their particular IT
environment and collect and send event and perfocmdata that is defined by the customer secuoetyt proprietary cloud
database. The agents typically send this informaiditce a minute, and are designed to cause mitamesicy on the applicatio

Store.Data received from the agents deployed by our ousts is stored in our highly secure and scalalbedsbased, big data
database. Our database has been crafted so thaistamers do not need to build or maintain thein big data solution for
Software Analytics. We optimized this databasetdoesunstructured and structured data as well adleéahe analytics and queries
that we believe are important to drive decision imgkCustomers can easily define which data theytuw@collect and store for
analysis.

Analyze.Our simple and intuitive user interface consista dfashboard of graphical charts for key performandicators, which a
easily configurable and enable deep drill-down sad cause analysis. Our New Relic Insights prodist includes a field for
queries utilizing the New Relic Query LanguageN&QL, similar to the commonly used Structured Queagguage, or SQL.
Users can type a simple query into the NRQL figld eeceive the answer in a range of visual andrgcapformats. We also
provide a feature within New Relic Insights call@dta Apps that enables users to create and pubbsh of customer-curated
dashboards, along with an optional search fielduée by no-technical business use

Key Elements of Our Solution

Built on Cloud Architecture. We designed our products based on a cloud archigeand a SaaS delivery model. We are able to
provide frequent updates to our software enablgtpicontinuously improve it to reflect technoladgvelopments. This delivers a
wide range of technology and financial benefitsraw-premise architecture

Flexibility to Manage Cloud, Hybrid, and GC-Premise Architecturesin addition to modern cloud architectures, our Ss@iStion
can manage hybrid cloud and heterogeneous aralmiésctincluding orpremise software. Users are able to rapidly deployagent
globally across their IT environmel

Built for Modern Software We support a broad range of software developmagulages and frameworks from the widely used
Java and .NET, to more recent and emerging languagesh as Ruby, PHP, Python, and Node.js, as watiadile operating
systems including iOS and Android. Our agents astlyyembedded into applications built using altfedse languages, without the
need for customized codin

Mobile Enabled.We provide a native mobile version of our SoftwAralytics products with nearly all functionality @ssible and
usable through mobile devices. Our products argued to anticipate and handle the complexity obiteoarchitectures, such as
mobile carrier performance and user locat

Big Data Database and AnalyticOur proprietary, cloud-based database leveragegmdug data technologies, including in-
memory storage and distributed clustering techriguiich enable our users to collect and storehdl of events and data points
each day. Our database structure allows customeasily build dashboards or make queries to deta@-time insights

Easy and Intuitive We design our products to be simple, intuitive, asdrriendly. Users are able to learn, deploy, and meginc
our products with minimal or no training, often kit a few minutes. This is important for developsts do not need to do extra
coding or configuration to use o
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products. It is also important for business andd&rs who can leverage our products to augmentehkisiting knowledge of
applications and infrastructut

* Low Total Cost of OwnershifWe price our products on a subscription basis, flétkible pricing plans so each customer is only
paying for the products and usage they are congurinr customers do not need to invest in additibaedware, infrastructure, or
services to utilize our produc!

* Integrated Suite Our suite currently consists of seven productsdhatntegrated, share a common design and ussface, and
access the same cloud-based database structure.ddsemove seamlessly among different analytiegoates and use cases for
their software data. Users are able to easily aditianal products to extend their ability to olté&isights from their same or new
portions of their software dat

» Extensible PlatformWe provide APIs and SDKs for customers, partnard,developers to easily build applications whidegnate
with and embed our product functionality into otlgplications. Today, there are hundreds of pludgaeeloped internally or by
third parties making it even easier to embed oadpcts into specific use cases. This enables ars s tailor our products to
specific use cases and industries beyond the progiag languages, frameworks, and operating systeatsve suppor

» Enterprise Scalability and SecurittOur products are designed to be scalable and satlgrenable our users to collect, store, and
analyze billions of data points per day. By defaolir software data transmissions are encryptécisit and stored in our secure
tier 3 SSAE-16 certified data center. We also penfan annual SOC-2 type 2 audit. In addition, oanagement tools provide
administrators with highly granular security cofgrimcluding user provisioning, access, and prgeie

Benefits of Our Solution

e Technology UsersTechnology users can easily deploy our productssacheir IT architectures to monitor overall healbd
performance. They can more rapidly identify protdemolate root causes, and address problems.r@iytias tools also enable
them to prevent future issue

» Business UsersBusiness users can use our products to obtainrdaétime analytics about their business. Theyahte to access
and analyze far more unstructured software datattfaaitional on-premise analytics solutions they upon structured data from
transactional applications. Business users areadilgoto easily configure their graphical dashbsardkey performance indicators,
or quickly make queries using NRQL, without needingvait for a data scientist to design a new reppprogram a new quer

» Software Developer:Software developers can use our products for adrarege of traditional and emerging development
languages and frameworks. With our products, tlaeyhetter monitor software performance to contislyoimprove it as well as
fix and prevent problems. Developers can builddretoftware, build it faster, and keep it runniqgimally for end-user
experiences

Limitations of Existing Solutions

A number of legacy and emerging companies providduyzts to collect and analyze software data feir®ss and technology managers
However, these suffer from a range of limitatiomsluding:

« Difficult and Time-Consuming.Existing solutions typically require developers aechnology and business users to undergo
upfront and ongoing user training to learn. Theigohs are often customized and provisioned overctiurse of several months
through the central IT function. Any changes todb#ection, storage, or analyses of data needs tthrough the IT group or
specialized data scientis

» High Total Cost of OwnershipThe majority of existing products has been deplayegremise, requiring substantial upfront
investments in IT infrastructure and extensive inpéntation
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customization, maintenance, and training costsafiimtions often choose not to deploy these pradoctpostpone
implementations of upgraded versions, due to corsceslating to the substantial costs involv

* On-Premise ArchitecturesSolutions built for legacy, on-premise architectuage highly customized, expensive to purchase and
operate, and require frequent upgrades and maimtenn addition, they are fundamentally unabladapt to cloud architectures
and SaaS models. They typically rely on systentoliect, store, and analyze data which are higpgcsic to the particular
customer’s software applications and environmeat@int in time. For example, the agents for abitey data need to be highly
customized and typically involve significant latgrio send date

e Support Limited to Legacy SoftwarDevelopers using new languages and frameworksitd modern software need solutions
which understand them. Most legacy solutions weiitt to understand COBOL, C++, Java, and .NET. Hasvemodern languages
and frameworks such as Ruby, PHP, Python, and adgresent a large and growing proportion of igpfibns and website

» Lack of Support for Mobile Devices and ApplicatiorLegacy solutions were typically designed for buser technology users
sitting at their desktop. Today’s users increasirgpect and need to be able to do their jobs deitsieir office, wherever and
whenever they want, on a variety of mobile devitesddition, both legacy applications running oohife devices and native
mobile applications involved different architectsignd are very difficult to be managed by systeessghed to work c-premise

» Lack of Big Data and AnalyticsExisting solutions typically use structured trarigatl data, representing a small and shrinking
portion of software data. This significantly limit¢he types, timeliness, and flexibility of analydkbey could support. Big data
analytics are typically cost prohibitive for alltithe largest organizatior

» Fragmented Point SolutionsExisting solutions were built for a wide range pésific use cases which had to be business or
technology critical, such as traditional applicatmerformance management, CRM or ERP analyticsliakstream analysis. These
products addressed limited use cases and werategtated with other applications, forcing busiess® select and integrate
solutions from a variety of vendors, resulting iloed analytics

Our Technology
Intelligent Software Agents

We have developed a library of purpose-built ingeiht software agents that supports a wide vagéprogramming languages, mobile
platforms, and operating systems. Our agent softwade is deployed easily and quickly onto appboaservers, browsers, mobile devices,
and operating systems. We currently provide irgetit software agents that support the following:

Programming Language: Mobile Platforms Operating System:
.NET Android Joyent SmartO.
Java i0S Linux
JavaScrip Windows
Node.js

PHP

Python

Ruby

Once integrated, our agents quickly recognize tifeemvironment and configure themselves automiyicehey then enable our users to
collect performance and event data that is definethe customer and report it each minute, on @ our cloud-based database for storag
and analysis.
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Big Data Database and Analytics

Our cloud-based, big data database can store apdngrmassive amounts of both unstructured andistea data for rapid analysis and
flexible querying. Our New Relic Insights applicatj which utilizes a flexible and scheness database architecture optimized for unstred
data, allows seamless storage of new data typksling data collected by agents and through ouisAfbes not require indexing, and runs
super-cluster with massive amounts of computingueses to query billions of events in real-time.

We provide a “single pane of glass” view into dlbair applications with diagnostic capabilitiesluming transaction details, database
details, error details, topology maps, code depkrytnneports, and service level reports. Our ugerfaces were built internally using modern
web and mobile technologies, including HTML5 andaBcript to deliver interactive and actionable dasaalization such as charts and graph
that continuously refresh to provide real-time ilitly. Users interact with New Relic Insights ugiNRQL, which is a modified version of
SQL, a language with which developers and manynessi analysts are already familiar. Users also tievehoice of electing to integrate data
received from the intelligent software agents tteploy and stored by us into other analytics apfibnis and user interfaces of their choice.

Our Products

We offer four tiers of our products to our custosaé@ur Lite version is offered at no charge to siserd has basic functionality, 24-hour
retention of data, and community support. Our Saathdnd Pro versions are paid versions that inatioiee functionality, storage, and support.
Our Enterprise version is also a paid version antudes the highest level of product functionaldyr highest levels of support, a dedicated
technical account manager, and defined servicdde@air suite of products is comprised of the foilay:

New Relic APM

New Relic APM provides visibility into the performee and usage of server-based applications, sutatagpertaining to response time,
transaction throughput, error rates, top transastiand user satisfaction. Other elements of Nelic R®M include:

» Comprehensive DiagnosticNew Relic APM provides a comprehensive set of festuincluding Transaction Tracing, X-ray
Sessions, Cross Application Tracing, Thread PrafilDatabase Diagnostics, and Slow SQL Traces.eTties users visibility into
the underlying source code which can significargljuce the time needed to identify and fix the ztse of a problem by helping
users pinpoint the exact lines of code causingtbblem.

* Reporting and Alerting New Relic APM provides reporting and alerting fuanglity through standard configurations as well as
customer-defined policy configurations. These alartlude application performance degradationinfgltraffic, and declining user
satisfaction metrics. Alerts can be delivered tigtoa variety of channels including email, text nages, push naotifications, and
social channels and can be integrated with bugitrgsystems and group chat applicatic

» Application Speed IndexOur Application Speed Index, or ASI, is our propaig benchmarking report comparing application
performance with those of competitors. The ASI tages the data stored in our cloud database toyarmrsly compare applicatic
performance

» Business Transaction MonitoringWithin New Relic APM, our Key Transactions featemables business users to collect and
analyze data generated by business transactioasasely from data about application performai

New Relic Mobile

New Relic Mobile provides code-level visibility mthe performance and health of mobile applicatiumging on the iOS and Android
mobile operating systems. Other elements of NevicR&bbile include:

» End-to-End Visibility . When combined with New Relic APM, New Relic Mobjdeovides end-to-end visibility into the IT
infrastructure affecting mobile application perf@nce. Native mobile applicatio
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depend on code running on the device and on conuatiomns with backend services, such as mobile egipdin servers, both
internal and third party. New Relic Mobile providasde-level diagnostics for native app code runiminghe mobile device and
enables performance, throughput, crash reportimdj earor analysis for the interactions betweemtlodile application and the
supporting backend service

Mobile Device Metrice. New Relic Mobile provides detail on usage of mobliéice resources, including CPU, memory, and
network bandwidth from actual user devices. Theshifity helps developers understand how their @afibns affect their
customer devices, and how to optimize the

User Interactions. The User Interactions feature provides detailedkadewns of time spent in the code running on thecee
including view loading, method calls, and dataestactivity. Mobile application developers leverdhis feature to pinpoint
problematic code and resolve problel

New Relic Servers

New Relic Servers, which is currently included witbw Relic APM, provides visibility into server angerating system performance for
physical and virtual servers, including servers #va deployed on-premise or in the cloud, by aziatykey metrics which include CPU usage,
physical memory, network activity, and disk I/Oliation and capacity. Other elements of New R8kecvers include:

360° Performance Monitoringln combination with New Relic APM, New Relic Sersgrovides end-to-end visibility into how
server resources and utilization levels impactghyglications being rut

Cross«Functional Collaboration.New Relic Servers enables greater cross-functioogberation among software developers, IT
operations, quality assurance, and other typicaldpartments within companies. By presenting sgyeeiormance with application
performance in a shared user interface, New Relige3s enables these departments to collaboratr betdentifying and
addressing underlying performance issi

New Relic Browser

New Relic Browser monitors the page view experismafeactual end-users for desktop and mobile brodwased applications and
provides code-level diagnostics for JavaScript aoa@ing directly in the browser. Other elementdlefv Relic Browser include:

End-User Experience Monitorin¢. New Relic Browser monitors the page load time fegninteractions, providing data on how
time is spent during each page load, including netwtime, request queuing, document object modaetgssing, and page
rendering. Customers utilize this data to imprdweuser experience by implementing caching teckesiqueducing asset sizes, and
leveraging content delivery network servic

JavaScript Code DiagnosticsNVeb applications increasingly embed applicationdagto JavaScript code running within the user’s
browser to build richer, browser-based applicatiddeswv Relic Browser provides developers with coeleel visibility into the
performance of JavaScript code within u’ browsers

Browser Comparisolr. Developers can compare how their software perfamsarious desktop and mobile browsers and version:
in order to identify browsspecific problems

Geographic PerformanceNew Relic Browser can automatically identify, traekd analyze the geographic location of each page
view to provide performance analytics by geographgluding response time, user satisfaction, apiben adoption, and usage
trends.
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New Relic Synthetics

New Relic Synthetics simulates usage and reproduesisesritical functionality that enables our users tst tdeir software througho
the entire development life cycle. Users benefitrfrenhanced visibility, availability, and reliabjliof their software without depending on
interactions from real users. Other elements of IR&@lc Synthetics include:

» Standard-Based. New Relic Synthetics uses open standards, incluiiegppen source scripting language Selenium, teriia
easy to quickly get started and automate t

» Deep Integration. New Relic Synthetics is integrated into our prodaugte, including New Relic APM, New Relic Browsand
New Relic Insights

* Global Test Location:. Users can select what region they want their @gbts to run from, giving them visibility into thgdobal
performance of their web applicatic

» Preemptive Visibility. Users can resolve issues with busi-critical transactions before e-users experience thel

New Relic Plugins

New Relic Plugins, which is currently included wittew Relic APM, provides customers, partners, &ird{party developers with APIs
and SDKSs to build plugins that extend our functidypand data into almost any application or IT @amment. For example, while our focus is
on supporting modern programming languages andefnarks with our agents, some customers and devaltaee built plugins to address
custom or legacy on-premise applications and achites. In addition, plugins can also extend timetionality and data from other
applications and sources into our databases. TheR&dic Plugin Central marketplace offers hundrefisasily downloadable plugins to users.
Other elements include:

» Extensibility. We provide APIs and SDKs to allow developers talgasid quickly integrate and embed the functioyadif our
products and data with other applications and satsices. We also offer a click and drag dashbaaation tool that allows users
customize their user experien

* Plugins. Plugins have been built to monitor IT architectelements including databases, networks, queuingsgs and
communication tools, enabling customers to morheir entire application stack. In general, datafrsources other than our agt
is presented in the same dashboard alongside th&aring data from our agents. Many plugins ardtlarid used within the
workday. Plugins can be kept proprietary or shavi¢gd the broader public communit

New Relic Insights

New Relic Insights enables technology and busiosess to perform real-time analysis in order to enfalster, data-driven decisions
about their organizations. The New Relic Insighatatlase receives and stores trillions of data poither elements of New Relic Insights
include:

» lterative Business Intelligence and Analyti. New Relic Insights is built on a proprietary evdatabase that runs in a cloud-
hosted, highly distributed super-cluster. The dasabwvas built to query billions of data pointsaad than a second, enabling ad-ho
analytics of business data in real time. It coflexntd stores this data from software sources imguor New Relic Browser, New
Relic APM and New Relic Mobile product

* New Relic Query Languag. We developed NRQL as a SQL-like query languagenopéid for real-time analytics. Users with
experience with SQL can use NRQL immediately. Tdmglage is also easy to learn for non-technicabus®d users with no SQL
experience. NRQL has autocomplete capabilitiesabsist users by providing proper syntax as thpg,tguggesting built-in
analytics functions, and can list the attributed avent types available for queryir
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» Data Visualizations and Dashboarc. New Relic Insights produces intuitive data visuatians with every query, with pre-built
charts and graphs to make the analysis easierdersiand and share. Dashboards automatically upddtesfresh in real-time by
continuously executing NRQL queries. New Relic ¢iis also includes a feature called Data Appsehables users to create and
publish a set of custon-curated dashboards, along with an optional seaetth for use by nc-technical business use

Ducksboard Acquisition

In October 2014, we acquired Few Ducks, S.L., ock3board, a Barcelona-based SaaS provider ofirealdashboards for tracking
business metrics from a broad set of applicatiameas. Ducksboard brings together and visualizés fdam a wide range of applications and
customer data sources, such as Salesforce.come@erahd Twitter. Ducksboard enables users to Nigudata from multiple external
applications alongside their internal metrics, samdreate dashboards through API calls. Duckshisanded by hundreds of businesses and its
customers have created tens of thousands of dastshdEe intend to integrate Ducksboard into oudpmob suite.

Employees

As of March 31, 2015, we had 661 employees, indgdémporary employees. We also engage consultdate of our employees is
covered by collective bargaining agreements andamsider our relations with our employees to bedgoo

Operations

We host our applications and serve all our custerfrem a data center located in Chicago, llling utilize third parties to provide our
data center infrastructure and manage the hardevavehich our products operate. We utilize industgndard hardware in redundant
configurations to minimize service interruptionseWiaintain a formal and comprehensive security namglesigned to ensure the security an
integrity of our data, protect against securitye#iis or data breaches, and prevent unauthorizedsatw the data of our customers. Our
technology uses multi-tenant architecture, enaldihgur customers to share the same version opmducts while securely partitioning their
data.

Research and Development

Our research and development organization is ressplerfor the design, development, and testinglatspects of our Software Analytics
platform and suite of products. We invest heavilyhese efforts to continuously improve, innovare] add new features to our solutions.

We deploy new features, functionality, and techgi@e through daily and weekly software releasagpdiates in order to minimize
disruption and provide for constant improvementr @oduct managers regularly engage with custonparsners, and industry analysts, as
well as other stakeholders, in functions such Essaustomer success, marketing, and businessogevent to understand customer needs as
well as general trends in our industry. Once produprovements are identified, the development oizgtion works closely together to desi
develop, test, and launch a solution.

The majority of our research and development tesabased in our Portland, Oregon office, as wetliasSan Francisco, California offic
To foster rapid innovation, our team is further apipned into smaller, agile development teams.

As of March 31, 2015, we had 181 employees in esearch and development organization. Our reseactidevelopment expenses w
$24.0 million, $16.5 million, and $8.6 million fdne fiscal years ended March 31, 2015, 2014, ad@ 2@spectively.
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Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing organizations work togeattosely to drive market awareness, create and geanser and customer leads,
provide qualified leads to our sales pipeline, hodd customer relationships to drive revenue ghowis of March 31, 2015, we had 282
employees in our sales and marketing organization.

Sales

We sell our products to businesses of all sizegelsrthrough our direct sales organization. Ouedlisales organization is organized by
size of customer and geography and is focused @migg accounts and usage so as to provide ourrmmessowith a broader set of our product
solutions.

Our sales organization has separate teams focusgahaler companies, mid-market organizations,large enterprises. Our specific
sales strategy is based on the size of accournthan@rget user at an organization—software deeetyusiness or product managers, or IT
managers.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy targets software developérgaders, and technology executives across nratystries and regions.
Additionally, our events, demand generation, cugioprograms, corporate communications, and praghacketing teams focus on building
brand, engagement, and demand with our target tsa& utilize both online and offline marketingtiatives, including search engine and
email marketing, online banner and video advemisiblogs, corporate communications, whitepapeiss studies, user events, and webinars.
We believe an effective method to market our swiitproducts is for users to actively use and expits capabilities. We encourage free trials
of one or more of our products in order to sucaglys€onvert those accounts to paid subscriptidis.offer 14-day and 30-day free trials of
our paid products.

Customer Support

Our products are designed to minimize the needdstomer support, as users can easily downloatd/liresnd deploy our software age
without needing support. However, as we increaseostomer account base with larger enterprisesgtisustomers typically expect and
require more support and accountability. We offestrage of customer support options with multipleels of support. These include free
community support, email support, and phone suppprto our enterprise customer support organiaatat provides dedicated customer
success representatives, onsite support, with btapabilities and is available at all hours of tlagy.

Partnerships and Strategic Relationships

We have built marketing relationships with a numbieiechnology companies to help promote and gronuser base and footprint. We
also have developed partnerships with several gioadiders including Amazon Web Services, Microgftre, Rackspace, and others where
we collaborate to ensure our products work welapplications running on their clouds. These proadgfer access to our products through
links on their websites, refer developers and oploéential users to us, and expand our marketiaghtéWe also have a partnership with
Salesforce.com where developers using the Salesfatevelopment platform can easily deploy our petalinto their applications.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive industry thathsiracterized by constant change and innovatiban@es in the applications and the
programing languages used to develop applicatiedces, operating systems, and technology landsesult in evolving customer
requirements.

Our competitors fall into four primary categories:

» software performance providers such as AppDynanhics,and Splunk Inc
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» diversified technology companies such as Heviratkard Company, International Business Mach@mporation, Microsoft
Corporation, and Oracle Corporatic

» large enterprise software and service compasuiek as BMC Software, Inc., CA, Inc., CompuwaregBaation, Riverbed
Technology, Inc., and SAP SE; a

» companies offering analytics products compewith our New Relic Insights product, including Gé®d¢nc. and Webtrends In

The principal competitive factors in our marketlirde:
» product features, architecture, reliability, segunerformance, effectiveness, and supported enrients
» product extensibility and ability to integrate witther technology infrastructure
» software analytics expertis
» ease of use of produc
» total cost of ownershiy
» adherence to industry standards and certificati
» strength of sales and marketing effo
e brand awareness and reputation;
» focus on customer succe
We believe we generally compete favorably with campetitors on the basis of these factors. Mamyuofcompetitors have substantially

greater financial, technical, and other resourgesater name recognition, larger sales and markéitilgets, broader distribution, and larger
and more mature intellectual property portfolios.

Intellectual Property

We rely on federal, state, common law, and intéonat rights, as well as contractual restrictidosprotect our intellectual property. We
control access to our proprietary technology agdrdhms by entering into confidentiality and intiem assignment agreements with our
employees and contractors, and confidentiality egents with third parties.

In addition to these contractual arrangements, la@raly on a combination of trade secrets, copysgtrademarks, service marks, and
domain names to protect our intellectual propekyof March 31, 2015, we had one patent applicgbemding in the United States and two
trademark registrations for “New Relic.”

Circumstances outside our control could pose athoeour intellectual property rights. For examiective intellectual property
protection may not be available in the United $tateother countries in which we operate. Also,dfferts we have taken to protect our
proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effgeti Any significant impairment of our intellectyaioperty rights could harm our business or
our ability to compete. Also, protecting our ingellual property rights is costly and time-consumitugy unauthorized disclosure or use of our
intellectual property could make it more expensiveo business and harm our operating results.

Companies in Internaelated industries may own large numbers of pateoisyrights, and trademarks and may frequentlyesglicens:
agreements, threaten litigation, or file suit aghirs based on allegations of infringement or oti@ations of intellectual property rights. We
are currently subject to, and expect to face irfulgre, allegations that we have infringed thelérmarks, copyrights, patents, and other
intellectual property rights of third parties, inding our competitors and non-practicing entit/es we face increasing competition and as our
business grows, we will likely face more claimsrdfingement.
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Geographic Information

For a description of our revenue and long-livecetssby geographic location, see note 14 of thesrioteur consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Regoform 10-K.

Available Information

Our website is located atww.newrelic.com and our investor relations website is locatelttat//ir.newrelic.com/ Copies of our Annuz
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report on Form 102Q¢rent Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments &etheports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secwsriirchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchaagare available, free of charge, on
investor relations website as soon as reasonabbtipable after we file such material electronigalith or furnish it to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or the SEC. The SEC also miaina website that contains our SEC filings. Tdidress of the site isww.sec.gov
Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 1@sHKocated at the SEC’s Public Reference Room @tFL8treet, NE, Washington, D.C.
20549. Information on the operation of the Publafdkence Room can be obtained by calling the SEC3&0-SEC-0330.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain evenigant&ipate in or host with members of the investincommunity on our investor
relations website. Additionally, we provide not#ttons of news or announcements regarding our diahperformance, including SEC filings,
investor events, press and earnings releases,|@gsl ds part of our investor relations website. NRslic has used, and intends to continue to
use, our investor relations website, as well aslauitter account (@newrelic), as means of disclgsimaterial non-public information and for
complying with its disclosure obligations under Rkegion FD. Further corporate governance infornmtiocluding our corporate governance
guidelines, board committee charters, and codemdact, is also available on our investor relatimedsite under the subheading “Corporate
Governance.” The contents of our website or ourtfBwaccount are not intended to be incorporaterefgrence into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or in any other report or document we filith the SEC, and any references to our webaieitended to be inactive textual
references only.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

We have identified the following risks and uncaettiais that may have a material adverse effect arbasiness, financial condition or
results of operations. The risks described belogvraot the only ones we face. Additional risks mesently known to us or that we currently
believe are immaterial may also significantly impaur business operations. Our business could bbenkd by any of these risks. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due toathese risks, and you may lose all or part ofryinuestment. In assessing these risks,
should also refer to the other information containe this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including mandensed consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes.

We have a history of losses and we expect our rereegrowth rate to continue to decline. As our cosisrease, we may not be able to
generate sufficient revenue to achieve and sustaiofitability.

We have incurred net losses in each fiscal peiirmzesour inception, including net losses of $50illiom, $40.2 million, and $22.5
million in the fiscal years ended March 31, 201612 and 2013, respectively. We had an accumuladitdbf $131.6 million at March 31,
2015. We expect to continue to expend substamtiah€ial and other resources on, among other things

* investments in our research and development teadnthee development of new products, features, anctibnality;

» sales and marketing, including expanding our disat#s organization and marketing programs, pdatigufor larger customer:
e expansion of our operations and infrastructureh ldoimestically and internationall

» hiring of additional employees; al

» general administration, including legal, accountiagd other expenses related to being a public aomn

These investments may not result in increased t@vengrowth of our business. We also expect thatevenue growth rate will
continue to decline over time. Accordingly, we nmet be able to generate sufficient revenue to béfiae expected cost increases and to
achieve and sustain profitability. If we fail tohdeve and sustain profitability, our operating ftesand business would be harmed.

We have a limited operating history, which makeslitficult to evaluate our current business and fute prospects and increases the risk of
your investment

We were founded in 2007 and launched our first cencial product in 2008. This limited operating bistlimits our ability to forecast
our future operating results and subjects us toraber of uncertainties, including our ability t@plfor and model future growth. Our historical
revenue growth should not be considered indicatfwaur future performance. We have encounteredndli@ncounter risks and uncertainties
frequently experienced by growing companies indlypithanging industries, such as determining apjaitginvestments of our limited
resources, market adoption of our existing andréuproducts, competition from other companies, asyuand retaining customers, hiring,
integrating, training and retaining skilled persehmleveloping new products, determining pricesofar products, unforeseen expenses, and
challenges in forecasting accuracy. If our assumnptregarding these risks and uncertainties, wiviglise to plan our business, are incorre
change, or if we do not address these risks suttlyssur operating and financial results and business could suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periaasl expect our growth to continue. If we are notlalio manage this growth and
expansion, or if our business does not grow as wpest, our operating results may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth in our customee laaad have expanded and intend to continue tdisagrtly expand our operations.
For example, our employee headcount has increaged435 employees as
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of March 31, 2014 to 661 employees as of Marct2B15, and we expect our headcount to continuedw gignificantly. Our number of paid
business accounts increased from 9,117 to 11,940tbe same period. In addition, our headcount imaludes employees in Ireland, Spain
and the United Kingdom, and we plan to continueeoyransion into additional jurisdictions. This igrowth has placed, and will continue to
place, significant demands on our management andgmrational and financial infrastructure.

To manage this growth effectively, we must contitmenprove our operational, financial, and managensystems and controls by,
among other things:

» effectively attracting, training, and integragia large number of new employees, particularlynimers of our sales and marketing
teams and employees and consultants in jurisdeuside of the United State

« further improving our key business systemsgesses, and information technology infrastructim&uding our data center, to
support our business nee

» enhancing our information, training, and comioation systems to ensure that our employees ateca@rdinated and can
effectively communicate with each other and outauers; anc

* improving our internal control over financial refing and disclosure controls and procedures torertimely and accurate report
of our operational and financial resu

If we fail to manage our expansion, implement aaddgition to our new systems, implement improvemsent maintain effective internal
controls and procedures, our costs and expensesmeraase more than we plan and we may lose thigyabiexpand our customer base,
enhance our existing solutions, develop new saistisatisfy our customers, respond to competitressures, or otherwise execute our
business plan. If we are unable to manage our grawr operating results likely will be harmed.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate, and if we faib meet the expectations of analysts or investors, stock price and the value of your
investment could decline substantially.

Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate widak a result of the risks and uncertainties desdrin this report, many of which are
outside of our control. If our financial resultdl faelow the expectations of investors or any siiesranalysts who follow our stock, the price
our common stock could decline substantially.

We believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisonsuofrevenue, operating results, and cash flows noap@ meaningful and should not be
relied upon as an indication of future performanteur revenue or operating results fall below éxpectations of investors or securities
analysts in a particular quarter, or below any goak we may provide, the price of our common stamekd decline.

Our business depends on our customers purchasinditiohal subscriptions and products from us and rewing their subscriptions. Any
decline in our customer expansions and renewals \bliarm our future operating results.

Our future success depends in part on our abdigetl more subscriptions and additional produetsur current customers. If our
customers do not purchase additional subscrip@osproducts from us, our revenue may decline andperating results may be harmed.

In addition, in order for us to maintain or impraower operating results, it is important that oustomers enter into paid subscriptions anc
renew their subscriptions when the contract terpires. The large majority of our customers stagtrtaccounts on a free trial and have no
obligation to begin a paid subscription. Our custesrthat enter into paid subscriptions have nayakitin to renew their subscriptions after the
expiration of their subscription period, whichypically one month to one year. In addition, oustomers may renew for
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lower subscription amounts or for shorter conttawyiths. Some of our customers have elected rmentew their agreements with us and we
cannot accurately predict future net expansiorsrditoreover, many of our customers with annual stpsons have the right to cancel their
agreements with three-months’ notice prior to thigiration of the subscription term.

Our customer expansions and renewals may declifieatnate as a result of a number of factors,udtlg: customer usage, customer
satisfaction with our products and customer supant prices, the prices of competing products,geer and acquisitions affecting our
customer base, the effects of global economic ¢mmdi, or reductions in our customers’ spendinglegenerally. These factors may also
increase as our customer base grows to encompgss émterprises.

If we are not able to develop enhancements to otoducts, increase adoption and usage of our prodyj@nd introduce new products th
achieve market acceptance, our business could berfead.

Our ability to attract new customers and increasemue from existing customers depends in largeopaour ability to enhance and
improve our existing products, increase adoptich@sage of our products, and introduce new prodiitis success of any enhancement or
new products depends on several factors, incluiilingly completion, adequate quality testing, introtion, and market acceptance. Any new
products that we develop may not be introducedtimaly or cost- effective manner, may contain estar defects, or may not achieve the
broad market acceptance necessary to generateisuniffievenue. If we are unable to successfullyaanh our existing products to meet
customer requirements, increase adoption and wfame products, or develop new products, our bessrand operating results will be harr

If customers do not expand their use of our prodsdieyond the current predominant use cases, outighio grow our business an
operating results may be adversely affected.

Most of our customers currently use our productsuigport application performance management funstiand the majority of our
revenue to date has been from our application pegnce management products. Our ability to growbwusiness depends in part on our ak
to persuade current and future customers to extheiiduse of our software to additional use casesh as business analytics and customer
usage analytics. If we fail to achieve market ataege of our software, or if a competitor estatdsh more widely adopted solution, our ak
to grow our business and financial results willdolwersely affected. In addition, as the amountatd dtored for a given customer grows, that
customer may have to agree to higher subscripéea for our software or limit the amount of dataex in order to stay within the limits of its
existing subscription. If their fees grow signifitly, customers may react adversely to this pricimaglel, particularly if they perceive that the
value of our software has become eclipsed by sere ér otherwise.

We have limited experience with respect to deterimgrnthe optimal prices for our products.

We expect that we may need to change our pricindetfoom time to time. As new competitors introduneav products or services that
compete with ours, we may be unable to attract cuesstomers at the same price or based on the sacmgpmodel as we have used
historically. Moreover, as we continue to targélirsg our products to larger organizations, thesgér organizations may demand substantial
price concessions. As a result, in the future wg bearequired to reduce our prices, which couldeaskly affect our business.

Failure to effectively expand our marketing and & capabilities could harm our ability to increaserr customer base and achieve broader
market acceptance of our products.

Our ability to increase our customer base and aehieoader market acceptance of our products wpkad to a significant extent on our
ability to expand our marketing and sales operatid¥le plan to continue expanding our sales foroth domestically and internationally. We
also dedicate significant resources to sales anllatiag programs, including Internet and other maladvertising. For example, during the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, sales and maketkpenses represented 81% of our revenue. Téetigéiness of our
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online advertising has varied over time and may uathe future due to competition. Moreover, weéaistorically sold most of our products
to small and medium-sized businesses and we haselgerience selling our products to larger omgitins. We have expanded and are
continuing to expand our marketing and sales céifiabito target larger organizations but theradsguarantee that we will be successful
continuing to attract and maintain these largeanizations as customers, and even if we are sdotabese efforts may divert our resources
away from and negatively impact our ability to attrand maintain small and medium-sized businessesistomers. All of these efforts have
required and will continue to require us to inv&@ghificant financial and other resources. If we anable to hire, develop, and retain talented
sales personnel, if our sales personnel are utalalehieve desired productivity levels in a readtmaeriod of time, or if our sales and
marketing programs are not effective, our abilityricrease our customer base and achieve broadkenaaceptance of our products could be
harmed.

If we are unable to continue to increase the sat#ur solutions to large enterprises while mitigagy the risks associated with serving su
customers, our business, financial position, andstdts of operations may suffer.

Historically, we have focused substantially lesgaif sales efforts on large enterprises, and oitlyinvthe last couple years have we
begun to build out our team to support transactwitis these types of customers. Our growth strategiependent, in part, upon the continued
increase of sales to such enterprises. Salesge tarstomers involve risks that may not be presetitat are present to a lesser extent with ¢
to smaller entities, such as longer sales cyclesemomplex customer requirements, substantiabapfales costs, and less predictability in
completing some of our sales. Large enterpriseoousts often begin to deploy our products on a éthihasis, but nevertheless demand
extensive configuration, integration services, priding negotiations, which increase our upfromeistment in the sales effort with no
guarantee that these customers will deploy ourymsdwidely enough across their organization ttifjusur substantial upfront investment. In
addition, our ability to improve our sales of pratito large enterprises is dependent on us cangjria attract and retain sales personnel with
experience in selling to large organizations. Alsecause security breaches with respect to langg;profile enterprises are likely to be
heavily publicized, there is increased reputatigiskl associated with serving such customers. Iivgeunable to continue to increase sales of
our products to large enterprise customers whitggating the risks associated with serving suchasuasrs, our business, financial position,
results of operations may suffer.

Because users are able to configure our platformctllect and store personal information of their gioyees and er-users, privacy
concerns could result in additional cost and lialtyl to us or inhibit sales of our products.

Our operations involve protection of our intellestproperty, along with the storage and transmisaied processing of our customers’
proprietary data, including some personally idésibie information, and security breaches, compugiware, and computer hacking attacks
could expose us to a risk of loss of this informiatiloss of business, severe reputational damagasaly affecting customer or investor
confidence, regulatory investigations and orddtigation, indemnity obligations, damages for castrbreach, penalties for violation of
applicable laws or regulations, and significanttedsr remediation and incentives offered to cusmor other business partners in an effort t
maintain business relationships after a breacho#imet liabilities.

Cyber-attacks and other malicious Internet-baséuityccontinue to increase generally. If our séyumeasures are perceived as weak o
actually compromised as a result of third-partycectemployee or customer error, malfeasance,rstmdraudulently obtained log-in
credentials or otherwise, our customers may custastop using our products, our reputation coddlamaged, our business may be harmed,
and we could incur significant liability. We may beable to anticipate or prevent techniques usethtain unauthorized access or to sabotage
systems because they change frequently and ggnaralhot detected until after an incident has oecli As we increase our customer base
our brand becomes more widely known and recognizednay become more of a target for third parteeksg to compromise our security
systems or gain unauthorized access to our cussonhesa.
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If we are not able to detect and indicate actigityour platform that might be nefarious in natang, customers could suffer harm. In s
cases, we could face exposure, particularly ifciltomer suffered actual harm. We cannot assurg¢haany limitations of liability provisior
in our contracts for a security lapse or breachld/be enforceable or adequate or would otherwisept us from any liabilities or damages
with respect to any particular claim. We also car@sure that our existing insurance coverageawiitinue to be available on acceptable
terms or will be available in sufficient amountsctiver one or more large claims related to a sgchreach, or that the insurer will not deny
coverage as to any future claim. The successfertiss of one or more large claims against us élxated available insurance coverage, or the
occurrence of changes in our insurance policieudting premium increases or the imposition of éadgductible or cinsurance requiremen
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriesluding our expansion rates, financial cowoditioperating results, and reputation.

Changes in privacy laws, regulations, and standarday cause our business to suffer.

Personal privacy and data security have becomdisigmt issues in the United States, Europe, andamy other jurisdictions where we
offer our products. The regulatory framework foivpcy and security issues worldwide is rapidly &ind and is likely to remain uncertain for
the foreseeable future. Federal, state, or forgmrernment bodies or agencies have in the pastedioggnd may in the future adopt, laws and
regulations affecting data privacy and the uséeflbternet as a commercial medium. Industry ogitns also regularly adopt and advocate
for new standards in this area. In the United Statese include rules and regulations promulgateir the authority of federal agencies and
state attorneys general and legislatures and cagrspiratection agencies. Internationally, virtualery jurisdiction in which we operate has
established its own data security and privacy légahework with which we or our customers must ctymimcluding but not limited to the
Data Protection Directive, or the Directive, esistigd in the European Union and data protectioislitipn of the individual member states
subject to the Directive. The Directive may be agpld in time with the pending European General Pabtéection Regulation which may
impose additional obligations and risk upon ourifess. In many jurisdictions, enforcement actiom$ @onsequences for noncompliance are
also rising. In addition to government regulatipriyacy advocates and industry groups may propeseand different selfegulatory standart
that either legally or contractually apply to usie€Cexample of such self-regulatory standards te@kvive may be contractually bound is the
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, &S, Further, to the extent we accept and harréldit card numbers, we may be subjec
to various aspects of the PCI DSS. In the everfiabéo be compliant with the PCI DSS, fines andestpenalties could result. Further, our
customers may require us to comply with more s&mgrivacy and data security requirements. Bectes@terpretation and application of
many privacy and data protection laws along wittndzdory industry standards are uncertain, it isiids that these laws may be interpreted
and applied in a manner that is inconsistent withexisting data management practices or the featwirour products. If so, in addition to the
possibility of fines, lawsuits, and other claimslgenalties, we could be required to fundamentdignge our business activities and practices
or modify our products, which could have an advef§ect on our business. Any inability to adequateldress privacy and security concerns,
even if unfounded, or comply with applicable priyand data security laws, regulations, and poljaesld result in additional cost and
liability to us, damage our reputation, inhibitesgland adversely affect our business. Furtherntoeesosts of compliance with, and other
burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, andigslihat are applicable to the businesses of uatomers may limit the use and adoption of,
and reduce the overall demand for, our productsaBy and data security concerns, whether validadivalid, may inhibit market adoption of
our products, particularly in certain industriesl doreign countries. If we are not able to adjesthanging laws, regulations, and standards
related to the Internet, our business may be harmed

If we fail to adapt and respond effectively to rajy changing technology, evolving industry standardnd changing customer neec
requirements, or preferences, our products may beedess competitive.

The software industry is subject to rapid technmalgchange, evolving industry standards, and prestand changing customer needs,
requirements, and preferences. The success ofusurdss will depend, in part, on our ability to ptdand respond effectively to these changes
on a timely basis. If we are unable to develop and
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sell new products that satisfy our customers anglige enhancements and new features for our egiptioducts that keep pace with rapid
technological and industry change, our revenueogredating results could be adversely affectede technologies emerge that are able to
deliver competitive products and applications atdoprices, more efficiently, more convenientlynaore securely, such technologies could
adversely impact our ability to compete.

Our platform must also integrate with a varietynefwork, hardware, mobile, and software platforam technologies, and we need to
continuously modify and enhance our products tgattachanges and innovation in these technologfiegvelopers widely adopt new
software platforms, we would have to develop nevsieeis of our products to work with those new matfs. This development effort may
require significant engineering, marketing, aneg:saksources, all of which would affect our buséreasd operating results. Any failure of our
products to operate effectively with future infrasture platforms and technologies could reduceltmaand for our products. If we are unable
to respond to these changes in a cost-effectivaenaraour products may become less marketable asdctampetitive or obsolete, and our
operating results may be negatively affected.

We are dependent upon lead generation strategiedriee our sales and revenue, including free triad$ our products. If these marketing
strategies fail to continue to generate sales ogpaities, our ability to grow our revenue will bedaersely affectec

We are dependent upon lead generation strateg@sading our marketing strategy of offering freials of our products, to generate sale:
opportunities. These strategies may not be suadeéssfontinuing to generate sufficient sales oppaoities necessary to increase our revenue.
Many users never convert from the trial versiotht® paid version of our products. To the extent tisers do not become, or we are unable to
successfully attract, paying customers, we willmreatlize the intended benefits of these marketirsgegjies and our ability to grow our revenue
will be adversely affected.

The market in which we participate is intensely cpatitive, and if we do not compete effectively, aprerating results could be harmed.

The market for application performance monitorisgapidly evolving, significantly fragmented, andHly competitive, with relatively
low barriers to entry in some segments. Our cortgrstfall into four primary categories:

» software performance providers such as AppDynanhics,and Splunk Inc

» diversified technology companies such as Heviratkard Company, International Business Mach@mporation, Microsoft
Corporation, and Oracle Corporatic

» large enterprise software and service compasuiek as BMC Software, Inc., CA, Inc., CompuwaregBaation, Riverbed
Technology, Inc., and SAP SE; a

* companies offering analytics products competindnwitr New Relic Insights product, including Goolyle. and Webtrends In

Some of our competitors and potential competitoedarger and have greater name recognition, loogerating histories, more
established customer relationships, larger budgets significantly greater resources than we dd,fave the operating flexibility to bundle
competing products and services with other softwéfierings at little or no perceived incrementasigancluding offering them at a lower price
as part of a larger sale. As a result, our commstitnay be able to respond more quickly and effeltithan we can to new or changing
opportunities, technologies, standards, or custoamrirements. In addition, some competitors mégrgiroducts or services that address one
or a limited number of functions at lower pricesagth greater depth than our products. Our curaet potential competitors may develop and
market new technologies with comparable functidpat our products, and this could lead to us hgtthdecrease prices in order to remain
competitive.
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With the introduction of new technologies, the eni@n of our products and new market entrants, xpeet competition to intensify in
the future. Moreover, as we expand the scope ofoluttions, we may face additional competition. Aiddally, some potential customers,
particularly large enterprises, may elect to deweheir own internal products. If one or more of oampetitors were to merge or partner with
another of our competitors, the change in the caitiygelandscape could also adversely affect oulitatho compete effectively. If we are
unable to maintain our current pricing due to thmpetitive pressures, our margins will be redugedi @ur operating results will be negatively
affected. In addition, pricing pressures and ineegacompetition generally could result in reducddss reduced margins, losses, or the failure
of our solutions to achieve or maintain more widead market acceptance, any of which could harnbosiness.

Because we recognize revenue from our subscriptiowsr the subscription term, downturns or upturns new sales and renewals may r
be immediately reflected in our operating resuliscamay be difficult to discern.

We generally recognize revenue from customers Isataker the terms of their subscriptions. A portmfithe revenue we report in each
quarter is derived from the recognition of revenelating to subscriptions entered into during poesgi quarters. Consequently, a decline in ne
or renewed subscriptions in any single quarter hage a small impact on our revenue for that quatewever, such a decline will negatively
affect our revenue in future quarters. Accordingiyg effect of significant downturns in sales aratket acceptance of our solutions, and
potential changes in our rate of renewals, mayoedtlly reflected in our results of operationsilfuture periods. In addition, a significant
majority of our costs are expensed as incurrediewbivenue is recognized over the life of the agwe® with our customer. As a result,
increased growth in the number of our customersdooantinue to result in our recognition of morestsothan revenue in the earlier periods of
the terms of our agreements.

Interruptions or performance problems associatediwour technology and infrastructure may adversaffect our business and operatir
results.

Our continued growth depends in part on the abilftpur existing and potential customers to acoesproducts at any time and within
an acceptable amount of time. We have experiemetimay in the future experience, disruptions, gegaand other performance problems
due to a variety of factors, including infrastruetehanges, introductions of new functionality, lamor software errors, capacity constraints
due to an overwhelming number of users accessingroducts simultaneously, denial of service attack other security related incidents. It
may become increasingly difficult to maintain antprove our performance, especially during peak @siages and as our products becomes
more complex and our user traffic increases. Ifeducts are unavailable or if our users are wnabhccess our products within a reasonabl
amount of time or at all, our business would beatiggly affected. To the extent that we do notetffeely address capacity constraints, upg
our systems as needed, and continually developeetinology and network architecture to accommodetigal and anticipated changes in
technology, our business and operating resultslmeagdversely affected.

In addition, we currently serve our customers fithird-party data center hosting facility locabecChicago, lllinois. The continuous
availability of our products depends on the operetiof that facility, on a variety of network sewiproviders, on third-party vendors, and on
our own site operations staff. We depend on oudparty facility provider’s ability to protect thifacility against damage or interruption from
natural disasters, power or telecommunicationsifad, criminal acts, and similar events. If theeeany lapses of service or damage to our
facility, we could experience lengthy interruptiansour products as well as delays and additiorpéases in arranging new facilities and
services. Even with current and planned disastevery arrangements, which, to date, have not bestad in an actual crisis, our business
could be harmed. Also, in the event of damage terinption, our insurance policies may not adedyatempensate us for any losses that we
may incur. These factors in turn could further lour revenue, subject us to liability, and caws® issue credits or cause customers not to
renew their subscriptions, any of which could haum business.
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Defects or disruptions in our products could dimati demand for our products, harm our financial reks, and subject us to liability

Our customers use our products for important aspedheir businesses, and any errors, defectlisauptions to our products or other
performance problems with our products could hurtlrand and reputation and may damage our custimgsinesses. We provide regular
product updates, which may contain undetected £wben first introduced or released. In the pasthave discovered software errors, failt
vulnerabilities, and bugs in our products afterythave been released and new errors in our exiptiogucts may be detected in the future. |
or perceived errors, failures, or bugs in our patsicould result in negative publicity, loss ofdalay in market acceptance of our products,
of competitive position, delay of payment to usydo renewal rates, or claims by customers for bssistained by them. In such an event, we
may be required, or may choose, for customer plator other reasons, to expend additional ressumncerder to help correct the problem. In
addition, we may not carry insurance sufficientémpensate us for the any losses that may resuft étaims arising from defects or
disruptions in our products. As a result, we cdaie future sales and our reputation and our bcantt be harmed.

Our ongoing and planned investments in data centesting facilities are expensive and complex, magult in a negative impact on our
cash flows, and may negatively impact our financralsults.

We have made and will continue to make substainv@lstments in new equipment to support growthuatdata center hosting facility,
provide enhanced levels of products to our custepsard reduce future costs of subscription reveimuaddition, we may need to add
additional data centers or similar resources t@sttpur growth. Ongoing or future improvement®tw cloud infrastructure may be more
expensive than we anticipate, and may not yieldepected savings in operating costs or the expggrtgformance benefits. We may not be
able to maintain or achieve cost savings from nuestments, which could harm our financial results.

We may need to change our current operations infigsire in order for us to achieve profitabilitydascale our operations efficiently,
which makes our future prospects even more diffituevaluate. For example, in order to grow swesommercial and enterprise customers i
a financially sustainable manner, we may needtiibvén customize our offering and modify our go-tariet strategy to reduce our operating
and customer acquisition costs. If we fail to inmémnt these changes on a timely basis or are ut@btglement them effectively, our busin
may suffer.

Because our lon-term growth strategy involves further expansionaiir sales to customers outside the United States,business will be
susceptible to risks associated with internatiomgderations.

A component of our growth strategy involves thetfar expansion of our operations and customer inésenationally. Operating in
international markets requires significant resosi@ed management attention and subjects us toategyl economic, and political risks that
different from those in the United States. We hiaméted operating experience in international maskend we cannot assure you that our
expansion efforts into international markets wél duccessful. Our international expansion effordy mot be successful in creating further
demand for our products outside of the United Statan effectively selling our products in theamational markets we enter. Our current
international operations and future initiativeslwilvolve a variety of risks, including:

» changes in a specific coun’'s or regio’'s political or economic condition
» unexpected changes in regulatory requirementsstaxdrade laws

* regional data security and privacy laws andile@ipns and the unauthorized use of, or accesotomercial and personal
information, particularly in the European Unic

» differing labor regulations, especially in tBaropean Union, where labor laws are generally radsantageous to employees as
compared to the United States, including deemedyhauage and overtime regulations in these locat;
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» challenges inherent in efficiently managindrareased number of employees over large geograstences, including the need to
implement appropriate systems, policies, benedits, compliance program

» difficulties in managing a business in new neaskwith diverse cultures, languages, customs| gdems, alternative dispute
systems, and regulatory systel

* increased travel, real estate, infrastructure,legal compliance costs associated with internatioparations

» currency exchange rate fluctuations and theltiag effect on our revenue and expenses, anddbeand risk of entering into
hedging transactions if we chose to do so in tiheréy

« limitations on our ability to repatriate earnin
» laws and business practices favoring local conqstior general preferences for local vend
» limited or insufficient intellectual property praton;

* exposure to liabilities under anti-corruptiexport controls and anti-money laundering lawsluding the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act, and similar laws and regulationatirer jurisdictions; an

» adverse tax burdens and foreign exchange deritrat could make it difficult to repatriate eargé and cash or create other
collection difficulties.

Our limited experience operating our business fraonally increases the risk that recent and angrgial future expansion efforts will
not be successful. If substantial time and resauiroeested to expand our international operatianaat result in a successful outcome, our
operating results and business will suffer.

If we lose key members of our management team @ anable to attract and retain executives and enygles we need to support ¢
operations and growth, our business may be harmed.

Our success and future growth depend largely uperdontinued services of our executive officers ather key employees in the areas
of research and development, marketing, salesicesnand general administrative functions. Frametto time, there may be changes in our
executive management team or other key employsettirgy from the hiring or departure of these parsd. Our executive officers and other
key employees are employed on an at-will basisclwmeans that these personnel could terminateahgitoyment with us at any time. The
loss of one or more of our executive officers, esdly our Chief Executive Officer, Lewis Cirne; oBresident and Chief Operating Officer,
Chris Cook; and our Chief Revenue Officer, Hildfieplow-McAdams; or the failure by our executiverteto effectively work with our
employees and lead our company could harm our bssiWe also are dependent on the continued sefvize existing software engineers
because of the complexity of our products.

In addition, to execute our growth plan, we mustat and retain highly qualified personnel. Contjmet for these personnel in the San
Francisco Bay Area and the Portland area, wheréeadquarters and the majority of our researchdamdlopment personnel are located,
respectively, and in other locations where we nadinoffices, is intense, especially for engineeqsegienced in designing and developing
software and SaaS applications and experiences galéessionals. We have, from time to time expeee, and we expect to continue to
experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining erapées with appropriate qualifications. Many of toenpanies with which we compete for
experienced personnel have greater resources thémave. If we hire employees from competitors beotompanies, their former employers
may attempt to assert that these employees or weeliteached their legal obligations, resulting ohweersion of our time and resources. In
addition, prospective and existing employees oftamsider the value of the equity awards they rec#ivconnection with their employment. If
the perceived value of our equity awards declioegxperiences significant volatility, it may adsely affect our ability to recruit and retain
key employees. If we fail to attract new persorordhil to retain and motivate our current persdnaer business and future growth prospects
could be adversely affected.
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If we fail to enhance our brand, or to do so in @s-effective manner, our ability to expand our custembase will be impaired and our
financial condition may suffer.

We believe that our development of the New Relanblris critical to achieving widespread awarenéssipexisting and future Software
Analytics solutions, and, as a result, is importardttracting new customers and maintaining engstiustomers. We also believe that the
importance of brand recognition will increase asipetition in our market increases. Successful ptanaf our brand will depend largely on
the effectiveness of our marketing efforts, inchgldour ability to do so in a cost-effective manraard on our ability to provide reliable and
useful products at competitive prices. In the pawst,efforts to build our brand have involved sfgraint expenses. Brand promotion activities
may not yield increased revenue, and even if tleeyady increased revenue may not offset the expamseéncur in building our brand.

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as weayv, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passiand focus on execution that w
believe contribute to our success, and our business/ be harmed.

We believe that our corporate culture has beeitiaadrcomponent to our success. We have invesibdtantial time and resources in
building our team. As we grow and mature as a puddimpany, we may find it difficult to maintain ocwrporate culture. Any failure to
preserve our culture could negatively affect oturfe success, including our ability to recruit aathin personnel and effectively focus on and
pursue our corporate objectives.

We may be sued by third parties for alleged infremgent of their proprietary rights.

There is considerable patent, copyright, tradentsakie secret, and other intellectual property graent activity in our industry. Our
success depends in part on not infringing uponritadlectual property rights of others. From tineetime, our competitors or other third parties
may claim that we are infringing upon their intetigal property rights, and we may be found to lieriging upon such rights. For example, we
are currently party to a suit brought against u€By Inc. that alleges, among other things, thatwaee infringed on certain patents held by
CA, Inc. See “Part |, Item 3—Legal Proceedings.tHa future, we may receive claims that our proslactd underlying technology infringe or
violate the claimant’s intellectual property righ#g1y claims or litigation, regardless of meritubth cause us to incur significant expenses and
if successfully asserted against us, could reghaewe pay substantial damages or ongoing royaymnents, prevent us from offering our
products, or require that we comply with other wofable terms.

Even if the claims do not result in litigation aeaesolved in our favor, these claims, and the timd resources necessary to resolve
them, could divert the resources of our managei@attharm our business and operating results. Wecexpat the occurrence of infringement
claims is likely to grow as the market for Softwadnealytics products grows. Accordingly, our expasto damages resulting from infringem
claims could increase and this could further exbausfinancial and management resources.

Any failure to protect our intellectual property ghts could impair our ability to protect our propgtary technology and our branc

Our success depends to a significant degree oalwlitly to protect our proprietary technology and brand. We rely on a combination
of trademarks, trade secret laws, patent, copysjgigrvice marks, contractual restrictions, anérmiitellectual property laws and
confidentiality procedures to establish and protectproprietary rights. However, the steps we takgrotect our intellectual property may be
inadequate. We will not be able to protect ourlietéual property if we are unable to enforce aghts or if we do not detect unauthorized use
of our intellectual property. If we fail to proteatir intellectual property rights adequately, oompetitors may gain access to our technology
and our business may be harmed. In addition, defgraur intellectual property rights might entadrsficant expense. Any patents,
trademarks, or other intellectual property righisttwe obtain may be challenged by others or ida#did through administrative process or
litigation. As of March 31, 2015, we only had orending patent application and no issued patentspifethe
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pending patent application, we may be unable tainlany patent protection for our technology. Idiidn, any patents issued in the future
may not provide us with competitive advantagesnay be successfully challenged by third partiestHeumore, legal standards relating to the
validity, enforceability, and scope of protectidniellectual property rights are uncertain. Désgiur precautions, it may be possible for
unauthorized third parties to copy our products aselinformation that we regard as proprietaryréate products and services that compete
with ours. Effective patent, trademark, copyrigirid trade secret protection may not be availablss o every country in which our product:
available. The laws of some foreign countries matylie as protective of intellectual property righssthose in the United States, and
mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual propeghits may be inadequate. As we expand our intienmel activities, our exposure to
unauthorized copying and use of our products aogdrjatary information will likely increase. Accordily, despite our efforts, we may be
unable to prevent third parties from infringing apar misappropriating our intellectual property.

We enter into confidentiality and invention assigmnagreements with our employees and consultadtgmter into confidentiality
agreements with other parties. No assurance cgivbe that these agreements will be effective imtidling access to and distribution of our
proprietary information. Further, these agreemerdg not prevent our competitors from independetidlyeloping technologies that are
substantially equivalent or superior to our product

In order to protect our intellectual property righive may be required to spend significant resaut@enonitor and protect our intellecti
property rights. Litigation may be necessary infilitere to enforce our intellectual property rightsd to protect our trade secrets. Litigation
brought to protect and enforce our intellectualpgmty rights could be costly, time-consuming, airgdrdcting to management, and could result
in the impairment or loss of portions of our inkeliual property. Further, our efforts to enforce iotellectual property rights may be met with
defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attatkegalidity and enforceability of our intellectyaoperty rights. Our inability to protect our
proprietary technology against unauthorized copyingse, as well as any costly litigation or dive@nsof our management’s attention and
resources, could delay further sales or the imphtation of our products, impair the functionalitiyaur products, delay introductions of new
solutions, result in our substituting inferior oora costly technologies into our products, or iejour reputation.

Our use of open source software could negativelfeaf our ability to sell our products and subjecs to possible litigation.

We use open source software in our products anelatxp continue to use open source software ifiuuge. We may face claims from
others claiming ownership of, or seeking to enfdateeterms of, an open source license, includingdmanding release of the open source
software, derivative works, or our proprietary s;imucode that was developed using such softwareseTtlaims could also result in litigation,
require us to purchase a costly license, or requir® devote additional research and developnesiources to change our platform, any of
which would have a negative effect on our busirmegsoperating results. In addition, if the licetesens for the open source software we uti
change, we may be forced to reengineer or disaoatiur products or incur additional costs. We cabeacertain that we have not incorpori
open source software in our products in a manrarishinconsistent with our policies.

We provide service level commitments under someusfcustomer contracts. If we fail to meet thesent@mctual commitments, we could be
obligated to provide credits or refunds for prepadhounts related to unused subscriptions or facetact terminations, which could
adversely affect our revenue.

Some of our customer agreements provide servied tmmmitments. If we are unable to meet the stadedice level commitments or
suffer extended periods of unavailability for owogucts, we may be contractually obligated to pievhese customers with service credits or
refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused sipisnis, or we could face contract terminationsr @venue could be significantly affected
if we suffer
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unscheduled downtime that exceeds the allowed domestunder our agreements with our customers. Atsneed service outages could
adversely affect our reputation, revenue, and aiperaesults.

If the market for our technology delivery model arf@8haS develops more slowly than we expect, our granay slow or stall, and ou
operating results would be harmed.

The market for SaaS business software is less m#tan traditional on-premise software applicati@msl the adoption rate of SaaS
business software may be slower among subscribénsliistries with heightened data security intarestousiness practices requiring highly-
customizable application software. Our successdeiiend to a substantial extent on the widespréaptian of SaaS business software in
general, but we do not know whether the trend opéidn of SaaS solutions will continue in the fituin particular, many organizations have
invested substantial personnel and financial ressuio integrate legacy software into their busiee®ver time, and some have been reluctar
or unwilling to migrate to SaaS. It is difficult fwedict customer adoption rates and demand fopmducts, the future growth rate and size of
the SaaS business software market or the entrgropetitive applications. The expansion of the SaaSness software market depends on a
number of factors, including the cost, performarce] perceived value associated with SaaS, asawéiie ability of SaaS providers to addres:
data security and privacy concerns. If SaaS busiseffware does not continue to achieve marketpgaoee, or there is a reduction in demand
for SaaS business software caused by a lack dfrmestacceptance, technological challenges, weagge@anomic conditions, data security or
privacy concerns, governmental regulation, comget@thnologies and products, or decreases in irg#om technology spending, it would
result in decreased revenue and our business \belddiversely affected.

Our future performance depends in part on supporbin third-party software developers.

We provide software that enables third-party sofeadevelopers to build plugins that integrate waitin products. We operate a
community website for sharing these third-partygpts. This presents certain risks to our businiesfjding:

» third-party developers may not continue developing opetiing the plugins that they share on our commyunibsite;

* we cannot provide any assurance that thesenslugeet the same quality standards that we appyt own development efforts,
and, to the extent they contain bugs, defectseaurity risks, they may create disruptions in austomers’ use of our software or
negatively affect our bran

* we do not currently provide support for plugdeveloped by third-party software developers, asers may be left without support
and potentially cease using our products if thed-party software developers do not provide suppartifese plugins; an

» these thir-party software developers may not possess the ppat® intellectual property rights to develop ahdre their plugins

Many of these risks are not within our control teyent, and our brand may be damaged if thesergwlyp not perform to our customers’
satisfaction and that dissatisfaction is attributeds.

We may not be able to secure additional financing favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future mital needs. If additional capital is not
available, we may have to delay, reduce, or cegmzations.

We do not know when or if our operations will geatersufficient cash to fund our ongoing operatidmshe future, we may require
additional capital to respond to business oppadtigsiincluding the need to develop new producisntrance our existing products, enhanct
operating infrastructure, possible acquisitionsahplementary businesses and technologies, a declihe level of subscriptions for our
products, or unforeseen circumstances. We mayaable to timely secure additional debt or equitgaricing on favorable terms, or at all. £
debt financing obtained by us could involve resitreecovenants relating to financial and
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operational matters, which may make it more ditfiéor us to obtain additional capital and to purdwsiness opportunities, including poter
acquisitions. If we raise additional funds throdgfther issuances of equity, convertible debt sé&esr or other securities convertible into
equity, our existing stockholders could suffer #igant dilution in their percentage ownership ofr@ompany, and any new equity securities
we issue could have rights, preferences, and pges senior to those of holders of our common stbeke are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory tonkseen we require it, our ability to support our Imesis and to respond to business challenges
could be significantly limited, and our businegseating results, financial condition, and prospectuld be harmed.

Our estimates of market opportunity and forecastamarket growth may prove to be inaccurate, and evethe market in which we compe!
achieves the forecasted growth, our business cdalbito grow at similar rates, if at all.

Market opportunity estimates and growth forecastssabject to significant uncertainty and are basedssumptions and estimates that
may not prove to be accurate. Our estimates amddsts relating to the size and expected growtluomarket may prove to be inaccurate.
Even if the market in which we compete meets atg sistimates and forecasted growth, our businesd il to grow at similar rates, if at all.

We are subject to the tax laws of various jurisdcts, which are subject to unanticipated changesdao interpretation, which could harm
our future results.

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statesforeign jurisdictions, and our domestic artdrimational tax liabilities are subject
to the allocation of expenses in differing jurigaios. Our effective tax rate could be adversefgaéd by changes in the mix of earnings and
losses in countries with differing statutory tatesg certain non-deductible expenses as a resatiopfisitions, the valuation of deferred tax
assets and liabilities, and changes in federdk,sba international tax laws and accounting ppies. Further, each jurisdiction has different
rules and regulations governing sales and usee\added, and similar taxes, and these rules amndhtesms are subject to varying
interpretations that change over time. Certairsgidgtions in which we did not collect such taxeg/rassert that such taxes are applicable,
which could result in tax assessments, penaltiesjrsterest, and we may be required to collect saxbs in the future. In addition, we may be
subject to income tax audits by many tax jurisditsi throughout the world, many of which have nealdgshed clear guidance on the tax
treatment of SaaS-based companies. Any tax assetssmenalties, and interest, or future requiresaray adversely affect our results of
operations. Moreover, imposition of such taxes sgeing forward will effectively increase the co$our products to our customers and mi
adversely affect our ability to retain existing tmrsers or to gain new customers in the areas iclwich taxes are imposed.

In addition, the application of the tax laws ofieais jurisdictions, including the United Statesoto international business activities is
subject to interpretation and depends on our ghidibperate our business in a manner consistehtaur corporate structure and intercompan
arrangements. The taxing authorities of jurisditsiin which we operate may challenge our methodedofpr valuing developed technology or
intercompany arrangements, including our transffieing, or determine that the manner in which werape our business does not achieve the
intended tax consequences. As we operate in numéa@ing jurisdictions, the application of tax lagan also be subject to diverging and
sometimes conflicting interpretations by tax auitiies of these jurisdictions. It is not uncommon faxing authorities in different countries to
have conflicting views, for instance, with respgtamong other things, the manner in which theatemgth standard is applied for transfer
pricing purposes, or with respect to the valuatibmtellectual property.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands to offset future taxable income may be subjectertain limitations.

As of March 31, 2015, we had U.S. federal and stateoperating losses of approximately $112.7 amltand $54.5 million, respectively,
which may be utilized against future income taxegieneral, a corporation that undergoes an “owngichange’is subject to limitations on i
ability to utilize its pre-change net operating
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losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable incomegéneral, an ownership change occurs if the agtgesiock ownership of certain stockholt
(generally 5% stockholders, applying certain lobietigh and aggregation rules) increases by more58% over such stockholders’ lowest
percentage ownership during the testing perioddgaly three years). Purchases of our common stoaknounts greater than specified levels,
which are beyond our control, could create a litrataon our ability to utilize our NOLs for tax gawses in the future. Limitations imposed on
our ability to utilize NOLs could cause U.S. fedeaad state income taxes to be paid earlier thamdvioe paid if such limitations were not in
effect and could cause such NOLs to expire unuseghch case reducing or eliminating the benefgumh NOLs. Furthermore, we may not be
able to generate sufficient taxable income toadithur NOLs before they expire. If any of thesenéy®ccur, we may not derive some or all of
the expected benefits from our NOLs. In additidrtha state level there may be periods during wttiehuse of NOLs is suspended or
otherwise limited, which would accelerate or maynp@nently increase state taxes owed.

Acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships,alliances could be difficult to identify and pesintegration challenges, divert tr
attention of management, disrupt our business, ddwstockholder value, and adversely affect our cgtérg results and financial condition.

We have in the past and may in the future seekdaiee or invest in businesses, products, or telcignes that we believe could
complement or expand our products, enhance ouniglicapabilities, or otherwise offer growth opjpmities. Any acquisition may divert the
attention of management and cause us to incurusegpenses in identifying, investigating, and pung suitable acquisitions, whether or not
the acquisitions are completed, and may resulbforeseen operating difficulties and expendituhegarticular, we may encounter difficulties
assimilating or integrating the businesses, teawgies, products, personnel, or operations of tiqeieed companies, particularly if the key
personnel of the acquired company choose not tk ¥eorus, their software is not easily adapted arkwith our platform, or we have
difficulty retaining the customers of any acquitagsiness due to changes in ownership, managenmestherwise. For example, we completed
our acquisition of Few Ducks, S.L., or DucksboamdDctober 2014, and the substantial majority efalquisition and integration risks related
to that acquisition remain. Acquisitions may al$grubt our business, divert our resources, andiregignificant management attention that
would otherwise be available for development of existing business. Any acquisitions we are ableotoplete may not result in any syner¢
or other benefits we had expected to achieve, wtnehd result in impairment charges that could ldesgantial. In addition, we may not be a
to find and identify desirable acquisition targetde successful in entering into an agreement anthparticular target. Acquisitions could alsc
result in dilutive issuances of equity securitiesh@ incurrence of debt, which could adverselgefbur operating results. In addition, if an
acquired business fails to meet our expectatiamspperating results, business, and financial dandimay suffer or we may be exposed to
unknown risks or liabilities.

We may face exposure to foreign currency exchangeerfluctuations.

We may in the future conduct transactions in cuwiesiother than the U.S. dollar or the functior@@mating currency of the transactional
entities. While we have historically transactedJu$. dollars with substantially all of our customend vendors, we have transacted in foreign
currencies and may transact in foreign currencighe future. In addition, any international sukesigs will maintain net assets that are
denominated in currencies other than the functiopatating currencies of these entities. Accorginghanges in the value of foreign
currencies relative to the U.S. dollar can affaatr@venue and operating results due to transadtanmd translational remeasurement that is
reflected in our earnings. As a result of suchifpreurrency exchange rate fluctuations, it cowddhore difficult to detect underlying trends in
our business and results of operations. In additmthe extent that fluctuations in currency exaerates cause our results of operations to
differ from our expectations or the expectationswf investors, the trading price of our commortkstoould be adversely affected. We do not
currently maintain a program to hedge transactiespbsures in foreign currencies. However, in thare, we may use derivative instruments,
such as foreign currency forward and option com$rao hedge certain exposures to fluctuationsiaifin currency exchange rates. The use o
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such hedging activities may not offset any or nthe: a portion of the adverse financial effectsrfivorable movements in foreign exchange
rates over the limited time the hedges are in plat@eover, the use of hedging instruments maydhice additional risks if we are unable to
structure effective hedges with such instruments.

Weakened global economic conditions may harm oudistry, business, and results of operations.

Our overall performance depends in part on worléwddonomic conditions. Global financial developrseartd downturns seemingly
unrelated to us or the information technology indusay harm us. The United States and other kieyriational economies have been
impacted by falling demand for a variety of goodd aervices, restricted credit, poor liquidity, wedd corporate profitability, volatility in
credit, equity and foreign exchange markets, bavtkies, and overall uncertainty with respect togbenomy. The revenue growth and
potential profitability of our business dependsdemand for software applications and products gdigeand application performance
monitoring and our other Software Analytics offgignspecifically. In addition, our revenue is depertdn the number of users of our prodt
Historically, during economic downturns there héeen reductions in spending on information techgykystems as well as pressure for
extended billing terms and other financial conaassi which would limit our ability to grow our busiss and negatively affect our operating
results. These conditions affect the rate of infation technology spending and could adversely affac customers’ ability or willingness to
purchase our products, delay prospective customarshasing decisions, reduce the value or duratidheir subscriptions, or affect renewal
rates, all of which could harm our operating result

Natural disasters and other events beyond our cohttould harm our business

Natural disasters or other catastrophic eventsecaage damage or disruption to our operations,fiatemal commerce, and the global
economy, and thus could have a strong negativetaffeus. Our business operations are subjectéoription by natural disasters, fire, power
shortages, pandemics, and other events beyondatmot We rely on our network and third-party adtructure and enterprise applications,
internal technology systems, and our website fordewelopment, marketing, operational support,dwgtroducts, and sales activities. The
coast of the United States contains active earttgganes. Although we maintain crisis managemedtdisaster response plans, in the eve
a major earthquake, hurricane, or catastrophictestgsh as fire, power loss, telecommunicationsifajl cyber-attack, war, or terrorist attack,
we may be unable to continue our operations andendyre system interruptions, reputational harfays$en our product development,
lengthy interruptions in service, breaches of datzurity, and loss of critical data, all of whiadbutd have an adverse effect on our future
operating results.

We are an “emerging growth company” and we canna tertain if the reduced disclosure requirementgpéipable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attragtio investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthéfederal securities laws, and, for so long asemgain an emerging growth
company, we may take advantage of certain exengpfiom various reporting requirements that areiapple to other public companies that
are not “emerging growth companies” including, bat limited to, not being required to comply wittetauditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002herSarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligatiegarding executive compensation in
our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemns from the requirements of holding a nonbigdialvisory vote on executive
compensation and stockholder approval of any gofdgachute payments not previously approved. Wecedse to be an emerging growth
company upon the earliest of: (i) the end of tlsedl year following the fifth anniversary of ouitial public offering, or IPO, (ii) the first fis¢a
year after our annual gross revenue are $1.0 bidiomore, (iii) the date on which we have, duriihg previous thre-year period, issued more
than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt secusta (iv) the end of any fiscal year in which tharket value of our common stock held by non
affiliates exceeded $700 million as of the endhef $econd quarter of that fiscal year. We canredipt if investors will find our common sto
less attractive because we may rely on these examsptf some investors find our common stock ktssactive as a result, there may be a les:s
active trading market for our common stock andsiack price may be more volatile.
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The requirements of being a public company may &traur resources, divert management’s attention,caaffect our ability to attract and
retain executive management and qualified board niesrs.

As a public company, we are subject to the repgmaguirements of the Securities Exchange Act 8419s amended, or the Exchange
Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Walk&t Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2016 /i#ting requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange, and other applicable secsritides and regulations. Compliance with thesesrate regulations increase our legal and
financial compliance costs, make some activitiesemifficult, time-consuming, or costly, and inceeademand on our systems and resources
particularly after we are no longer an “emergingvgth company.” The Exchange Act requires, amongrathings, that we file annual,
quarterly, and current reports with respect tolmsginess and operating results. The Sarbanes-@xlerequires, among other things, that we
maintain effective disclosure controls and procedwand internal control over financial reporting.

In addition, changing laws, regulations, and statsleelating to corporate governance and publiclasire are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financiahpliance costs, and making some activities more tonsuming. These laws, regulations,
and standards are subject to varying interpretationmany cases due to their lack of specifiatyd, as a result, their application in practice
may evolve over time as new guidance is provideceigylatory and governing bodies. This could reisuttontinuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitateddpying revisions to disclosure and governancetioes. We intend to invest substantial
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulaticsrsd standards, and this investment may resulcieased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management’s time tsatian from revenue- generating activities to ptience activities. If our efforts to
comply with new laws, regulations, and standarffeidirom the activities intended by regulatorygmverning bodies due to ambiguities rel:
to their application and practice, regulatory auties may initiate legal proceedings against u$ @m business may be adversely affected.

Being a public company and these new rules andatigus have made it more expensive for us to aldaector and officer liability
insurance, and in the future we may be requireattept reduced coverage or incur substantiallygrighsts to obtain coverage. These factors
could also make it more difficult for us to attractd retain qualified members of our board of doex; particularly to serve on our audit
committee and compensation committee, and qualdiextutive officers.

As a result of disclosure of information in ouirfds with the SEC, our business and financial dimrihave become more visible, which
we believe may result in threatened or actualdtin, including by competitors and other thirdtjge: If such claims are successful, our
business and operating results could be adverffelsted, and even if the claims do not resultfigdition or are resolved in our favor, these
claims, and the time and resources necessarydtvesthem, could divert the resources of our mamaaye and adversely affect our business
and operating results.

As a public company, we are obligated to implemantl maintain proper and effective internal controlver financial reporting. We may nc
complete our analysis of our internal control ovéinancial reporting in a timely manner, or these farnal controls may not be determined
be effective, which may adversely affect investonfidence in our company and, as a result, the valof our common stock.

We will be required, pursuant to the Exchange &cfurnish a report by management on, among ottiegs, the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting for thiedal year ending March 31, 2016. This assessm#imieed to include disclosure of any
material weaknesses identified by our managememtiininternal control over financial reporting.

We are currently evaluating our internal contraentifying and remediating deficiencies in thosteinal controls, and documenting the
results of our evaluation, testing, and remediatide may not be able to complete our evaluaticstirtg, and any required remediation in a
timely fashion. During the evaluation and testimggess, if we identify one or more material weakeesn our internal control over financial
reporting
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that we are unable to remediate before the enldeo§ame fiscal year in which the material weakiegkentified, we will be unable to assert
that our internal controls are effective. If we ar@ble to assert that our internal control ovearficial reporting is effective, or if our
independent registered public accounting firm, whezuired, is unable to attest to management’srtepothe effectiveness of our internal
controls, we could lose investor confidence indbeuracy and completeness of our financial repattgch would cause the price of our
common stock to decline.

As a public company, we are required to disclosterna changes made in our internal control and@dares on a quarterly basis.
However, our independent registered public accagrftrm is not required to formally attest to tHéeetiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of 8abanes-Oxley Act until the later of the yeardwiing our first annual report required to be
filed with the SEC or the date we are no longeteanerging growth company” as defined in the JOB& Ao comply with the existing and
anticipated requirements of being a public compameyare undertaking various actions, such as imgieimg additional internal controls and
procedures and hiring accounting or internal astaif.

Our stock price has been subject to fluctuationsdawill likely continue to be subject to fluctuatis, which may be volatile and due to
factors beyond our contro

The market price of our common stock is subjeetitte fluctuations in response to various factoosns of which are beyond our conti
Since shares of our common stock were sold inB0rih December 2014 at a price of $23.00 per skizeeeported high and low sales prices
of our common stock has ranged from $38.65 to 9t6ough March 31, 2015. In addition to the fastiscussed in this “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on FblAK, factors that could cause fluctuations inrierket price of our common stock
include the following:

» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults;
» the financial projections we may provide to the lpytany changes in these projections, or our faiblo meet these projectior

» failure of securities analysts to initiate oaimtain coverage of our company, changes in firdrestimates and publication of other
news by any securities analysts who follow our camyp or our failure to meet these estimates oeitpectations of investor

e ratings changes by any securities analysts whowvodlur company

e announcements by us or our competitors of Bamit technical innovations, acquisitions, stratqgartnerships, joint ventures, or
capital commitments

» changes in operating performance and stock ea@éduations of other technology companies gehlerml those in our industry in
particular;

» price and volume fluctuations in the overatickt market from time to time, including as a residitrends in the economy as a
whole;

» changes in accounting standards, policies, guidglimterpretations, or principle

» actual or anticipated developments in our businesair competitor businesses or the competitive landscape gene
» developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or our products, or th-party proprietary rights

e announced or completed acquisitions of businessexbnologies by us or our competitc

* new laws or regulations or new interpretationsxaténg laws, or regulations applicable to our Inesis;

» changes in our board of directors or managen

» sales of shares of our common stock by us or mgkbblders
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» lawsuits filed or threatened against us;

» other events or factors, including those resultingh war, incidents of terrorism, or responsesh&se event:

In addition, the market for technology stocks ameldtock markets in general have experienced egtpioe and volume fluctuations.
Stock prices of many technology companies haveuhied in a manner unrelated or disproportionatbémperating performance of those
companies. In the past, stockholders have institséeurities class action litigation following pets of market volatility. If we were to become
involved in securities litigation, it could subjagt to substantial costs, divert resources andtteation of management from our business, an
adversely affect our business, results of operatifinancial condition, and cash flows. A declinghe value of our common stock, including
a result of one or more factors set forth above; reault in substantial losses for our stockholders

Substantial future sales of shares of our commondak could cause the market price of our common $tée decline.

The market price of our common stock could decdisa result of substantial sales of our commorksfzarticularly sales by our
directors, executive officers, and significant &twalders, a large number of shares of our commamrkdtecoming available for sale, or the
perception in the market that holders of a largalper of shares intend to sell their shares. As afdd 31, 2015, we had approximately
47.1 million shares of our common stock outstandigya result of market stand-off agreements withapproximately 41.4 million of these
shares are subject to restrictions on their satiédune 10, 2015. In addition, substantially dltltese shares are also subject to lock-up
agreements with the underwriters in our IPO, preglithat Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, or Morgan Stankey lead underwriter in our IPO,
may, in its sole discretion, permit our officergedtors, employees, and current security holddrs are subject to lock-up agreements to sell
shares prior to the expiration of the logk-agreements. Pursuant to an early release éetteuted on May 11, 2015, Morgan Stanley, on b
of itself and as a representative of the undervaiter our IPO, consented to a limited early red¢efism the 180-day lock-up restrictions, or the
Early Release, which will take effect on June 1®2(nd a limited number of shares may be soldraiter that date, subject to securities law
limitations. The Early Release will allow certaihour non-executive employees and consultantsltaigdo one-third of the shares that are
held as of June 1, 2015 or are vested and exeleipabsuant to options held as of June 1, 2015.dffizers and directors are not eligible for
the Early Release, and the Early Release appligg@securities outstanding as of May 7, 2015I(iding pursuant to the exercise or
conversion of securities that are outstanding ddaf 7, 2015). We expect that the Early Releaskapiply to no more than approximately
535,000 shares of our common stock.

Additionally, the shares of common stock subjeatdtstanding options under our equity incentivenpland the shares reserved for fu
issuance under our equity incentive plans, as ageflhares issuable upon vesting of restricted stavakds, will become eligible for sale in the
public market in the future, subject to certaindleand contractual limitations. The holders of ggragate of approximately 24.9 million shares
of our common stock as of March 31, 2015, havetsigbubject to certain conditions, to require uiléoregistration statements covering their
shares or to include their shares in registratiatements that we may file for ourselves or oucldtolders. We have also registered shares of
common stock that we may issue under our emplogaiyeincentive plans. These shares may be alive wold freely in the public market
upon issuance, subject to existing market stanawfick-up agreements.

Our directors, officers, and principal stockholdel®neficially own in the aggregate approximately.6® of our outstanding voting stock
and are able to exert significant control over maits subject to stockholder approval.

As of March 31, 2015, our directors, officers, geezahan 5% stockholders, and their respectivédiattis beneficially owned in the
aggregate approximately 60.6% of our outstandirtpgcstock, including 23.8% held by our founderj&Htexecutive Officer, and director,
Lewis Cirne. As a result, these stockholders hhee t
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ability to influence us through this ownership piogsi. These stockholders may be able to determigenaatter that would require majority
stockholder approval. For example, these stockinslaiay be able to control elections of directoragproval of any merger, sale of assets, or
other major corporate transaction. This may prewenliscourage unsolicited acquisition proposalsfters for our common stock that you n
feel are in your best interest as one of our stolddrs.

If securities or industry analysts do not continde publish research or publish inaccurate or unfarable research about our business, o
stock price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stock depengsaith on the research and reports that securitiesdastry analysts publish about us
or our business. If industry analysts cease coeetags, the trading price for our common stock Mdoe negatively affected. If one or more
the analysts who cover us downgrade our commolk stopublish inaccurate or unfavorable researchuabor business, our common stock
price would likely decline. If one or more of themaalysts cease coverage of us or fail to pubéiglonts on us regularly, demand for our
common stock could decrease, which might cause@mmon stock price and trading volume to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of ocompany more difficult, limit
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remoue @airrent management and limit the market price ofir common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certifiohiecorporation and amended and restated bylawshaae the effect of delaying or
preventing a change of control or changes in ouragament. Our amended and restated certificatecofporation and amended and restated
bylaws include provisions that:

» authorize our board of directors to issue, withfurther action by the stockholders, sharesnofesignated preferred stock with
terms, rights, and preferences determined by oardof directors that may be senior to our commonks

» require that any action to be taken by ourldtotders be effected at a duly called annual ocispeneeting and not by written
consent

» specify that special meetings of our stockholdarslee called only by our board of directors, thai@han of our board of directol
or our Chief Executive Office

» establish an advance notice procedure for btder proposals to be brought before an annuatinggencluding proposed
nominations of persons for election to our boardiodctors;

» establish that our board of directors is dividet ithree classes, with each class serving -year staggered term
» prohibit cumulative voting in the election of diters;
» provide that our directors may be removed onlyciuse

» provide that vacancies on our board of directoay be filled only by a majority of directors thia office, even though less than a
quorum; anc

» require the approval of our board of directmrshe holders of at least seveffitye percent (75%) of our outstanding shares oftak
stock to amend our bylaws and certain provisionsuofcertificate of incorporatiol

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any aiteriny our stockholders to replace or remove oueotl management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefrour board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. In addition, because we are incorgbnat®elaware, we are governed by the provisionSasftion 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delagvaorporation from engaging in any of a broad eaofgjbusiness combinations with
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any “interested” stockholder for a period of thyears following the date on which the stockholdecdme an “interested” stockholder. Any
delay or prevention of a change of control trarieaadr changes in our management could cause thieetarice of our common stock to
decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our commoncktso any returns will be limited to changes in thelue of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently anticipate thatwileretain future earnings for
the development, operation, and expansion of osinless and do not anticipate declaring or payingcash dividends for the foreseeable
future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividks on our common stock may be prohibited or lichlig the terms of any future debt financ
arrangements. Any return to stockholders will thene be limited to the increase, if any, of ourcétprice, which may never occur.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which includes salageting, business operations, and executive afficdocated in San Francisco,
California and consists of approximately 73,591asqueet of space under a lease that expires ymi2D20. In addition to our headquarters, we
lease space in Portland, Oregon as our primararelsend development office under a lease thatexpi April 2023. We also conduct
additional research and development operationsaised facilities in each of Seattle, WashingtonBenttelona, Spain and ewerking facilities
in Phoenix, Arizona. We lease space in Dublin alnel for our European headquarters, which includkes scustomer support and business
operations.

We do not own any real property and we lease aratise rent all of our facilities. We intend to puve additional space as we add
employees and expand geographically. We believéamilities are adequate and suitable for our eurneeds and that, should it be needed,
suitable additional or alternative space will baitable to accommodate any such expansion of caradipns.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On November 5, 2012, CA, Inc. filed an action agairs in the U.S. District Court for the Easterstbct of New York alleging that we
willfully infringe certain of its U.S. patents. CAnc. asserts that a portion of our applicatiorf@enance management software—the .NET anc
Java agents—infringes certain claims of those paitéimong other things, CA, Inc. has sought permaimgunctive relief against us and
damages in an amount to be determined at triatdVery is complete in the case, and partial digiwesimotions have been served and argued
by both parties although the court has not yetdrole those motions. The case was reassigned te gudge in March 2014 and a trial date is
not currently set.

We intend to continue to contest this lawsuit vagely. If this matter has an adverse outcome, it have an impact on our financial
position, results from operations, or cash flowso®d CA, Inc. prevail on its claims, we could leguired to pay substantial damages for past
sales of such products, enjoined from using arihgeduch products if a license or other right émiinue selling our products is not made
available to us, and required to pay substantigbomy royalties and comply with unfavorable terifnslich a license is made available to us.
Any of these outcomes could result in a materiakask effect on our business. However, we cannbisatime predict the likely outcome of
this proceeding or estimate the amount or randessfor possible loss that may arise from it. E¢@&e were to prevail, litigation is costly and
time-consuming, and could divert the attention wf management and key personnel from our businesstions and dissuade potential
customers from purchasing our products, eithertdtivcould materially harm our business.
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During the course of litigation, we anticipate anncements of the results of hearings and motiarspgher interim developments rele
to the litigation, which our competitors could toyuse to their competitive advantage by creatimgertainty amongst our customers. If
securities analysts or investors regard these aroemoents as negative, the market price of our camstark may decline.

In addition, from time to time, we are involvedl@yal proceedings and are subject to claims arisirtige ordinary course of our busine
Although the results of litigation and claims canhe predicted with certainty, we currently beligkat the final outcome of these ordinary
course matters will not have a material adversecefin our business, operating results, financatltion, or cash flows. Regardless of the
outcome, litigation can have an adverse impactsobacause of defense and settlement costs, dimetinanagement resources, and other
factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on the New York ISExachange under the symbol “NEWR” on December20d 4. Prior to that date,
there was no public trading market for our commimels The following table sets forth the high aod/Isales price per share of our common
stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchangéh® periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2( High Low
Third Quarter (beginning December 12, 2014) $37.0( $30.0¢
Fourth Quarte $38.6¢ $29.6¢

Holders of Record

As of May 15, 2015, there were 224 holders of réadrour common stock. Because many of our shasebeld by brokers and other
institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are uaab estimate the total number of stockholdersesgnted by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividenoliocapital stock. We currently intend to retdirasailable funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation of our businesisd® not anticipate paying any dividends on ounimmn stock in the foreseeable future, if at
all. Any future determination to declare cash divids will be made at the discretion of our boardigfctors, subject to applicable laws, and
will depend on a number of factors, including anahcial condition, operating results, capital riegments, contractual restrictions, general
business conditions, and other factors that ourchofdirectors may deem relevant.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

From April 1, 2014 through March 31, 2015, we geahto our directors, officers, employees, conststand other service providers
options to purchase an aggregate of 3,485,819 sbéur common stock pursuant to our 2008 Equitghtive Plan having exercise prices
ranging from $16.93 to $23.00 per share and réstristock unit awards for an aggregate of 671,Fi26es of our common stock with a grant
date fair value of $23.00 per share.

From April 1, 2014 through March 31, 2015, we isbaad sold to our directors, officers, employeessciltants and other service
providers an aggregate of 490,423 shares of ounemmstock upon the exercise of options under c0BZXQuity Incentive Plan at exercise
prices ranging from $0.06 to $16.93 per shareafoaggregate amount of approximately $1.2 million.

In April 2014, we sold an aggregate of 3,456,148rsh of our Series F convertible preferred stock@mirchase price of $28.9340 per
share for an aggregate purchase price of $100omitt a total of 33 accredited investors.

In May 2014, we granted a restricted stock awar@foaggregate of 40,000 shares of common stocgrund 2008 Plan to a member of
our board of directors as compensation for servierdered as a director.

In October 2014, we issued 108,234 shares of auntan stock to 21 accredited investors as partettnsideration for our acquisition
of Ducksboard.
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In December 2014, we issued 12,193 shares of gummm stock to 188 Spear Street, LLC pursuant te¢#shless net exercise of a
warrant that was issued in August 2012. The wameast exercisable for an aggregate of 20,889 sldui@sr common stock and had an exet
price of $9.5743 per share. The number of shasedsupon the net exercise of the warrant was egHiog an aggregate of 8,696 shares to
effect the net exercise of the warrant in accordamith its terms.

In January 2015, we issued 27,573 shares of oummmstock to SVB Financial Group pursuant to thehtess net exercise of a warrant
that was issued in September 2008. The warranewaisable for an aggregate of 28,000 sharesraf@mumon stock and had an exercise
price of $0.50 per share. The number of sharegisapon the net exercise of the warrant was redogesh aggregate of 427 shares to effect
the net exercise of the warrant in accordance igtterms.

In issuing the aboveientioned shares, we relied on the exemptions gedvby (i) Rule 701 or Section 4(a)(2) of the Sems Act and/c
Regulation D promulgated thereunder as a transabiiaan issuer not involving a public offering @y Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of
1933, as applicable.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On December 17, 2014, we closed our initial pubffering, or IPO, of 5,750,000 shares of our comratutk, including 750,000 shares
of common stock from the full exercise of the optto purchase additional shares granted to therumitiers, at a price to the public
of $23.00 per share. The offer and sale of alhefghares in our IPO were registered under therfiesUAct pursuant to a registration staten
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-200078), which was dexdaffective by the SEC on December 11, 2014. Tieeging commenced on
December 12, 2014 and, following the sale of athef shares that were registered in the registratiatement, the offering terminated in
connection with the closing of our IPO on Decemb&r2014. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, and J.P. Mor§acurities LLC, Allen & Compan
LLC, UBS Securities LLC, JMP Securities LLC, andyRend James & Associates, Inc. acted as the uniersvfor the offering. The
aggregate offering price for shares sold in theraffy was approximately $132.3 million. We raispgraximately $119.9 million in net
proceeds from the offering, after deducting undéerdiscounts and commissions of $9.3 million atttkr offering expenses of
approximately $3.1 million. No payments were magei to directors, officers or persons owning tercpnt or more of our common stock or
to their associates, or to our affiliates, othantipayments in the ordinary course of busines#fitecs for salaries.

There has been no material change in the planreedfysroceeds from our IPO as described in out fin@spectus filed with the SEC on
December 12, 2014 pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4). Penitie uses described, we have invested the ne¢qale from the offering in short-term,
investment-grade interest-bearing securities saah@ney market accounts, certificates of deposiroercial paper, and guaranteed
obligations of the U.S. government.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “satigimaterial” or to be “filed” with the SEC for pyoses of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Egehaant), or otherwise subject to the liabilitiesden that Section, and shall not be deemec
to be incorporated by reference into any filingN®w Relic, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933%amended, or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares the cumulative togalim to stockholders on our common stock relatvine cumulative total returns of
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, or S&P 500, ard3tandard & Poor’'s Composite 1500 Information Tiedbgy Index, or S&P 1500 IT. An
investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividis) is assumed to have been made in our commok atal in each index on December 12,
2014, the date our common stock began trading ®NY¥SE, and its relative performance is trackedugh March 31, 2015. The returns
shown are based on historical results and arentenided to suggest future performance.
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
Among New Relic, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, and t@&*SComposite 1500 IT Index
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Base Periot
12/12/14 12/31/14 1/31/15 2/28/15 3/31/15
New Relic, Inc. $ 100.0( $102.5( $91.3¢ $101.3¢ $102.0¢
S&P 500 $ 100.0( $102.8: $99.6: $105.1( $103.2°
S&P Composite 1500 Information Technolc $ 100.0( $102.3" $98.5¢ $106.2¢ $103.1:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See Part lll, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Fd@nK for information regarding securities authedzor issuance under our equity
compensation plans.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

We have derived the selected consolidated statsnoéperations data for the fiscal years endedcMad, 2015, 2014, and 2013 and
consolidated balance sheet data as of March 35 &20d 2014 from our audited consolidated finamsialements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated batasiteet data as of March 31, 2013 have been ddrivedour audited consolidated
financial statements not included in this Annuap&g on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated fiferata below should be read in
conjunction with the section entitled “Managememiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations” and our
consolidated financial statements and related riotdsded elsewhere in this report. The selectatsalidated financial data in this section are
not intended to replace our consolidated finarstizlements and the related notes, and are quadlifigir entirety by the consolidated finan
statements and related notes included elsewhehésineport. Our historical results are not necdlysiadicative of the results that may be
expected for any period in the future.

Year Ended March 31,
2015 2014 2013
(in thousands, except per share datz

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue $110,39: $ 63,17+ $ 29,66¢
Cost of revenue (1 21,80: 10,78( 5,07¢
Gross profit 88,58¢ 52,39 24,58t¢
Operating expense

Research and development 24,02« 16,49¢ 8,56¢

Sales and marketing ( 89,16: 58,15¢ 28,36¢

General and administrative ( 25,31¢ 17,17¢ 10,05:
Total operating expens 138,50! 91,83( 46,98:
Loss from operation (49,916 (39,43¢) (22,397
Other income (expense

Interest income 17¢ 16 9

Interest expens (109 (64) (48)

Other expense, n (390 (747) (10%5)
Loss before income tax (50,239 (40,225 (22,54))

Benefit from income taxe (85) — —
Net loss $(50,149) $(40,22%) $(22,547)
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs|dasic and diluted ( $  (1.99) $ (259 $ (149
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loshaee attributable to common stockholder
basic and diluted (Z 25,29( 15,59¢ 15,09¢

(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Cost of revenue $ 591 $ 15¢ $ 21z
Research and developmt 2,05¢ 1,42t 1,62(
Sales and marketir 5,10¢ 1,37: 2,06(
General and administrati 3,917 3,262 4,79¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel $11,66¢ $6,22( $8,68¢
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(2) See note 12 of the notes to our consolidatezhfiial statements for a description of how we aspet loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and dilut

As of March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash and cash equivalel $105,25 $ 19,45: $ 57,09¢
Shor-term investment 95,50: — —
Working capital 174,80° 8,02¢ 51,11¢
Total asset 264,71 55,20¢ 76,901
Deferred revenu 29,30¢ 10,35¢ 4,97(
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil — 83C 112
Total liabilities 49,84: 23,95¢ 12,22¢
Convertible preferred stoc — 95,91% 95,91
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 214,87( (64,66°%) (31,239
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related nafgsearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on F&f¥K. The following discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements thablve risks and uncertainties. When reviewingdiseussion below, you should keep in
mind the substantial risks and uncertainties thamild impact our business. In particular, we enca@egou to review the risks and
uncertainties described in Part |, Item 1A “Riskdars” included elsewhere in this report. These&sisind uncertainties could cause actual
results to differ materially from those projectedforward-looking statements contained in this meo implied by past results and trends.
Forward-looking statements are statements that attemfarécast or anticipate future developments in ousibess, financial condition or
results of operations. See the section titled “Sgddd¢ote Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”histreport. These statements, like all
statements in this report, speak only as of thaiequnless another date is indicated), and we tialle no obligation to update or revise these
statements in light of future developments.

Overview

We are defining a new category of enterprise saftwee call Software Analytics. Our cloud-basedfplat and suite of products enables
organizations to collect, store, and analyze masamounts of software data in real time. We dealbour products to be highly intuitive and
frictionless; they are easy to deploy, and custsman rapidly, often within minutes, realize betsedind results. Technology users can use ou
products to quickly find and fix performance prabkeas well as prevent future issues. Business geelsas product managers can get ans
to how their new product launch is being receivedow a pricing change impacted customer retentigtmout waiting for help from IT.
Software developers can build better applicati@ssefr, as they can see how their software willguarfand is actually performing for end-
users.

Since our formation in 2007, we have invested iidng an integrated platform that enables orgatiora to collect, store and analyze
massive amounts of data from their software in tiea. We launched our first product offering, NBwlic APM (Application Performance
Management) for Ruby, in 2008. Since then, we beoad our product offerings to support a wide varigtprogramming languages and
frameworks, with Java in 2009, PHP and .NET in 2@t@ Python in 2011. In 2011, we released NewcR8grvers to provide server
monitoring for the cloud and data centers. In 2@8released New Relic Mobile to support mobilepbyviding native mobile application
performance management for the iOS and Android laaperating systems. We also launched suppofNdaie.js, a programming language,
and New Relic Plugins (formerly New Relic Platforta)enable third parties to integrate with our folah. In March 2014, we launched New
Relic Insights to leverage big data analytics. Bgithe quarter ended December 31, 2014, we relédse@dRelic Browser to improve browser-
side performance and New Relic Synthetics to enalnlaisers to test their software through simulateahe.

We sell our products primarily through direct salesl marketing channels utilizing a wide rangerdine and offline sales and marketi
activities. The majority of our users visit our wéb, create an account and deploy our softwarenldieployment, most users experience our
full-featured products with a 14-day or 8@y free trial, enabling them to realize the besedf our products, after which they have the opta
purchase one or more of our subscription plansirguand after the trial period, our direct salemteengages with the user to convert the usel
into a paid business account. Many users initislilyscribe to one of our products to address acpéatiuse case and broaden the usage of ou
products as they become more familiar with our potsl Most of our customers to date have been smaledium-sized organizations, and
many of our customers to date have made purchdsicigions without interacting with our sales oresthersonnel. For larger organizations,
our sales team focuses on leveraging users inrgxigtcounts to broaden our footprint across tigamization.

We offer access to our platform and suite of présluader subscription plans that also include serand support. We offer a variety of
pricing plans based on the particular product paseld by an account, number of servers monitoredbauof applications monitored or
number of mobile devices monitored. Our plans tgihjchave terms of one year, although some of astaners commit for shorter or longer
periods. We recognize revenue from
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subscription fees ratably over the service peiidadst of our customers pay us on a monthly basisa Assult, our deferred revenue at any g
period of time has historically been relatively lois we begin to sell more to larger organizatiams,expect to invoice more of our customers
on a less frequent basis, and therefore, we expeaeferred revenue to increase over time. Howelter to our mix of subscription plans and
billing frequencies, we do not believe that changesur deferred revenue in a given period arectlyecorrelated with our revenue growth.

We have grown rapidly in recent periods, with rexenfor the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015, 2@id 2013 of $110.4 million,
$63.2 million, and $29.7 million, respectively, repenting year-over-year growth of 75% from thedigear ended March 31, 2014 to the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 and 113% fronfitloal year ended March 31, 2013 to the fiscal wrated March 31, 2014. We expect that
the rate of growth in our revenue will decline as business scales, even if our revenue contiraigeoiv in absolute terms. We have contin
to make significant expenditures and investmentduding in personnel-related costs, sales and etiagk infrastructure and operations, and
have incurred net losses in each period sincemmepiion, including net losses of $50.1 millionp$million, and $22.5 million for the fiscal
years ended March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, regplctOur accumulated deficit as of March 31, 20dds $131.6 million

Our employee headcount has increased to 661 engd@geof March 31, 2015 from 435 as of March 3142@nd our number of paid
business accounts from 9,117 to 11,910 over the g@mod, and we plan to continue to aggressivelgst in the growth of our business to
take advantage of our market opportunity. We int@ncbntinue to increase our investment in salesmaarketing, as we further expand our
sales teams, increase our marketing activitiesgamd our international operations, particularlywasincrease our sales to larger organizati
Internationally, we currently offer our productsiarope, Middle East, and Africa, or EMEA, Asia-Riacor APAC, and other non-U.S.
locations, as determined based on the billing axtdoé our customers, and our revenue from thoderregonstituted 19%, 8%, and 7%,
respectively, of our revenue for the year endedd &1, 2015, and 17%, 7%, and 6%, respectivelguofevenue for the year ended Marct
2014. We believe there is further opportunity tor@ase our international revenue overall and asgoption of our revenue, and we are
increasingly investing in our international opesas and intend to invest in further expanding @atfrint in international markets, including
through our October 2014 acquisition of Barceloaadua Few Ducks, S.L, or Ducksboard, pursuant talwvie acquired all of the outstanding
shares of Ducksboard. To support the growth ofcogtomer base, we also intend to increase ourtimeéss in our support organization and
infrastructure. In addition, we plan to continuerteest in our research and development organizati@nhance and further develop our
products. While these areas represent significapbrunities for us, we also face significant rigksl challenges that we must successfully
address in order to sustain the growth of our ssirand improve our operating results. Due to ontirtuing investments to grow our
business, in advance of and in preparation foreapected increase in sales and expansion of odrpsiness accounts, we are continuing to
incur expenses in the near term from which we nwyealize any long-term benefit. In addition, amyestments that we make in sales and
marketing or other areas will occur in advancewfexperiencing any benefits from such investmestst may be difficult for us to determine
if we are efficiently allocating our resourcesliese areas. As a result, we have never achievéithpility and we do not expect to be
profitable for the foreseeable future.

Further, our reported revenue, operating resutts cash flows for a given period may not be indveaof future results due to our limited
operating history and fluctuations in the numbenefv employees, the rate of our expansion, thengjrof expenses we incur to grow our
business and operations, levels of competition,raarket demand for our products.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Market Adoption of Our Product®Ve are defining a new category of software, whiehrefer to as Software Analytics. Our success is
dependent on the market adoption of this emergitggory of software, which may not yet be well ustteod by the market. For the
foreseeable future, we expect that our revenuetirawll be primarily driven by the pace of adoptiand penetration of our products and we
will incur significant expenses associated with@ting the market about the benefits of our pragluct
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Increasing the Number of Paid Business Accoudis.future growth is dependent on our ability torgase the number of accounts that
pay us to use our products. Most users experiemcproducts with a free trial after which they halkre option to purchase one or more of our
subscription plans. We believe that we have a Bagmt competitive advantage as our users expegidme ease of installation and the full se
features that our products deliver during the frizé period.

Retention and Expansion within Paid Business AcisoArkey factor in our success is the retention arqhesion of our subscription
agreements with our existing customers. In ordeu$oto continue to grow our business, it is imgotto generate additional revenue from our
existing customers, and we do this in several wAgsve improve our existing products and introdoew products, we believe that the
demand for our products will generally grow. Weodbelieve that there is a significant opportundy tis to increase the number of
subscriptions we sell to our current customersiag become more familiar with our products and adop products to address additional
business use cases.

Investment in Sales and Marketifje expect to continue to invest aggressively irsahd marketing to drive additional revenue. Any
investments that we make in sales and marketingoedur in advance of our experiencing any benéfits such investments, so it may be
difficult for us to determine if we are efficientitlocating our resources. As we continue to farales and marketing investments more heavil
towards large organizations, this may require nodmaur resources. In addition, we expect our seyete to be longer and less predictable witt
respect to larger customers, which may delay ratidia of future sales. We also intend to increagesales and marketing investment in
international markets, such as Europe, and thoskeatsamay take longer and be more costly to devédap the U.S. market.

Key Operating Metrics

We review the following key metrics to evaluate business, measure our performance, identify traffdsting our business, formulate
business plans and make strategic decisions:

Number of Paid Business AccounWe believe that our ability to increase our numtfepaid business accounts is one indicator of our
market penetration, the growth of our businessandotential future prospects. We define the nunalb@aid business accounts at the end of
any particular period as the number of accountiseaend of the period as identified by a uniquevaatidentifier for which we have recogni:
revenue on the last day of the period indicatedingjle organization or customer may have multigle ppusiness accounts for separate
divisions, segments, or subsidiaries. The followtsigle summarizes the number of paid business atsatieach quarter end presented:

Mar. 31, 201¢ Dec. 31, 201 Sept. 30, 201 Jun. 30, 201.
Paid Business Accounts 11,91( 11,27( 10,59( 9,76¢

Dollar-Based Net Expansion Rateur ability to generate revenue is dependent orability to maintain and grow our relationshipstwit
our existing customers. We track our performandhimarea by measuring our dollar-based net expamate. Our dollar-based net expansion
rate increases when customers increase their usgr @iroducts, use additional products, or upgtadehigher subscription tier. Our dollar-
based net expansion rate is reduced when custaleersase their use of our products, use fewer ptedor downgrade to a lower subscript
tier.

Our dollar-based net expansion rate compares ourriag subscription revenue from customers frora period to the next. We measure
our dollar-based net expansion rate on a monthdishi@ecause many of our customers change theicigptisns more frequently than quarterly
or annually. To calculate our annual dollar-basetexpansion rate, we first establish the bas@gemionthly recurring revenue from all our
customers at the end of a month. This represeatsetfenue we would contractually expect to rectime those customers over the following
month, without any increase or reduction in anyhefr subscriptions. We then (i) calculate
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the actual monthly recurring revenue from thoseesaustomers at the end of that following monthnttig divide that following month’s
recurring revenue by the base moattecurring revenue to arrive at our monthly negtagsion rate; then (iii) calculate a quarterly egtansiol
rate by compounding the net expansion rates afhtte® months in the quarter; and then (iv) caleutatr annualized net expansion rate by
compounding our quarterly net expansion rate omearual period.

The following table summarizes our annualized dedased net expansion rate for each quarter:

Mar. 31, 201 Dec. 31, 201 Sept. 30, 201 Jun. 30, 201.
Dollar-Based Net Expansion Rate 130.2% 131.7% 115.(% 109.9%

The quarterly fluctuations in our dollar-based egbansion rate are primarily driven by transactiwitein a particular quarter in which
certain paid business accounts from larger sultgmmigustomers either significantly upgrade or gigantly downgrade their subscriptions and
by increased sales to existing customers in paaticqquarters due to sales and marketing campaigasarticular quarter. In addition, we
believe that the composition of our customer bése lzas an impact on the net expansion rate, fiathatrelative increase in the number of
business accounts from larger enterprises versah ®mmediumsized organizations will tend to increase our qerrinet expansion rate ant
relative increase in the number or paid businessiats from small to medium-sized organizationswgiarger enterprises will tend to
decrease the quarterly net expansion rate, asesnbai$inesses tend to cancel subscriptions mayadrely than larger enterprises.

Key Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We offer access to our products under subscrigtians that include service and support for one arenof our products. For our paying
customers, we offer a variety of pricing plans loage the particular product purchased by an accowmber of servers monitored, number of
applications monitored or number of mobile devigemitored. Our plans typically have terms of onaryalthough some of our customers
commit for shorter periods. We invoice most of oustomers on a monthly basis. As a result, ourtdsdaevenue has historically been
relatively low. As we begin to sell more to largeganizations, we expect to invoice more of out@urs on a less frequent basis, and
therefore, we expect our deferred revenue to iisereaer time.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of expenses relatingte anter operations, hosting-related costs, payprecessing fees, depreciation and
amortization, consulting costs and salaries anefitsrof operations and global customer supporsqramel. Salaries and benefits costs
associated with our operations and global cust@ugport personnel consist of salaries, benefitsubes, and stock-based compensation. We
plan to continue increasing the capacity, capgbiind reliability of our infrastructure to supptire growth of our customer base and the
number of products we offer.

Gross Profit and Margin

Gross profit is revenue less cost of revenue. Gramgin is gross profit expressed as a percenthgevenue. Our gross margin has been
and will continue to be affected by, a number etdes, including the timing and extent of our inwaants in our operations and global
customer support personnel, hosting-related caststhe amortization of capitalized software. Wpeset that our gross margin will decline
modestly over the long term, although we expectgrass margin to fluctuate from period to periochassult of these factors.

Operating Expenses

Personnel costs, which consist of salaries, benéfitnuses, stock-based compensation and, withdrémaales and marketing expenses,
sales commissions, are the most significant comptosfeour operating expenses. We also incur otberpersonnel costs such as an allocatior
of our general overhead expenses.
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Research and DevelopmeResearch and development expenses consist priméaplgrsonnel costs and an allocation of our génera
overhead expenses. We continue to focus our résaartdevelopment efforts on adding new featurdspanducts, and increasing the
functionality and enhancing the ease of use okeaisting products. We capitalize the portion of saftware development costs that meets the
criteria for capitalization.

We plan to continue to hire employees for our eegimg, product management and design teams t@sgupp research and
development efforts. As a result, we expect oveaesh and development expenses to continue toaiserie absolute dollars for the foresee
future. However, we expect our research and dewsdop expenses to decrease modestly as a percaftagerevenue over the long term,
although our research and development expensesluctyate from period to period depending on flations in our revenue and the timing
and extent of our research and development expenses

Sales and Marketingsales and marketing expenses consist of persoost for our sales, marketing and business developm
employees and executives. Commissions are expémsee period when a customer contract is execiBates and marketing expenses also
include the costs of our marketing and brand avwesgprograms.

We plan to continue investing in sales and markegilobally by increasing the number of our sales@enel, expanding our domestic
and international marketing activities, buildingbd awareness and sponsoring additional marketiegte We expect our sales and marketin
expenses to continue to increase in absolute ddlad continue to be our largest operating expeaisgory for the foreseeable future.
However, we expect our sales and marketing expansgecrease as a percentage of our revenue eyt term, although our sales and
marketing expenses may fluctuate from period taopedtepending on fluctuations in our revenue arctitning and extent of our sales and
marketing expenses.

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist pitintd personnel costs for our administrative,dgdiumar
resources, information technology, finance and asting employees and executives. Also includecharepersonnel costs, such as legal and
other professional fees.

We plan to continue to expand our business bothedtinally and internationally, and we expect taéase the size of our general and
administrative function to support the growth of business. We also expect that we will continumear additional general and administra
expenses as a result of being a publicly tradedpemyn As a result, we expect our general and adindttive expenses to continue to increase
in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future. Elosv, we expect our general and administrative msg®to decrease modestly as a percentag
of our revenue over the long term, although ouregainand administrative expense may fluctuate fpemiod to period depending on
fluctuations in our revenue and the timing and eixté our general and administrative expenses, asdligation costs.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net consists primarily of the rematidn of our convertible preferred stock warraaibility, interest income, interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses.
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Results of Operations For Fiscal Years Ended Marci81, 2015, 2014, and 2013

The following tables summarize our consolidatetestents of operations data for the periods predearid as a percentage of our
revenue for those periods. The period to periodpganiaon of results is not necessarily indicativeesiults for future periods.

Year Ended March 31,
2015 2014 2013
(in thousands, except per share datz

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue $110,39: $ 63,17+ $ 29,66¢
Cost of revenue (1 21,80: 10,78( 5,07¢
Gross profit 88,58¢ 52,39 24,58¢
Operating expense

Research and development 24,02« 16,49¢ 8,56¢

Sales and marketing ( 89,16: 58,15¢ 28,36:

General and administrative ( 25,31¢ 17,17¢ 10,05
Total operating expens 138,50! 91,83( 46,98:
Loss from operation (49,916 (39,43¢) (22,399
Other income (expense

Interest income 17€ 16 9

Interest expens (109 (64) (48)

Other expense, n (390 (747) (109
Loss before income tax (50,239 (40,225 (22,547)

Benefit from income taxe (85) — —

Net loss $(50,149 $(40,225 $(22,54)

() Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
(in thousands
Cost of revenur $ 591 $ 15¢ $ 212
Research and developmt 2,05¢ 1,42t 1,62(
Sales and marketir 5,10¢ 1,37: 2,06(
General and administrati 3,917 3,26: 4,794
Total stocl-based compensation expel $11,66¢ $6,22( $8,68¢
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Year Ended March 31,

(as a percentage of reveni
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10C%
Cost of revenue (1 _ 20 17 17
Gross profi _ 80 | 68 83
Operating expense
Research and development 21 26 29
Sales and marketing ( 81 92 96
General and administrative ( 23 27 34
Total operating expens 12t 14E 15¢
Loss from operation (49 (62 _(76)
Other income (expense
Interest incom — — —
Interest expens — — —
Other expense, n — o —
Loss before income tax (45) (63) (76)
Benefit from income taxe — — —
Net loss _(45%) _(63%) _(76%)
(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc
Year Ended March 31,
201% 2014 201:
(as a percentage of reven
Cost of revenu 1% —% 1%
Research and developmt 2 2 5
Sales and marketir 5 2 7
General and administrati\ _ 4 5 _16
Total stocl-based compensation expel _12% % _29%
Revenue
Year Ended March 31, Change Year Ended March 31, Change
2015 2014 Amount % 2014 2013 Amount % _
(dollars in thousand:
United State: $ 73,41¢ $43,90¢ $29,51¢ 67% $43,90¢ $21,26¢ $22,63¢ 10€%
EMEA 21,04 10,82 10,21¢  94% 10,82« 4,57 6,25: 137%
APAC 8,73: 4,57¢ 4,15¢  91% 4,57¢ 2,261 2,31: 102%
Other 7,20( 3,87¢ 3,321  86% 3,87: 1,562 2,311  14&%
Total revenus $110,39. $63,17: $47,21° 75% $63,17¢ $29,66¢ $33,51( 11%

Revenue increased $47.2 million, or 75%, in thedliyear ended March 31, 2015 compared to thelfygza ended March 31, 2014. The
increase was a result of an increase in the nuofljgid business accounts, which increased froh7at March 31, 2014 to 11,910 at
March 31, 2015, and an increase in product adogt@n existing paid business accounts. Our revdérare EMEA increased $10.2 million, or
94%, in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 coegbéo the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 andexenue from APAC increased $4.2
million, or 91%, in the fiscal year ended March 3@15 compared to the fiscal year ended
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March 31, 2014 as a result of an increase in timebeu of paid business accounts and an increasedugt adoption from existing paid
business accounts located in these geographic®gio

Revenue increased $33.5 million, or 113%, in thedi year ended March 31, 2014 compared to thal fyj@ar ended March 31, 2013. "
increase was a result of an increase in the nuoflqaaid business accounts, which increased fro®8af March 31, 2013 to 9,117 at
March 31, 2014, and an increase in product adoftam existing paid business accounts. Our revdram EMEA increased $6.3 million, or
137%, in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 caetpto the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 andewenue from APAC increased $2.3
million, or 102%, in the fiscal year ended March 3014 compared to the fiscal year ended Marct2813 as a result of an increase in the
number of paid business accounts and an incregeediuct adoption from existing paid business ant®located in these geographic regions.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Change March 31, Change
2015 2014 Amount % 2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousand: -
Cost of Revenu $21,80: $10,78( $11,02: 102% $10,78( $5,07¢ $5,707 112%

Cost of revenue increased $11.0 million, or 102%he fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 comparelediscal year ended March 31,
2014. The increase was primarily a result of angase in personnel-related costs and hosting-tetaists necessary to support our growth, as
well as an increase in payment processing costsodilre increase in revenue. Personnel-related aosteased by $5.7 million, driven by
higher headcount, and hostinglated costs, payment processing fees, depratiexipense, and amortization expense increased.Bynfilion.

Cost of revenue increased $5.7 million, or 112%héanfiscal year ended March 31, 2014 comparebddiscal year ended March 31,
2013. The increase was primarily a result of angiase in personnel-related costs and hosting-tetatsts necessary to support our growth, as
well as an increase in payment processing costsadilie increase in revenue. Hosting-related cpstanent processing fees, and amortizatior
expense increased by $2.7 million, and personnefer: costs increased by $2.8 million, driven kyhleir headcount.

Research and Development

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Change March 31, Change
2015 2014 Amount % 2014 2013 Amount %
(dolfars in thousand _
Research and developm $24,02: $16,49¢ $7,52¢ 46% $16,49¢ $8,56% $7,931 93%

Research and development expenses increased $liof nor 46%, in the fiscal year ended March 3012 compared to the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2014. The increase was primarigsalt of an increase of $6.2 million in personreéted costs, driven by higher headcount
a $0.6 million increase in spending on outsideises/ and a $0.7 million increase in depreciatxpesse.

Research and development expenses increased $iiod nair 93%, in the fiscal year ended March 3012 compared to the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2013. The increase was primarigsalt of an increase of $5.8 million in personredited costs, driven by higher headcount
a $1.1 million increase in spending on outsideises/ and a $0.7 million increase in rent expemke.remaining increase was due to travel
expenses and other miscellaneous expenses.
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Sales and Marketing

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Change March 31, Change
2015 2014 Amount % 2014 2013 Amount %
(dolfars in thousand: -
Sales and marketir $89,16: $58,15¢ $31,00¢ 53% $58,15¢ $28,36f¢ $29,79: 105%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $31.0millicb3%, in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2€dfpared to the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2014. The increase was primarily a resfudin increase of personnel-related costs of $&dllbn, driven by higher headcount and
an increase of sales commissions due to revenwelgrand an increase of $2.8 million in advertisamgl marketing programs. The remaining
increase was due to an increase in consultanofe®&.5 million, an increase in travel expense$hB million and other miscellaneous
expenses of $1.5 million.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $29.8mitlicl05%, in the fiscal year ended March 31, 268d@pared to the fiscal year enc
March 31, 2013. The increase was primarily a resdin increase of personnel-related costs of $t@ln, driven by higher headcount and
an increase of sales commissions due to revenuettgran increase of $12.4 million in advertisinglanarketing programs, and an increase of
$2.6 million in office rent expense. The remainingrease was due to an increase in consultanbfe®®.5 million, an increase in travel
expenses of $0.5 million, and other miscellaneopeeses.

General and Administrative

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Change March 31, Change
2015 2014 Amount % 2014 2013 Amount %
(doffars in thousand: —
General and administratiy $25,31¢ $17,17¢ $8,141 47% $17,17¢ $10,05¢ $7,12t 71%

General and administrative expenses increasedndilidn, or 47%, in the fiscal year ended March 3@15 compared to the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2014. The increase was primarigsalt of an increase in personnel-related cos&df million, driven by an increase in
headcount, and an increase in outside service®.bfriillion due to the costs of compliance assedatith being a publicly traded company.

General and administrative expenses increasedndilidn, or 71%, in the fiscal year ended March 3@14 compared to the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2013. The increase was primarigsalt of an increase of $5.5 million in legal felee to ongoing litigation, and accounting
fees. In addition, personnel-related costs, exolydiock-based compensation expense resultingtfieomeactions with existing investors,
increased by $2.3 million, driven primarily by artiease in headcount. Increase in persorgiated costs was offset by a $1.5 million decrt
in stock-based compensation expense due to aghitg-tender offer and certain stock transactiorteé fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.
remaining increase was due to an increase in rgEnse of $0.6 million due to new facilities andimerease in insurance fees and other
miscellaneous expenses.

Other Expense, Net

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Change March 31, Change
2015 2014 Amount % 2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousand: -
Other expense, n $(318) $(789) $ 471 (60%) $(78S) $(144) S (64%) 44&%

Other expense decreased $0.5 million in the figeat ended March 31, 2015 compared to the fisaal geded March 31, 2014. The
decrease was primarily a result of the changearfdir value of our convertible preferred stock raats and increase in interest income.
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Other expense increased $0.6 million in the figealr ended March 31, 2014 compared to the fisaal geded March 31, 2013. The
increase was primarily a result of an increaséénfair value of our convertible preferred stocknaats.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables set forth selected unauditedrterly consolidated statements of operations fdateach of the eight quarters in the
period ended March 31, 2015, as well as the peaigerthat each line item represents of our revemueatch quarter. The information for each
of these quarters has been prepared on the sameabdbe audited annual consolidated financiééstants included elsewhere in this report
and, in the opinion of management, includes allistijients of a normal, recurring nature that areseary for the fair presentation of the
results of operations for these periods in accareavith generally accepted accounting principletheéUnited States. This data should be rea
in conjunction with our audited consolidated finmhstatements and related notes included elsewhehés report. These quarterly operating
results are not necessarily indicative of our ofiegaresults for a full fiscal year or any futurerjod.

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Jun. 30,

2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands
Revenue $33,38¢ $29,02¢ $25,36: $22,61! $19,84! $17,18: $ 14,28 $11,85¢
Cost of revenue (1 6,801 5,94( 5,02¢ 4,032 3,37¢ 2,93t 2,40¢ 2,05¢
Gross profit 26,581 23,08¢ 20,33: 18,58 16,46¢ 14,25( 11,87¢ 9,80(
Operating expense
Research and development 7,36¢ 6,41( 5,33¢ 4,912 4,28¢ 4,47¢ 4,601 3,13:
Sales and marketing ( 26,067 25,46(  19,01¢ 18,61¢ 16,06! 17,08¢ 12,96¢ 12,03¢
General and administrative ( 7,84¢ 6,86¢ 5,24¢ 5,36( 5,621 4,39¢ 4,55k 2,60¢
Total operating expens 41,27¢ 38,73¢ 29,60 28,88t  25,97( 25,95¢ 22,12 17,77
Loss from operation (14,697 (15,64YH (9,272 (10,307 (9,50 (11,709 (10,246 (7,979
Other income (expense
Interest incomi 117 47 7 5 3 3 5 5
Interest expens (22) (59 (14) (15) (15) (15) (16) (18
Other income (expense), r (210) (381) 67 134 (23¢%) (187) (132) (290
Loss before income tax (14,80¢) (16,037 (9,217 (10,187 (9,755 (11,90) (10,389 (8,180
Expense (benefit) from income tay 19 (104) — — — — — —
Net loss $(14,82%) $(15,929 $(9,217) $(10,18Y) $(9,75% $(11,90) $(10,389 $(8,180

(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 3C Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 Jun. 30

2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands

Cost of revenu $ 231 $ 166 $ 101 $ 93 $ 5H8 $ 43 $ 31 $ 27

Research and developmt 877 721 25t 202 231 20¢€ 89C 98

Sales and marketir 1,73(C 1,47¢ 1,05¢ 84¢ 374 60¢ 212 17¢

General and administrati 1,23¢ 1,06t 824 787 83:¢ 42€ 1,77¢ 22¢

Total stocl-based compensation expel $4,07¢ $3,42¢ $2,23t $1,931 $1,49¢ $1,28/ $290¢ $ 53z
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Three Months Ended

Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 Jun. 30
2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013
(as a percentage of reveni
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10C% 10(% 10(% 10(% 10C% 10C%
Cost of revenue (1 20 20 20 18 17 17 17 17
Gross profit 80 80 80 82 83 83 83 83
Operating expense
Research and
development (1 22 22 21 22 22 26 32 26
Sales and marketing ( 78 88 75 82 81 99 91 10z
General and
administrative (1 23 24 21 24 28 26 32 22
Total operating expens 12: 134 117 12¢ 131 151 15E 15C
Operating los! (43 (59 (37) (46) (48) (68) (72 (67
Other income (expense
Interest incom — — — — — — — —
Interest expens — — — — — — — —
Other income (expense
net @ @ — 1 (1) (1) (1) (2
Loss before income tax (44) (55) (37 (45) (49 (69 (73) (69)
Expense (benefit) from
income taxe! — — — — — — — —
Net loss (44%) (55%) (37%) (45%) (49%) (69%) (73%) (69%)
(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc
Three Months Ended
Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 Jun. 30
2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013
(as a percentage of reven
Cost of revenu 1% 1% 1% — % — % — % — % — %
Research and developmt 2 2 1 1 1 1 6 1
Sales and marketir 5 5 4 4 2 4 2 1
General and administrati 4 4 3 4 5 2 12 2
Total stocl-based compensation expe 12% 12% 9% 9% 8% 7% 20% 4%

Quarterly Revenue Trends

Our quarterly revenue increased in each periodepted due to increased sales to new customerslhasincreasing sales to existing
customers. We cannot assure you that this treddaitinue, and we believe that we may experieeesanality in our business in the future.

Quarterly Gross Margin Trends

Our gross margin has remained relatively consisieat all periods presented, with the fluctuatiprismarily due to the timing and extent
of our investments in our operations and globatamsr support personnel, and hosting-related costs.

Quarterly Expense Trends

Research and development, sales and marketingyearatal and administrative expenses generally aseck sequentially over the peric
as we increased our headcount to support contiimyedtment in our products. The increase in persbowsts was related to increases in
headcount, along with higher stock-based compensatipense.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013

(in thousands
Cash used in operating activiti $ (13,62) $(20,719) $ (7,200
Cash used in investing activiti (118,68() (17,227 (13,177
Cash provided by financing activiti 218,10! 294 60,022
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 85,80/ $(37,64¢) $ 39,65!

To date, we have financed our operations primahilgugh sales of equity securities. Since our itioepwe have completed several
rounds of equity financing through the sale of skaif our Series A through Series F convertiblégored stock for total cash proceeds to us o
$193.2 million. In December 2014 we completed &® ) resulting in aggregate proceeds of approxim&ER3.0 million from the sale of
shares of common stock, net of underwriters’ dist®and commissions, but before deducting paidioffeexpenses of
approximately $3.1 million. We believe that ourgixig cash and cash equivalents balance will bfecgrft to meet our working capital and
capital expenditure requirements for at least & h2 months.

Our future capital requirements will depend on méagjors, including our growth rate, the timing andent of spending to support
research and development efforts, the continuedresipn of sales and marketing activities, the ghiation of new and enhanced products, an
the continued market acceptance of our producthdrevent that additional financing is requirezhiroutside sources, we may not be able to
raise such financing on terms acceptable to us alt.df we are unable to raise additional capithlen desired, our business, operating results
and financial condition would be adversely affected

Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, opregactivities used $13.6 million in cash as a ltesiua net loss of $50.1 million,
adjusted by non-cash charges of $21.2 million ackamge of $15.8 million in our operating assets labilities. The change in our operating
assets and liabilities was primarily the resuladf18.9 million increase in deferred revenue asalt of increased sales of subscriptions, a $1.
million increase in accounts payable due to in@daxpenditures, a $4.8 million increase in accegdpensation and benefits and other
liabilities due to increased headcount, and a 81l®n increase in deferred rent due to new offieases. This was partially offset by a $8.6
million increase in accounts receivable due togased sales of subscriptions and a $1.4 milliorease in prepaid expenses and other assets

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, ofgadctivities used $20.7 million in cash as a ltesiua net loss of $40.2 million,
adjusted by non-cash charges of $11.7 million ackamge of $7.8 million in our operating assets laflities. The change in our operating
assets and liabilities was primarily the resuladf5.4 million increase in deferred revenue asalref increased sales of subscriptions, a $2.3
million increase in accounts payable due to in@daspenditures, a $2.1 million increase in accagrdpensation and benefits and other
liabilities due to increased headcount, and a $1llgon increase in deferred rent due to new offieases. This was partially offset by a $3.0
million increase in accounts receivable due togased sales of subscriptions and a $0.8 milliorease in prepaid expenses and other assets

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, ofegadctivities used $7.2 million in cash as a restih net loss of $22.5 million,
adjusted by non-cash charges of $10.7 million acdamge of $4.6 million in our operating assets la@iilities. The change in our operating
assets and liabilities was primarily the resulad2.8 million increase in deferred revenue asalref increased sales of subscriptions, a $2.0
million increase in deferred rent due to new offeeases, a $1.2 million increase in accrued congimmsand benefits and other
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liabilities due to increased headcount, and a #$0llfon increase in accounts payable due to in@daxpenditures. This was partially offset by
a $1.3 million increase in accounts receivabletduacreased sales of subscriptions and a $0.8milhcrease in prepaid expenses and other
assets.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities during the figadr ended March 31, 2015 was $118.7 million, grilm as a result of purchases of
short-term investments of $114.5 million, purchasigsroperty and equipment of $12.6 million, inesa in capitalization of software
development costs of $9.0 million, and payment$28 million for the acquisition of Ducksboard, étcash acquired. These were offset
partially by proceeds from the sale of short-tenvestments of $15.0 million, maturity of short-teimaestments of $3.8, and decreases to
restricted cash of $1.0 million.

Cash used in investing activities during the fisers ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $17.bmdhd $13.2 million, respectively,
primarily as a result of increases in capital exjiiemes to purchase property and equipment to stglditional office space and site
operations, increases in capitalization of softwbreelopment costs, and increases to restrictddioaslation to new office space.

Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities during thecéil year ended March 31, 2015 was $218.1 milfiomarily as the result of proceeds
from our IPO, net of issuance costs, of $119.9iom|lproceeds from our sale of preferred stockofiétsuance costs, of $97.2 million, and the
exercise of stock options of $1.2 million. Cashvied by financing activities for the fiscal yearded March 31, 2015 was offset by principle
payments on debt assumed through our acquisiti@uoksboard of $0.3 million.

Cash provided by financing activities for the fisgaar ended March 31, 2014 was $0.3 million, pritlpas a result of the exercise of
stock options. Cash provided by financing actisitier the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 was@®60llion, primarily as a result of procee
from our sale of preferred stock, net of issuarasts; and the exercise of stock options.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our principal contractual commitments primarily st of obligations under leases for office spameof March 31, 2015, the future
non-cancelable minimum payments under these oldiggtand our future non-cancelable minimum paysianter our other contractual
obligations were as follows:

Payments due by perioc

Less thar
1to3 3to5 After 5
Total 1 year years years years
(In thousands
Operating lease obligatiol $40,07¢ $ 5,741 $12,76: $13,43¢ $8,13¢
Other obligation: 3,58( 3,08( 50C — —
Total $43,65¢ $ 8,821 $13,26: $13,43¢ $8,13¢

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, we did not haveratationships with unconsolidated entities or ficiahpartnerships, such as structt
finance or special purpose entities, that werebéisteed for the purpose of facilitating off-balarateeet arrangements or other purposes.
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Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenésoordance with GAAP. In the preparation of themesolidated financial statements,
we make estimates and assumptions that affecefieeted amounts of assets and liabilities and @sce of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdstie reported amounts of income and expensesgitivé reporting period. These estimates
are based on information available as of the ditieeoconsolidated financial statements; therefactyal results could differ from our
estimates. To the extent that there are mateffi@rdnces between these estimates and actualgesuitfinancial condition or results of
operations would be affected. We base our estintatgmst experience and other assumptions thatis/b are reasonable under the
circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates ongoing basis.

The critical accounting policies requiring estingtassumptions, and judgments that we believe tm@vmost significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements are describeainbel

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from subscription-based amaeggs that allow our customers to access our ptedQ@ur sales agreements have
contract terms typically for one year in lengtheass.

We recognize revenue when the following criteria met: (i) there is persuasive evidence of an gaarent; (ii) subscriptions have been
or are being provided to the customer; (iii) theoamt of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed determinable; and (iv) collection is
reasonably assured.

We recognize subscription revenue on a straiglketiiasis over the contractual period. Amounts thaelbeen invoiced and that are due
are recorded in deferred revenue or revenue, dameod whether the revenue recognition criteriaehlbeen met.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We measure and recognize compensation expensedétastock-based transactions, including emplaysgenon-employee director
stock options, restricted stock units, or RSUs, @stkicted stock awards, or RSAs, in our finanstatements based on the fair value of the
awards granted. We estimate the fair value of eation award on the grant date using the Black-f&shoption-pricing model and a single
option award approach. The fair value of RSUs aBA®Ris based on the closing price of our commocoksts reported on the New York Stock
Exchange. We recognize stock-based compensati@nsgpnet of forfeitures, over the requisite serpieriods of the awards, which is
generally four years.

Our use of the Black-Scholes option-pricing mo@gjuires the input of highly subjective assumptiamsduding the expected term of the
option, the expected volatility of the price of @mmmon stock, risk-free interest rates, the exggedividend yield of our common stock, and
for grants prior to our IPO, the fair value of tinederlying common stock. The assumptions we useliiroption-pricing model represent
management’s best estimates. These estimates @iierent uncertainties and the application ofamement’s judgment. If factors change
and different assumptions are used, our stock-bemegensation expense could be materially diffeirettie future.

These assumptions and estimates are as follows:

e Fair Value of Common StocPrior to our IPO, the fair value of the common ktaaderlying the stock-based awards was
determined by our board of directors. Given theeabs of a public trading market, the board of doecconsidered numerous
objective and subjective factors to determine #ievialue of our common stock at each meeting athvawards were approved.
These factors included, but were not limited tac¢ihtemporaneous th-party valuations of common stock; (ii) t
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rights and preferences of convertible preferredlstelative to common stock; (iii) the lack of matability of common stock;

(iv) developments in the business; and (v) thdilik®d of achieving a liquidity event, such as B®lor sale of the company, given
prevailing market conditions. Since our IPO, weéased the market closing price of our common siscieported on the New
York Stock Exchange

* RiskFree Interest RateWe base the risk-free interest rate used in thekB&choles option-pricing model on the implied giel
available on U.S. Treasury z-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalenh&b of the options for each option groi

» Expected TermThe expected term represents the period that ook-4iased awards are expected to be outstandindgpadéethe
expected term assumption on our historical exetm$mvior combined with estimates of the -vesting holding perioc

» Expected Volatility.We determine the price volatility factor based loa historical volatilities of our publicly trade@er group as
we do not have significant trading history for c@ammon stock. Industry peers consist of severalipabmpanies in the
technology industry that are similar to us in setage of life cycle, and financial leverage. Wedithe same set of peer group
companies in all the relevant valuation estimatés.did not rely on implied volatilities of tradeg@tmns in our industry peers’
common stock because the volume of activity weatikedly low. We intend to continue to consistergfply this process using the
same or similar public companies until a sufficianmtount of historical information regarding theatdity of our own common
stock share price becomes available, or unlessrmostances change such that the identified compangeso longer similar to us,
which case, more suitable companies whose sharespaire publicly available would be utilized in tadculation.

» Dividend Yield.The expected dividend assumption is based on atermmuexpectations about our anticipated divideokity.
Consequently, we used an expected dividend yielgbaf.

In addition to the assumptions used in the BladkeBxs option-pricing model, we must also estimdf@rfeiture rate to calculate the
stock-based compensation expense for our awardado@eiture rate is based on an analysis of otmadorfeitures. We will continue to
evaluate the appropriateness of the forfeiturebased on actual forfeiture experience, analysegfloyee turnover, and other factors.
Quarterly changes in the estimated forfeiture cate have a significant impact on our stock-bas@dpemsation expense as the cumulative
effect of adjusting the rate is recognized in teeqa the forfeiture estimate is changed.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating &ssumptions related to our stock-based compensati@nprospective basis. As we
continue to accumulate additional data relatedutocommon stock, we may have refinements to oumasts, which could materially impact
our future stock-based compensation expense.

Warrants

Warrants to purchase shares of our convertibleepred stock are classified as a liability on ounsmlidated balance sheets at fair value.
The fair value of the warrants is estimated usimgption-valuation model at each reporting datee &hange in fair value of the warrants is
then recorded on our consolidated statements ohtipas as other expense. We use management judgonestimate the fair value of these
warrants, and these estimates could differ siggnifily in the future.

The fair value of the warrants was recorded asraantliability upon issuance. Changes in the ¥aiue of the warrant liability are
reflected in other expense, net. Upon completioounflPO, our preferred stock warrant liability wasmeasured to fair value and any
remaining liability was reclassified into stockhetd’ equity.

During the years ended March 31, 2015, 2014, ai@ 2Pe recognized charges in the amount of $82 %07, million, and $13,000,
respectively, from the remeasurement of the fduevaf the warrants, which we recorded as otheersgp in our consolidated statements of
operations.
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Business Combination

We recognize identifiable assets acquired andliligsi assumed at their acquisition date fair vafBeodwill as of the acquisition date is
measured as the excess of consideration transfeverdhe net of the acquisition date fair valukthe assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. While we use our best estimates and assamps a part of the purchase price allocatiocgss to accurately value assets acquirec
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date estimates are inherently uncertain and subjeftoement. As a result, during the
measurement period, which may be up to one year fh@ acquisition date, we record adjustmentsdasisets acquired and liabilities
assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwithe extent that we identify adjustments to theiminary purchase price allocation. Upon
the conclusion of the measurement period or fie#&anination of the values of assets acquiredatilities assumed, whichever comes first,
any subsequent adjustments are recorded to ouolaated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pfien acquired business over the fair value @itderlying net tangible and
intangible assets. Goodwill is evaluated for impeEnt annually in the third quarter, and whenevenéy or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying value of goodwill may not be recovégaliriggering events that may indicate impairmieoctude, but are not limited to, a
significant adverse change in customer demand sinbss climate that could affect the value of galidw a significant decrease in expected
cash flows.

Intangible assets consist of identifiable intangiassets, primarily developed technology, resuftiogn our acquisitions. Acquired
intangible assets are recorded at cost, net ofnawledied amortization. Intangible assets are aneatton a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Long-lived assets, inclgdimangible assets, are reviewed for impairmergméver events or changes in circumstance
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset nw\be recoverable.

Software Development Costs

We capitalize certain development costs incurrezbimection with our internal use software and Witeb¥hese capitalized costs are
primarily related to our software analytics todiattare hosted by us and accessed by our customarsubscription basis. Costs incurred it
preliminary stages of development are expensedcasred. Once an application has reached the dawvelot stage, internal and external costs
if direct and incremental, are capitalized untd goftware is substantially complete and readytéantended use. Capitalization ceases upon
completion of all substantial testing. We also tajzie costs related to specific upgrades and er@mants when it is probable the expenditure
will result in additional features and functiongliMaintenance costs are expensed as incurrednéitese software is amortized on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life, gengrditee years.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeeskd on the differences between financial regpaimd the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the tax ratasufill be in effect when the differences are expéddo reverse. Future tax benefits are
recognized to the extent that realization of sushdfits is considered to be more likely than notaduation allowance is provided on deferred
tax assets if it is determined that it is moreljjkthan not that the deferred tax asset will notdeized. We have considered our future
anticipated market growth, historical and forecdigarnings, future taxable income and the mix afiegs in the jurisdictions in which we
operate along with prudent, feasible and permiegs#ot planning strategies in determining the extemthich our deferred tax assets may be
realizable. Projections inherently include a lesfelincertainty that could result in lower or higlilean expected future taxable income. When
we determine that the deferred tax assets for wihiefe is currently a valuation allowance would&aized in the
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future, the related valuation allowance will beueeld and a benefit to operations will be recor@@mhversely, if we were to make a
determination that we will not be able to realizgostion of our net deferred tax assets in therufusing the “more likely than not” criteria),
we would record an adjustment to our valuationvedince and a charge to operations in the periochinolwsuch determination is made.

We use a two-step approach to recognizing and miegsuncertain tax positions. The first step i®t@luate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of availalevidence indicates it is more likely than natttthe position will be sustained on audit,
including resolution of related appeals or litigatiprocesses, if any. The second step is to mettsaitax benefit as the largest amount which i
more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimaéttlement. We consider many factors when evatpand estimating tax positions and
benefits, which may require periodic adjustmentahich may not accurately forecast actual outcomésdo not have any unrecognized tax
benefits. If interest and penalties related to cogmized tax benefits were incurred, such amountddvbe included in our provision for inco
taxes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrépar FASB, issued Accounting Standards UpdatetZH, Revenue from Contrac
with Customers related to the recognition and reporting of raxethat establishes a comprehensive new revenagmnigion model designed
depict the transfer of goods or services to a cnstan an amount that reflects the consideratienetfitity expects to receive in exchange for
those goods or services. The guidance allows foutie of either the full or modified retrospectiransition method, and the standard will be
effective for us in our fiscal year beginning Aptil2017; early adoption is not permitted. On AgAl 2015, the FASB issued for public
comment a proposed Accounting Standards Update JA&W would defer the effective date of the neweraie recognition standard by one
year. We are currently evaluating the impact of titew standard will have on our consolidated firerstatements, as well as which transit
method we intend to use.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate No. 2014-1Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern
(Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties aban Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going ConceiThe Update is intended to define
management’s responsibility to evaluate whethertiesubstantial doubt about an organization’stglid continue as a going concern and to
provide related footnote disclosures. The standdltde effective for us in the fiscal year begingiApril 1, 2016; early adoption is permitted.
We are currently evaluating the impact of this re#andard on our disclosures within the notes tatmsolidated financial statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our subscription agreements are primarily denoraohat U.S. dollars. A portion of our operating expes are incurred outside the
United States and are denominated in foreign caresrand subject to fluctuations due to changésréign currency exchange rates,
particularly changes in the Euro. Additionally,dtuations in foreign currency exchange rates mageas to recognize transaction gains and
losses in our statements of operations. To dateigio currency transaction gains and losses hawvbea®n material to our financial statements,
and we have not engaged in any foreign currencgihgdransactions. As our international operatigrav, we will continue to reassess our
approach to managing the risks relating to fluetuestin currency rates. The effect of a hypothétl€86 change in foreign currency exchange
rates applicable to our business would not havatzmal impact on our historical consolidated ficiahstatements.

Interest Rate Risl

We had cash and cash equivalents of $105.3 mil§it8,5 million, and $57.1 million as of March 3015, 2014, and 2013, respectively,
consisting of bank deposits, money market funddificates of deposit, and commercial paper. Thetrest-earning instruments carry a
degree of interest rate risk. To date, fluctuations
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our interest income have not been significant. W§e had no outstanding debt for any of the perm@sented. We have an agreement to
maintain cash balances at a financial institutibnmless than $4.6 million as collateral for tvettérs of credit in favor of our landlords. The
letters of credit carry a fixed interest rate of.1%

We had short-term investments of $95.5 million &larch 31, 2015, consisting of commercial paperporate notes and bonds, U.S.
treasury securities, and U.S. agency securitiesir®estments in marketable securities are madedpital preservation purposes. We do not
enter into investments for trading or speculativgppses and have not used any derivative finam@&iuments to manage our interest rate risk
exposure. Due to the short-term nature of thesesimvents, we have not been exposed to, nor do tiogpate being exposed to, material risks
due to changes in interest rates.

A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates duging of the periods presented would not have hadtanml impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefi@ct on our business, financial condition, @ules of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
New Relic, Inc.
San Francisco, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of New Relic, Inc. and subsidiaries ‘{@wnpany”)as of March 31, 201
and 2014, and the related consolidated stateménfseoations, comprehensive loss, convertible prefestock and stockholders’ equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the threergeaa the period ended March 31, 2015. These filmhstatements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these consolidated financiastants based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheotisolidated financial statements are free
of material misstatement. The Company is not reguio have, nor were we engaged to perform, an afiids internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéinal control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tingpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveiéshe Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes examining, omst basis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, aisgp¥e accounting principles used and signifiesiimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@maWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, timaricial position of New Relic, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of March 31, 2015 and 2014, andethdts of their operations and their cash floarsefach of the three years in the period e
March 31, 2015, in conformity with accounting pifles generally accepted in the United States oEAca.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California

May 28, 2015
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NEW RELIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ftitounts of $282 and $84, respectiv
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Restricted cas

Goodwill

Intangible assets, n

Other asset

Total asset
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockltolders’ equity (deficit)

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensation and bene
Other current liabilitie:
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent, nc-current
Other liabilities, no-current

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Convertible preferred stoc

Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; @0,$hares and 22,323 shares authorized at Mar@035
and March 31, 2014; no shares and 21,357 sharesdissd outstanding at March 31, 2015 and Marc

2014;
Stockholder' equity (deficit):

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 and 4%0@€es authorized at March 31, 2015 and March 31,
2014; 47,377 shares and 16,063 shares issued ah&r 2015 and March 31, 2014; and 47,117 shares

and 15,803 shares outstanding at March 31, 201%/anch 31, 2014

Treasury stoc—at cost (260 share
Additional paic¢in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive incc
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholder equity (deficit)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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March 31,

2015 2014
$ 105,25 $ 19,45:

95,50: —
13,81: 5,53:
4,29¢ 2,491
218,87: 27,47¢
35,391 20,18:
4,62: 5,601

2,05: —

2,30( —
1,46¢€ 1,94¢
$ 264,71 $ 55,20¢
$ 4,96¢ $ 4,10¢
6,28¢ 2,82
3,62: 2,16(
29,18t 10,35¢
44,06t 19,45(
4,63¢ 3,60¢
1,13¢ 90C
49,84 23,95¢
— 95,91
47 16
(269) (269)
346,67 17,03

15 —
(131,600 (81,457
214,87( (64,669
$264,71: $ 55,20¢
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Revenue

Cost of revenu
Gross profit

Operating expense
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administratiy

Total operating expens

Loss from operation

Other income (expense
Interest incom
Interest expens
Other expense, n
Loss before income taxi
Benefit from income taxe
Net loss

NEW RELIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs|dasic and dilute

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loshaee attributable to common stockholders,

basic and dilute

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013

$110,39° $63,17¢  $ 29,66
21,80: 10,78( 5,07¢

88,58¢ 52,30t 24,58¢
24,02 16,49¢ 8,56¢
89,16: 58,15¢ 28,36¢
25,31¢ 17,17¢ 10,05:
138,50! 91,83( 46,98
(49,916) (39,43¢) (22,39
17€ 16 9
(104) (64) (48)
(390) (742) (108)
(50,232 (40,225) (22,547
(89 — —
$(50,149  $(40,229)  $(22,54)
$ (199 $ (259 $ (1.49
25,29( 15,59¢ 15,09¢
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NEW RELIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Net loss $(50,149)  $(40,22f)  $(22,54)
Other comprehensive income
Unrealized gain on availal-for-sale securities, net of ti 15 — —
Comprehensive los: $(50,139  $(40,22f)  $(22,54)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEW RELIC, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Convertible Preferred Stock

Shares

Amount

(In thousands)

Common Stock  Additional

Paid-In

Shares Amount Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

Treasruy Stock

Shares  Amount Income

Total
Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit)

Accumulated

Deficit

Balances at March 31,
2012
Issuance of Series E
convertible
preferred stock—
net of issuance cc
of $233
Issuance of commol
stock upon
exercise of stock
options —
Vesting of early
exercised option —
Stock-based
compensation
expense —
Net loss —

17,91(

3,443

$ 36,15(

59,761

1525 $ 15 $ 1,207

504 1 254

— — 12

8,76¢

26C $ (269 $ —

$ (1868) $  (17,73)

— 25¢
— 12

8,76¢

(22,54) (22,547)

Balances at March 31,
2013
Issuance of common
stock upon
exercise of stock
options —
Issuance of restricte
stock awards
subject to vestin —
Stock-based
compensation
expense —
Net loss —

21,351

$ 95,911

15,75¢ $ 16 $ 10,23¢

294

6,50¢

26C $ (269 $ —

$ (41,22 $ (31,239

— 294

6,50¢

(40,229 (40,229

Balances at March 31,
2014
Issuance of Series F
convertible
preferred stock—
net of issuance cc
of $2,757
Conversion of
convertible
preferred stock to
common stock
upon initial public
offering
Reclassification o
preferred stock
warrant liabilities
into additional
paic-in capital —
Issuance of common
stock upon
exercise of
warrants —
Issuance of commol
stock upon initial
public offering—
net of offering
costs of $3,06! —
Issuance of common
stock for
acquisition of Few
Ducks, S.L. —

21,357

3,45¢

(24,815

$ 95,91"

97,24:

(193,16()

16,060 $ 16 $ 17,03t

24,88¢ 25 193,13

912

5,75( 6 119,91t

10€ — 1,627

26C $ (269 $ —

$ (8145) $  (64,66Y

— 193,16(

— 912

— 119,92

— 1,627



Issuance of commol
stock for
acquisition of Few
Ducks, S.L.—
Escrow Share — — — — 18¢€ — — — — 18¢€

Issuance of commc
stock upon
exercise of stock
options — — 49(C — 1,20¢ — — — — 1,20¢

Issuance of restricte
stock awards

subject to vestin — — 4C — — — — — — —
Stock-based

compensation

expense — — — — 12,64¢ — — — — 12,64¢
Other comprehensiv

income, ne — — — — — — — 15 — 15
Net loss — — — — — — — — (50,149 (50,149

Balances at March 31,
2015 —  $ — 47377 $ 47 $346,67: 26C $ (269 $ 15 $ (131,600 $ 214,87(

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

64



Table of Contents

NEW RELIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss:
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensation expel
Deferred ta»
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrartiligy
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqtiisition of busines
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensation and benefits and other lias|
Deferred revenu
Deferred ren

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipir

Down payment for property and equipm

Acquisition of Few Ducks, S.L., net of cash acad
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢

Purchases of shiterm investment

Proceeds from sale and maturity of s-term investment
Capitalized software development cc

Net cash used in investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuances of preferred stock, nissofnce cosl
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issga cost:
Principal payments on de

Proceeds from issuance of common st

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe

Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for intere:

Noncash investing and financing activiti

Issuance of common stock for the acquisition of Baweks, S.L

Conversion and net exercise of preferred stockams

Net exercise of preferred stock warrants in conarawith the initial public offering
Issuance of Series D warrants in connection witilifa lease

Vesting of early exercised optio

Property and equipment purchased but not pai

Accrued initial public offering cost

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended March 31,
2015 2014 2013

$ (50,149  $(40,225)  $(22,547)

9,04« 4,53¢ 1,91¢
11,66¢ 6,22( 8,68¢
(422) — —
82 71¢ 13
37¢ 22F 125
(8,565) (3,036) (1,285)
(1,449) (754) (797)
1,017 2,28¢ 701
4,79( 2,06¢ 1,19¢
18,94¢ 5,38¢ 2,77¢
1,04¢ 1,86¢ 2,00¢
(13,627) (20,719 (7,200)
(12,629 (9,75¢) (5,69¢)
— (1,269) —
(2,262) — —
97¢ (1,007) (4,600)
(114,46¢) — —
18,71" — —
(9,017 (5,199 (2,879

(118,68)  (17,22)  (13,17)

97,24 — 59,76
119,92 — —
7)) — —
1,20¢ 294 25¢
218,10 294 60,02:
85,80 (37,640 39,65
19,45: 57,09 17,44

$ 105,25 $ 19,45 $ 57,09¢

$ 91 $ 52 $ 66
$ 1,82¢ $ — $ —
$ 632 $ — $ —
$ 28C $ — $ —
$ — $ — $ 1C
$ — $ — $ 12
$ 464 $ 61c¢ $ 1,47¢
$ — $ 237 $ —
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NEW RELIC, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Summary of SignificanAccounting Policies

Description of Business—New Relic, Inc. (the “Company” or “New Relic”) wascorporated in Delaware on February 20, 2008. The
Company is a software-assa+vice provider of software analytics productsclifdllow users to monitor software performance WMET, Jave
JavaScript, Node.js, PHP, Python, and Ruby appicatdeployed in a cloud or in a data center. Nehck software analytics products enable
developers and operation teams to monitor, trohblets and optimize their applications.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidatior—The consolidated financial statements includesitmounts of New Relic and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. These consolidated financtsients have been prepared in accordance witkedJ8tates generally accepted accountin
principles, or GAAP. All intercompany balances d@rahsactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions—The functional currency of the Company’s foreigihsidiaries is the U.S. dollar.
The Company translates all monetary assets aniitiefdenominated in foreign currencies into Ud8llars using the exchange rates in effect
at the balance sheet dates and other assets hititids using historical exchange rates.

Foreign currency denominated revenue and expersestieen reneasured using the average exchange rates in défgng each periot
Foreign currency re-measurement gains and losseshiggen included in other income (expense).

Initial Public Offering —In December 2014, New Relic completed its inifiablic offering, or IPO, in which the Company isdwend
sold 5,750,000 shares of common stock at a puffliciog price of $23.00 per share. The Companyivetkaggregate proceeds
of approximately $123.0 million from the sale ofsts of common stock, net of underwriters’ discewamd commissions, but before deductin
offering expenses of approximately $3.1 million.

The sale of common stock in the IPO triggered teahted average anti-dilution provisions set fantthe Company’s amended and
restated certificate of incorporation. At the IP@e of $23.00 per share, the per share conversimrfor the Company’s Series F convertible
preferred stock into common stock was approximately02. The conversion rate for the Comparyéries A, Series B, Series C, Series D,
Series E convertible preferred stock was 1:1. Aesalt of the IPO, the 24,813,343 shares of the [@my's convertible preferred stock
outstanding automatically converted into 24,885,3l78res of the Company’s common stock.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of the Company’s consolidatednfoia statements in conformity with GAAP requireamagement
to make estimates and assumptions that affeceff@ted amounts of assets and liabilities andasce of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdstlae reported amounts of income and expensesgitiné reporting period. Significant items
subject to such estimates and assumptions inchelair value of the Company’s common and prefestedk and share-based awards, fair
value of the preferred stock warrant liability rfaalue of purchased intangible assets and gogdvediful lives of purchased intangible assets,
unrecognized tax benefits, and the capitalizatiwh@stimated useful life of the Company’s softw@degelopment costs. These estimates are
based on information available as of the date @fctinsolidated financial statements; thereforejadecesults could differ from management'’s
estimates.

Segments—The Company’s chief operating decision maker és@hief Executive Officer, who reviews financialdrmation presented
on a consolidated basis, accompanied by informaimut revenue by geographic region. Accordindig, Company has determined that it has
a single reportable segment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investnsawith an original maturity of three months or lass
the date of purchase to be cash and cash equisalent
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Restricted Cash—The Company has an agreement to maintain cashdeala a financial institution as collateral footlgtters of credi
relating to the Company’s property lease.

Short-term Investments—Short-term investments consist of money marketi$ucertificates of deposit, commercial paper, U.S.
treasury securities, U.S. agency securities, angocate debt securities, and are classified adadblaifor-sale securities. The Company has
classified its investments as current based omalgre of the investments and their availabilitydee in current operations. Available-for-sale
securities are carried at fair value with unrealigains and losses reported as a component of atatau other comprehensive loss, while
realized gains and losses and other-than-temporggirments are reported within the statement efations. For the periods presented,
realized and unrealized gains and losses on ineegmvere not material. An impairment charge ismed in the consolidated statements of
operations for declines in fair value below thetafsan individual investment that are deemed totber than temporary. The Company
assesses whether a decline in value is temporasdban the length of time that the fair market gdlas been below cost, the severity of the
decline and the intent and ability to hold or #ledl investment. The Company did not identify anyeBtments as other-than-temporarily
impaired as of March 31, 2015. The Company didmaok investments as of March 31, 2014.

Business Combinations—The Company recognizes identifiable assets acqaineldiabilities assumed at their acquisition datevalue.
Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measurethasexcess of consideration transferred over thefrte acquisition date fair values of the
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. WitndéCompany uses its best estimates and assumpsanpart of the purchase price allocatior
process to accurately value assets acquired duititiess assumed at the acquisition date, its es#® are inherently uncertain and subject to
refinement. As a result, during the measuremenbgewhich may be up to one year from the acquisitiate, the Company records
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabisssimed, with the corresponding offset to goodwithe extent that the Company identifies
adjustments to the preliminary purchase price ation. Upon the conclusion of the measurement desidinal determination of the values of
assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichewetes first, any subsequent adjustments are receodbe Companyg consolidated stateme
of operations. There has been no such adjustmeaitMarch 31, 2015.

Property and Equipment —Property and equipment are stated at cost. Degiegiis calculated using the straight-line metbadr the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The Compaay an estimated useful life of two years for eygrerelated computers and software, three
years for other office equipment and -related computer hardware, and five years forifura. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of the lease-term or the estimatecdulbf of the related asset. Down payments forperty and equipment are recorded at cost ar
included in other assets in the accompanying cateteldd balance sheet. Once the corresponding pyomed equipment item has been
received, it will be reclassified to property argigpment and amortized.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability —Freestanding warrants to purchase convertiblemed stock are accounted for as
liability awards and recorded at fair value on tlieitial issuance date and adjusted to fair valieach balance sheet date, with the change in
fair value being recorded in other expense, nearlgpmpletion of the IPO, the Company’s prefertedls warrant liability was rereasured t
fair value and any remaining liability was recldigsl into stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Revenue Recognition—The Company generates revenue from subscriptiserebarrangements that allow customers to access its
products. The Company recognizes revenue whepwldf the following criteria are met:

. There is persuasive evidence of an arranger
. The subscriptions have been or are being providéhet customel
. The amount of fees to be paid by the customexédfor determinable

. The collection is reasonably assur
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Revenue from subscriptidmased arrangements is recognized ratably overoihieactual period, generally from one to twelve thenAll
of the Company’s subscription-based arrangementpraced on a fixed-fee basis.

Deferred Revenue—Deferred revenue consists of billings or paymeetgived in advance of revenue being recognized.Gampany
generally invoices its customers monthly, quartestyannually. Deferred revenue represents the atrthat is expected to be recognized as
revenue within one year of the balance sheet date.

Cost of Revenue—Cost of revenue consists of expenses relatingta center operations, hosting-related costs, payprecessing fees,
depreciation and amortization, consulting costd, salaries and benefits of operations and globstbooer support personnel.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acamts —Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoicedumt, net of
allowances for doubtful accounts. The allowancedfmubtful accounts is based on the Company’s asssgf the collectability of accounts.
The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of leevance for doubtful accounts by considering the af each outstanding invoice and the
collection history of each customer to determinethibr a specific allowance is appropriate. Accouatgivable deemed uncollectable are
charged against the allowance for doubtful accowhisn identified. For all periods presented, thevednce for doubtful accounts activity was
not significant.

Software Development Costs—The Company capitalizes certain development dostsred in connection with its internal use softeva
and website. These capitalized costs are primegigted to its software analytics tools that arstéd by the Company and accessed by its
customers on a subscription basis. Costs incurréaei preliminary stages of development are exgkaséncurred. Once an application has
reached the development stage, internal and extewsts, if direct and incremental, are capitalioetil the software is substantially complete
and ready for its intended use. Capitalization esagpon completion of all substantial testing. Tloenpany also capitalizes costs related to
specific upgrades and enhancements when it is pleliae expenditures will result in additional i@&is and functionality. Maintenance costs
are expensed as incurred. Internal use softwamm@tized on a straight-line basis over its esttatseful life, generally three years. The
Company capitalized $10.0 million, $5.5 million,da$3.0 million in internal use software during fiseal years ended March 31, 2015, 2014,
and 2013, respectively. Included in the capitalidedelopment costs were $1.0 million, $0.3 milliand $0.1 million of stock-based
compensation costs for the fiscal years ended Mat¢l2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Amortimatxpense totaled $3.9 million, $2.1
million, and $1.1 million during the fiscal yeansded March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectiViélg.net book value of capitalized internal
use software as of March 31, 2015 and 2014, wisichdorded in property and equipment on the accowiipg consolidated balance sheets,
was $12.6 million and $6.5 million, respectively.

Deferred Offering Costs—Deferred offering costs, consisting of legal, astiing, outside services, and filing fees relatethe IPO are
capitalized. The deferred offering costs were afégminst proceeds from the IPO upon the effecéissrof the offering. As of March 31, 2015,
the Company had capitalized no costs and, as ofiMat, 2014, $0.2 million of deferred offering costhich are included in other assets in th
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Commissions—Sales and marketing commissions are recognized agpense at the time of the customer order. Sotiesty all of the
effort by the sales and marketing organizatiorxjgeaded through the time of closing the sale.

Advertising Expenses—Advertising is expensed as incurred and is indudesales and marketing in the consolidated stateésnof
operations. Advertising expense was $25.1 milli22.4 million, and $10.0 million for the fiscal ys@nded March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013
respectively.
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Operating Leases—The Company leases office space and a data dentky under operating leases. Certain leaseeagents contain
rent holidays, allowances, and rent escalationipi@vs. The Company recognizes rent expense undérleases on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Lease renewal periods argidered on a lease-by-lease basis in determihm¢etise term.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—Long-lived assets, such as property and equipnaequired intangible assets, and capitalized
software development costs subject to amortizatom reviewed for impairment whenever events ongha in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset may not be recover#flidécumstances require a long-lived asset keetbfor possible impairment, the Company
first compares undiscounted cash flows expectdxtgenerated by the asset to its carrying valubeltarrying value of the long-lived asset is
not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basigmpairment is recognized to the extent thatHreying value exceeds its fair value. Fair
value is determined through various valuation tégpies, including discounted cash flow models, qdotarket values, and third-party
independent appraisals, as considered necessarthe-fiscal years presented, the Company hadmgdired any of its long-lived assets.

Goodwill —Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pfian acquired business over the fair valud®iinderlying net tangible
and intangible assets. Goodwill is evaluated fggaimment annually in the third quarter of the Compa fiscal year, and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carryingevafigoodwill may not be recoverable. Triggeringmeé that may indicate impairment
include, but are not limited to, a significant ackechange in customer demand or business clifmateould affect the value of goodwill or a
significant decrease in expected cash flows. Simzeption through March 31, 2015, the Company dithave any goodwill impairment.

Intangible Assets—Intangible assets consist of identifiable intatgifissets, primarily developed technology, resgitiom the
Company’s acquisitions. Acquired intangible asse¢srecorded at cost, net of accumulated amonizalintangible assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated usefidgiv

Stock-Based Compensatior—The Company estimates the fair value of shareebasards on the date of grant. The value of théqor
of the award that is ultimately expected to vesemgnized as expense over the requisite sereigeds in the statements of operations. The
Company recognizes compensation expense over shi@geeriod of the entire award using the stralgta attribution method. These amou
are reduced by an estimated forfeiture rate. THeifare rate is estimated based on actual cani®ilaxperience and is applied to all share-
based awards. The rate is estimated at the tigeaot and revised, if necessary, in subsequengeeif actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates.

The Company selected the Black-Scholes optionyggioiodel as the method for determining the estichtie value for stock options.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requiresuke of highly subjective and complex assumptiatsch determine the fair value of share
based awards, including the option’s expected &ththe price volatility of the underlying stock.

The authoritative guidance prohibits the recognitidd a deferred tax asset for an excess tax bethafihas not yet been realized. As a
result, the Company will only recognize a benefini stock-based compensation in additional paickpital if an incremental tax benefit is
realized or realizable after all other tax attrdmiturrently available have been utilized.

Compensation expense related to equity instrumesited to nonemployees is recognized as the eigsttyments vest. At each report
date, the Company revalues the fair value and eseperiated to the unvested portion of such nongyaplawards. As a result, compensation
expense related to unvested equity instrumentsdssunonemployees fluctuates as the fair value@fCompany’s common stock fluctuates.
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Fair Value Measurements—The Company defines fair value as the price thatld/be received from selling an asset or paidaodfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between manarticipants at the measurement date. When detieigrthe fair value measurements for
assets and liabilities that are required to berdmbat fair value, the Company considers the graior most advantageous market in which tc
transact and the market-based risk. The Companieagpir value accounting for all financial assaisl liabilities that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statemems recurring basis. The carrying amounts redartehe consolidated financial statements
approximate the fair value for cash and cash edprits, restricted cash, short-term investmentyuaas receivable, accounts payable, and
accrued liabilities, due to their short-term nature

Concentration of Risk—Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisnprily of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, sghrontihvestments, and trade accounts receivableCbigpany invests its excess cash in mone
market funds, certificates of deposit, commercégqr, U.S. treasury securities, U.S. agency séesirand corporate debt securities with majo
financial institutions. Management believes thatfinancial institutions that hold the Company’saéatments are financially sound and,
accordingly, are subject to minimal credit risk.63ustomer accounted for 12% of accounts receiahte March 31, 2015. There were no
customers that represented more than 10% of thep@ay’s accounts receivable balance as of Marcl2@14. In addition, there were no
customers that individually exceeded 10% of the gamy’s revenue during the fiscal years ended Maigt2015, 2014, and 2013.

Income Taxes—The Company accounts for income taxes using thetasd liability method, which requires the redtign of deferred
tax assets and liabilities for the expected futareconsequences of events that have been recdgnidee Company’s financial statements or
tax returns. In addition, deferred tax assetsererded for the future benefit of utilizing net ogoténg losses and research and development
credit carryforwards. Valuation allowances are fed when necessary to reduce deferred tax ass#its amount expected to be realized.

The Company applies the authoritative accountirigance prescribing a threshold and measuremeitiwaérfor the financial recognitic
and measurement of a tax position taken or expeotbd taken in a tax return. The Company recogrliabilities for uncertain tax positions
based on a two-step process. The first step igdluate the tax position for recognition by detarimg if the weight of available evidence
indicates that it is more likely than not that tfasition will be sustained on audit, including fesion of related appeals or litigation processes.
if any. The second step requires the Company tmate and measure the tax liability as the largesbunt that is more likely than not to be
realized upon ultimate settlement.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholdrs —The Company calculates its basic and dilutedoss per share
attributable to common stockholders in conformiiyhvithe two-class method required for companie$ wdrticipating securities. Under the
two-class method, in periods when the Company baginome, net income attributable to common stolddrs is determined by allocating
undistributed earnings, calculated as net incorme derrrent period convertible preferred stock nemdlative dividends, between common
stock and the convertible preferred stock. In catingudiluted net income attributable to common ktadders, undistributed earnings are re-
allocated to reflect the potential impact of ditisecurities. The Company’s basic net loss peaesitiributable to common stockholders is
calculated by dividing the net loss attributabledonmon stockholders by the weighted-average nuwiarares of common stock outstanding
for the period. The diluted net loss per sharébattable to common stockholders is computed byngj\éffect to all potential dilutive common
stock equivalents outstanding for the period. Roppses of this calculation, convertible prefersautk, options to purchase common stock,
and convertible preferred stock warrants are cemsticommon stock equivalents but have been exatlindm the calculation of diluted net
loss per share attributable to common stockholdettheir effect is antidilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsu8p or FASB, issued Accounting Standard:
Update 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Customemslated to the
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recognition and reporting of revenue that establsh comprehensive new revenue recognition modéjaed to depict the transfer of good:
services to a customer in an amount that reflbéet£onsideration the entity expects to receivexahange for those goods or services. The
guidance allows for the use of either the full ardified retrospective transition method, and tledard will be effective for the Company in
its fiscal year beginning April 1, 2017; early atiop is not permitted. On April 29, 2015, the FA&Bued for public comment a proposed
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) that would d#fereffective date of the new revenue recognittandard by one year. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this new staddam its consolidated financial statements, as agllvhich transition method it intends to use

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate No. 2014-1Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern
(Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties aban Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going CongeiThe Update is intended to define
management’s responsibility to evaluate whethertieesubstantial doubt about an organization’Stglid continue as a going concern and to
provide related footnote disclosures. The standadlide effective for the Company in the fiscal yéeeginning April 1, 2016; early adoption is
permitted. The Company is currently evaluatingithpact of this new standard on its disclosures iwithe notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

2. Business Combinatior

On October 6, 2014, the Company completed the sitiqui of Few Ducks, S.L., (“Ducksboard”), a prosicof real-time dashboards for
tracking business metrics from a broad set of appiin sources, pursuant to which the Company aedyaill of the capital stock of Ducksbo
for 121,493 shares of the Company’s common stdokhich 108,234 shares have been issued and up, 269 shares will be released on the
twelve month anniversary of the closing date, a&@ $nillion in cash resulting in an aggregate pnéliary purchase price of $4.2 million. Of
the total purchase price, $2.1 million was allodategoodwill, $2.8 million to identifiable intarige assets, and $0.7 million to net liabilities
assumed. The Company expensed the related acguisasts of $0.2 million in general and adminiségtexpenses. The addition of the
Ducksboard technology complements the Commamigualization expertise and the Company beliéwssl readily expand the sources of di
that are available to customers via the CompangfsaM@re Analytics data cloud. The Company accoufdedhe acquisition of Ducksboard as
a purchase of a business. Goodwill generated fhenatquisition is attributable to expected synarfiiem future growth and potential future
monetization opportunities, and is not deductibletédx purpose. Pro forma revenue and results efadipns have not been presented because
the historical results of Ducksboard were not niakéo our consolidated financial statements in pasiod presented.

In connection with the acquisition, the Company rabsp issue 128,507 shares of its common stock, avigrant date fair value of $1.9
million, to certain employees of Ducksboard, cogéint upon their continuous employment with the Canyp Compensation expense will be
recorded ratably over the respective service pai@®lyears.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company reports assets and liabilities recoadéair value on the Company’s consolidated batasieets based upon the level of
judgment associated with inputs used to measuneftiievalue. The categories are as folloy

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices irvactiarkets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs are quoted prices for similar asaets liabilities in active markets; quoted pricesitlentical assets or liabilities in
markets with insufficient volume or infrequent tsactions (less active markets); or inputs othem theoted prices that are observable for the
assets or liabilities, either directly or indirgcthrough market corroboration, for substantiaig full term of the financial instruments.
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Level 3—Inputs are unobservable inputs based of€tmepany’s own assumptions used to measure assgktmhilities at fair value. The
inputs require significant management judgmentstingtion.

The following tables present information about @@mpany’s financial assets measured at fair vafua eecurring basis as of March 31,
2015 and 2014 based on the three-tier fair valamhihy (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements as o
March 31, 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Description:

Money market fund $56,45¢ $ — $— $ 56,45t

Certificates of depos — 1,80(C — 1,80(C

Commercial pape — 30,28¢ — 30,28¢

Corporate notes and bon — 38,71t — 38,71t

U.S. treasury securitie 50C — — 50C

U.S. government agenci — 33,19¢ — 33,19¢

Restricted ca—money market fund 4,62 — — 4,62:
Total $61,57¢ $104,00: $ — $165,58(
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 65,45¢
Included in sho-term investment $ 95,501
Included in restricted cas $ 4,62:

Fair Value Measurements as o
March 31, 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level & Total

Description:

Money market fund $3,51- $— $— $3,51-

Restricted ca—money market func 5,601 — — 5,601
Total $9,11: $— $— $9,11:
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil $ — $ — $ 83C $ 83C
Included in cash and cash equivale $3,51:
Included in restricted cas $5,601
Included in other liabilities, ne-current $ 83C

There were no transfers between fair value measnelavels during the fiscal year ended March 31,52

Level 3 instruments consist solely of the Compampy&ferred stock warrant liability. Prior to the@pany’s IPO, outstanding warrants to
purchase shares of the Company’s Series A ands3eri@nvertible preferred stock were classifiedthgr liabilities. The initial liability
recorded was adjusted for changes in the fair gatli¢he Company preferred stock warrants during each reportingpdeind was recorded
a component of other (expense) income, net intlitersent of operations. During the fiscal yearseendarch 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, the
Company recognized charges in the amount of $828@@ million, and $13,000, respectively, whichswacorded as other expense in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO and the cosiva of the underlying preferred stock to commturtls, the Companyg warrants t
purchase shares of Series A and Series D convepikferred stock were converted into warrantatalpase shares of the Compangbmmot
stock. The aggregate fair value of these warrgmts the closing of the IPO was $0.9 million whichsweclassified from liabilities to
additional paid-in capital, a component of stockleos’ equity (deficit), and the Company ceasednading any further related
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periodic fair value adjustments. The Company edaihéhe fair values of these warrants using thelBBcholes option-pricing model, based
on the inputs for the estimated fair value of theerlying convertible preferred stock at the vahratneasurement date, the remaining
contractual term of the warrant, risk-free interasés, expected dividend rates and expected lyiati the price of the underlying convertible
preferred stock. These estimates were based oaciivigj assumptions.

Immediately prior to the close of the IPO and aMafch 31, 2014, the Company determined the fdirevaf the outstanding convertible
preferred stock warrants utilizing the followingsamptions:

Prior to Close

of IPO on As of
December 17, March 31,
2014 2014
Remaining contractual term (in years) 0.0- 3.7 4.4-8.4
Risk-free interest rat 0.0-1.4% 1.5-2.5%
Volatility 45% 50%

Dividend yield — —

The above assumptions were determined as follows:

Remaining Contractual Term-The remaining contractual term represented the fimm the date of the valuation to the expiratiéthe
warrant.

Risk-Free Interest Rate-The riskfree interest rate was based on the U.S. Treaseiy in effect as of December 17, 2014 and Marcl
2014, and for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes mturities approximately equal to the term of trernant.

Volatility —The volatility was derived from historical volatiés of several unrelated publicly listed peer pamies over a period
approximately equal to the term of the warrant beeaghe Company had limited information on the tili@haof the preferred stock since there
was no trading history. When making the selectmfiadustry peer companies to be used in the \lityatialculation, the Company considered
the size, operational, and economic similaritiehtoCompany’s principle business operations.

Dividend Yield—The expected dividend assumption was based o@dhgany’s expectations about its dividend policy.

The warrant to purchase shares of the CompanyissSBrconvertible preferred stock was automaticadlyyexercised for an aggregate of
12,193 shares of common stock upon closing of ragany’s IPO in December 2014.

The warrant to purchase shares of the Comsagiies A convertible preferred stock that waseded into a warrant to purchase shi
of the Company’s common stock was net exercisedricaggregate of 27,573 shares of common stockninaiy 2015.

The following table sets forth a summary of therades in the fair value of the Company’s Level &finial instruments as follows (in
thousands):

Preferred Stock
Warrant Liability

Balance at March 31, 2014 $ 83C
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrartiliey 82
Reclassification of preferred stock warrant lighghk to additional paid-in capital in conjunctioitiwthe

conversion of the convertible preferred stock itdonmon stock upon the closing of the Company’s
IPO (919)
Balance at March 31, 20: $ —
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Gross unrealized gains or losses for cash equitsaserd available-for-sale marketable securitiesf &garch 31, 2015 and 2014 were not
material. As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, there wersecurities that were in an unrealized losstiposior more than 12 months.

The following table classifies the Company’s avalgafor-sale short-term investments by contractoaturities as of March 31, 2015 and
2014 (in thousands):

March 31, March 31,
2015 2014
Due in one year $53,28° $ —
Due in one to two yeal 42,21¢ —
Total $ 95,508 $ —

For certain other financial instruments, includagounts receivable, accounts payable and othegradiabilities, the carrying amounts
approximate their fair value due to the relativeityrt maturity of these balances.

4.  Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net, consisted of thevialig (in thousands):

March 31, March 31,
2015 2014

Computers, software, and equipment $ 2,98t $ 1,98:¢
Site operation equipme 6,38: 2,53t
Furniture and fixture 86¢ 494
Leasehold improvemen 20,51 12,35t
Capitalized software development cc 21,40: 11,44«
Total property and equipme 52,15! 28,81
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (16,759 (8,62¢)
Total property and equipment, t $ 35,39° $20,18:

Depreciation and amortization expense relateddpegnty and equipment during the fiscal years emdarcth 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013
was $8.5 million, $4.5 million, and $1.9 milliorespectively.

5.  Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles Asset
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfex fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 are as follgwthousands):

Gooduwill as of March 31, 201 $ —
Goodwill acquirec 2,05
Goodwill as of March 31, 201 $2,05:
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Purchased intangible assets subject to amortizagaf March 31, 2015 consist of the following tfiousands). No purchased intangible
assets were recorded as of March 31, 2014.

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Remaining

Amount Amortization Amount Useful Life

(In years)

Developed technolog $ 2,40( $ (400) $ 2,00( 2.5C

Customer relationshir 10C (25) 75 1.5C

Other intangible asse 30C (75) 22t 1.5C
$ 2,80( $ 500) $ 2,30(

Amortization expense of purchased intangible adeethe fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 was $tillbon. No amortization expense
was recorded for the fiscal years ended March @142nd 2013.

Estimated future amortization expense as of Mafigl2B815 is as follows (in thousands):

2016 $1,00(
2017

90C
2018 40C
2019 and thereaft —

6.  Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities consisted of the follogifin thousands):

As of March 31,

2015 2014
Deferred tax liability $ 91: $ 39z
Accrued liabilities 1,36¢ 1,167
Accrued tax liabilities 34kt —
Deferred ren 301 287
Other 69¢ 314
Total other current liabilitie $3,62: $2,16(

7. Commitments and Contingencie:
Leases—The Company leases office space under non-careaabrating lease agreements, which expire frotd28rough 2023.

Deferred Rent—Certain of the Company’s operating leases conmtih holidays, allowances, and rent escalationipiavs. For these
leases, the Company recognizes the related rexgahse on a straight-line basis over the life efldase from the date the Company takes
possession of the office and records the differdreteeen amounts charged to operations and ampaittsis deferred rent. These rent
holidays, allowances, and rent escalations areideres in determining the straight-line expenskdagecorded over the lease term. As of
March 31, 2015 and 2014, $4.9 million and $3.9iomill respectively, was recorded as deferred rent.

Rent expense, net of sublease income, for operkgasgs was $5.2 million, $4.7 million, and $1.1liom for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Reffiscal years ended March 31, 2015, 2014, an8,2@ht expense was offset by $0.7
million, $0.7 million, and $23,000 of sublease inex respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases as of March 31, 2015 were asifsl{@n thousands):

Years Ending March 31 Operating Lease
2016 $ 5,741
2017 6,267
2018 6,49¢
2019 6,62¢
2020 6,807
Thereafte! 8,13¢
Total minimum future lease paymel $ 40,07¢

Future minimum sublease income under non-cancetgi#eating leases is $34,000 for the fiscal yedimgnMarch 31, 2016.

Purchase Commitments—As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company hadhase commitments of $3.6 million and $0.6 million,
respectively, for specific contractual services.

Legal Proceedings—From time to time, the Company may become involvedarious legal proceedings in the ordinary cewsits
business, and may be subject to third-party infrimgnt claims.

On November 5, 2012, CA, Inc. filed suit againgt @ompany in the United States District Court, &asDistrict of New York for
alleged patent infringement. CA, Inc.’s complaigamst the Company claims that certain aspectseo€ompany’s products infringe certain
patents held by CA, Inc. The case was reassignadchaw judge in March 2014 and a trial date iscootently set. The Company cannot at this
time predict the likely outcome of this proceedorgestimate the amount or range of loss or poskiskethat may arise from it. The Company
has not accrued any loss related to the outcortféotase as of March 31, 2015.

In the normal course of business, the Company rgegegto indemnify third parties with whom it enter® contractual relationships,
including customers, lessors, and parties to dthesactions with the Company, with respect toabennatters. The Company has agreed, t
certain conditions, to hold these third partieslass against specified losses, such as those@fisim a breach of representations or
covenants, other third-party claims that the Comjmproducts when used for their intended purpodesge the intellectual property rights
such other third parties, or other claims maderegaiertain parties. To date, the Company hasneatied any costs as a result of such
obligations and has not accrued any liabilitieatesd to such obligations in the consolidated fiiaratatements. In addition, the Company
indemnifies its officers, directors, and certaity keenployees while they are serving in good faitthiir respective capacities. The Company
does not currently believe there is a reasonaldsipitity that a loss may have been incurred utidese indemnification obligations. To date,
there have been no claims under any such inderatidit provisions.

8. Convertible Preferred Stock
As of the March 31, 2014, the Company’s outstandmgyertible preferred stock consisted of the fsilg (in thousands):

Shares Authorizec Shares Issued and Outstandir Liquidation Preference

Series A 7,02¢ 7,00(C $ 3,50(
Series B 6,492 6,492 7,94(
Series C 2,852 2,852 9,94:
Series C 1,64: 1,56¢ 15,00(
Series E 4,30¢ 3,44 60,00(
22,32 21,35; $ 96,38:
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In April 2014, the Company sold 3,456,140 shareSarfes F convertible preferred stock (“Seriesdt"a price of $28.93 per share,
receiving net proceeds of $97.2 million. Holdershef Company’s Series F voted together with thelérsl of the Company’s common stock
and convertible preferred stock, with each shar@asfes F having a number of votes equal to thebeurof shares of common stock issuable
upon the conversion of each share of Series Flitualation event, holders of Series F were eatitio receive, ratably with the Series E
convertible preferred stock and in preference ¢ohtblders of all other classes of convertible prefitstock, an amount equal to the original
issuance price of the Series F plus any declaredrpaid dividends. The holders of Series F haditite to convert, at any time, into shares of
common stock at an initial conversion ratio of kdbject to adjustment based on antidilution ptadacand all outstanding Series F would
automatically convert into shares of common stocthe event that (i) the holders of a majority ofstanding Series F consent to conversio
(ii) immediately prior to the closing of a qualiidPO. The sale of common stock in the IPO trigdehe weighted average anti-dilution
provisions set forth in the Company’s amended &sthted certificate of incorporation. At the IP@erof $23.00 per share, the per share
conversion rate for the Company’s Series F corblerpreferred stock into common stock was approtéiga.:1.02.

Upon the completion of the IPO, all outstandingwaatible preferred stock was converted into 24,888,shares of common stock and
the Company’s certificate of incorporation was adeshand restated to authorize the Company to E31880,000 shares of preferred stock
with a par value of $0.001 per share.

Convertible preferred stock immediately prior te tonversion into common stock consisted of thieviohg (in thousands):

Shares Authorizec Shares Issued and Outstandir Liquidation Preference

Series A 7,02¢ 7,00( $ 3,50(
Series B 6,49: 6,49: 7,94(
Series C 2,852 2,852 9,94:
Series C 1,64:% 1,56¢€ 15,00(
Series E 3,441 3,44 60,00(
Series F 3,50( 3,45¢€ 100,00(
24,96 24,81 $ 196,38:

9. Stock Transactions

In February 2013, certain of the Company’s existinggstors conducted a tender offer to acquire@pprately 862,000 shares of
outstanding common stock from employees and otkistieg common stockholders at a purchase pricgl@f4089 per share. As a result of
this transaction, the Company recorded a total7d® $illion in sharebased compensation expense for the difference beatite price paid ar
the estimated fair market value on the date ofrdmesaction. Of the total share-based compensaikipanse, the Company recorded $0.2
million, $1.4 million, $1.8 million, and $3.9 mitin in cost of revenue, research and developmeet aad marketing, and general and
administrative expenses, respectively, for theafigear ended March 31, 2013.

In August 2013 and December 2013, certain of the@my’s existing investors acquired approximately,800 shares of outstanding
common stock from employees and a former employeaeparchase price of $17.4089 per share. As dtréiset Company recorded a total of
$2.4 million in shardsased compensation expense for the difference battine price paid and the estimated fair marketevah the date of tl
transaction. Of the total share-based compensatpanse, the Company recorded $0.8 million, $0I2omj and $1.4 million in research and
development, sales and marketing, and general @méhistrative expenses, respectively, for the fiyeamr ended March 31, 2014.

In connection with these tender offers, the Compaaived any rights of first refusal or other trarsfestrictions applicable to such
shares.
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10. Common Stock and Stockholder Equity (Deficit)

Common stock reserved for issuance-The Company had reserved shares of common stoduttoe issuance as follows (in
thousands):

As of March 31,

2015 2014
Conversion of preferred stock — 21,35}
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s — 49
Common stock options outstandi 9,42 6,92:
RSUs outstandin 728 —
Common stock reserved for issuance in connectioim agquisitior 12¢
Available for future stock option and RSU gra 5,14¢ 29¢
Available for future employee stock purchase plaarals 1,00( —

16,42: 28,62

Common stock authorized—Upon the completion of the IPO, the Company’sifieate of incorporation was amended and restaied t
increase the amount of common stock authorizeg$arance from 55,000,000 to 100,000,000 commoreshwith a par value of $0.001 per
share.

Employee Stock Purchase Plar-The Company’s board of directors adopted, andCin@pany’s stockholders approved, the Compsany
2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, wieicanhe effective in December 2014. The ESPP initraberved and authorized the
issuance of up to 1,000,000 shares of common stdekESPP provides that the number of shares mdamvd available for issuance under the
ESPP will automatically increase each April, begigron April 1, 2015, by the lesser of 500,000 skaf % of the number of the Company’s
common stock shares issued and outstanding omtinediately preceding March 31, or such lesser numibghares as determined by the
Company’s board of directors. For the year endecchal, 2015, there were no offering periods.

2008 Equity Incentive Plan—The Company’s board of directors adopted the ZBf&ity Incentive Plan, or the 2008 Plan, in Febyuar
2008. The 2008 Plan was terminated in connectidh the Company’s IPO, and accordingly, no shareswgailable for future issuance under
this plan. The 2008 Plan continues to govern ontktey awards granted thereunder.

2014 Equity Incentive Plan—The Company’s board of directors adopted, andCivapany’s stockholders approved, the Company’s
2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2014 Plan, whiebame effective in December 2014. The 2014 Riares as the successor to the
Company’s 2008 Plan. The 2014 Plan initially resedrand authorized the issuance of 5,000,000 sbatee Company’s common stock.
Additionally, shares not issued or subject to @utding grants under the 2008 Plan upon its termoindtecame available under the 2014 Plan,
resulting in a total of 5,184,878 available shameder the 2014 Plan as of the effective date oR€e! Plan. Pursuant to the terms of the 2014
Plan, any shares subject to outstanding stock mptio other stock awards under the 2008 Plan ihexgire or terminate for any reason prio
exercise or settlement, (ii) are forfeited becanfshe failure to meet a contingency or conditiequired to vest such shares or otherwise retur
to the Company or (iii) are reacquired, withheldrfot issued) to satisfy a tax withholding obligatin connection with an award or to satisfy
the purchase price or exercise price of a stockdweill become available for issuance pursuargwards granted under the 2014 Plan. The
2014 Plan provides that the number of shares redeamd available for issuance under the plan wibhmatically increase each April 1,
beginning on April 1, 2015, by 5% of the outstampitumber of shares of the Company’s common stoakeshissued and outstanding on the
immediately preceding March 31, or such lesser rermbshares as determined by the Company boatitesftors. As of March 31, 2015,
there were 5,148,501 shares available for issuander the 2014 Plan.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stoption and RSU award activities for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2015 (in
thousands, except per share information):

Options Outstanding RSUs Outstanding
Weightec- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Weighted- Remaining Average Remaining
Contractual Grant Contractual
Average Date
Number Exercise Term Aggregate Number Fair Term Aggregate
of Share: Price (in years) Intrinsic Value of Share: Value (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding—April 1, 2014 6,92 $ 4.8¢ — $ —
Stock options grante 3,59¢ 19.0¢
RSU grantec 13 23.8¢
Stock options exercise (490) 2.47
Stock options
canceled/forfeite: (60€) 10.0z
RSU canceled/forfeite (10) 23.0C
Outstandin—March 31, 201! 9,42: $ 10.0¢ 7.€ $ 231,96 723 $ 238 3.t $ 25,09¢
Options vested and expectec
ves— March 31, 201! 8,37¢ $ 9.5¢ 7.8 $ 210,77:
Options vested and exercise—
March 31, 201! 4,15 $ 4.12 6.7 $ 126,98¢
RSUs expected to vest— March 31,
2015 63¢ $ 23.6( 3.t $ 22,15¢

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of oystigranted during the fiscal years ended Marct2315, 2014, and 2013 was $9.20,
$6.42, and $2.04, respectively. Intrinsic valu@ptions exercised during the fiscal years endecc&d, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $8.7
million, $2.1 million, and $2.6 million, respectiye

Aggregate intrinsic value for options and RSUs taunding represents the difference between thengastiock price of the Company’s
common stock and the exercise price of outstandinthe-money awards. The Company’s closing sta@tems reported on the New York
Stock Exchange as of March 31, 2015 was $34.70.

Employee Stock Options Valuation—The Company estimates the fair value of stockamgstion the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. Each of the Black-@ek inputs is subjective and generally requirgsificant judgments to determine. The
assumptions used to estimate the fair value oksiptions granted during the fiscal years endedckl&d, 2015, 2014, and 2013 were as
follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Expected term (years) 5-6 5-6 5-6
Expected volatility 45-51% 47 - 52% 50- 53%
Risk-free interest rat 1.40- 2.01% 0.74- 1.87% 0.67-0.97%

Dividend yield — — —

Fair Value of Common Stock

Prior to its IPO, the fair value of the common &toaaderlying the stock-based awards was deternigegtie Company’s board of
directors. Given the absence of a public tradingketathe Company’s board of directors considenam&rous objective and subjective factors
to determine the fair value of the Company’s comrsitmtk at each meeting at which awards were apfdradeese factors included, but were
not limited to (i) contemporaneous third-party \&lans of common stock; (ii) the rights and prefees of convertible preferred stock relative
to common stock; (iii) the lack of marketability edmmon stock; (iv) developments in the businesd;(®@) the likelihood of achieving a
liquidity event, such as an IPO or sale of the Canyp given prevailing market conditions. Since @mmnpany’s IPO, it has used the market
closing price of its common stock as reported @aNlew York Stock Exchange.
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Risk-Free Interest Rate

The Company bases the risk-free interest rate insth@ Black-Scholes option-pricing model on thelied yield available on U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalentagpdaerm of the options for each option group.

Expected Term

The expected term represents the period that thep@oy’s stock-based awards are expected to beaadiay. The Company bases the
expected term assumption on its historical behasaonbined with estimates of post-vesting holdingquk

Expected Volatility

The Company determines the price volatility fadiased on the historical volatilities of its peesup as the Company did not have
significant trading history for its common stock.

Dividend Yield

The expected dividend assumption is based on thgp@noy’s current expectations about its anticipaieiend policy.

Restricted Stock Awards—During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 &#2the Company granted restricted stock awards
covering an aggregate of 40,000 and 100,000 slodi@smmon stock, respectively, to two board memltgas vest over four years, subject to
the continued service relationship with the Companigecome fully vested upon a change of contreé grant date fair value of the restricted
stock awards was $0.7 million or $16.93 per shack$0.9 million or $9.37 per share for awards grdrduring the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Stock-basegpensation expense recognized related to theseted stock awards was $0.4 million
and $0.2 million for the fiscal years ended Mar@¢h 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company reeegrthe expense using a straight-line
basis over the requisite service periods of therdwa

Stock Options Granted to Nonemployees-During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015, 2@ihd 2013, the Company granted
181,095 shares, 7,000 shares, and 300 sharesgtigsfye to nonemployee consultants and recordecksbased compensation expense of $0.!
million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense-Stock-based compensation expense for both emm@@amee nonemployees was $11.7 million,
$6.2 million, and $8.7 million for the fiscal yeaaded March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respecti@agt of revenue, research and
development, sales and marketing, and general @méhastrative expenses were as follows (in thousgnd

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Cost of revenue $ 591 $ 15¢ $ 21z
Research and developmt 2,05t 1,42t 1,62(
Sales and marketir 5,10¢ 1,372 2,06(
General and administratiy 3,917 3,26 4,79¢
Total stockbased compensation expel $11,66¢ $6,22( $8,68¢
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As of March 31, 2015, unrecognized stock-based emsgtion cost related to outstanding unvested steekds, net of estimated
forfeitures, was $46.4 million, which is expectece recognized over a weighted-average periopmioximately 3.2 years.

11. Income Taxes
The components of loss before incomes taxes d@laws:

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Domestic $(50,03)) $(40,237) $(22,54)
Foreign (209 12 —
Total $(50,23¢) $(40,22%) $(22,54))

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $85f0r the year ended March 31, 2015. This beieférgely attributable to the
deferred benefits associated with the amortizatioBpanish intangible assets and tax effect otitirealized gain on short-term investments,
partially offset with state minimum taxes and fgreincome taxes associated with the Company’s nSrefkerations. The Company continues
to maintain a valuation allowance for its U.S. fied@nd state deferred tax assets. The compongtiie provision for income taxes for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 are as followsh@usands):

Current provision

Federa $—

State —

Foreign 334
Total current provisiol $ 334
Deferred provision

Federal $ 8

State —

Foreign (411
Total deferred provisio (419
Total income tax provisio $ (89

The Company did not record an income tax provisiorhe years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.
A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax redehe Company'’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013

Federal statutory rate 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
Effect of:
State taxes, net of federal bene 1.t 1.7 5.2
Stoclk-based compensatic (4.5 (4.9 (11.9
Research and development cre 1.8 1.¢ 1.2
Valuation allowanct (32.9 (32.7) (29.0

Effective tax rate 0.2% — % — %
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The components of the Company’s net deferred tegtasind liabilities as of March 31, 2015 and 2@dfte as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31,

2015 2014

Deferred tax asset

Accrued expense $ 2,34t $ 1,227

Depreciation and amortizatic 1,29( 694

Net operating loss carryforwar 38,83 24,43¢

Stock based compensati 3,312 96¢

Research and development cre 3,04¢ 1,77(C
Gross deferred tax assi 48,83( 29,08¢
Valuation allowanct (43,710 (26,84
Total deferred tax asse 5,12( 2,24(
Deferred tax liabilities

Prepaid: (1,026 —

Intangibles (85) —

Capitalized research and developrnr (4,08¢) (2,240
Total deferred tax liabilitie (5,199 (2,240
Total net deferred tax assets (liabiliti $ (79 $ —

Recognition of deferred tax assets is appropridtenarealization of such assets is more likely thain Management assesses the avai
positive and negative evidence to estimate if sigfit taxable income will be generated to use iigtiag deferred tax assets. Based upon the
weight of available evidence, which includes thenPany’s historical operating performance and th®. dumulative net losses in all prior
periods, the Company has provided a valuation a@lme against its U.S. deferred tax assets. The @wyigpvaluation allowance increased by
$16.9 million and $13.4 million for the fiscal yeagnded March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

As of March 31, 2015, the Company had U.S. fedmmdl state net operating losses of $112.7 milliah%b4.5 million respectively,
which expire beginning in the year 2028 and 202dpectively. Of these amounts, $6.8 million andl $billion, respectively, represented
federal and state tax deductions from stock-basetpensation which will be recorded as an adjustriteatiditional paid-in capital when they
reduce taxes payable. The Company also has fe@atifiprnia, and Oregon research and developmeulitsrof $1.9 million, $0.6 million, and
$0.5 million, respectively. The federal tax crezhitryforwards will expire beginning in 2028 if natilized. The California tax credit
carryforwards do not expire. The Oregon tax credityforwards will expire beginning in 2015 if natilized.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwarday be subject to a substantial annual limitatioa to the ownership change limitati
provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 nasraled (“Code”), and similar state provisions. @haual limitation may result in the
expiration of net operating losses and credits teefitilization.

Code Section 382 (“Section 382") ownership chargrgegally occurs if one or more stockholders or gsoof stockholders who own at
least 5% of the Company’s stock increase their ogltip by more than 50 percentage points over theiest ownership percentage within a
rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apphder state tax laws. The Company experienced aeiship change in connection with its
Series C convertible preferred stock financing atdber 2010 and determined that none of its netadipg losses or other tax attributes expire
subject to such limitation.

The Company has not provided U.S. income tax otaiceforeign earnings that are deemed to be indefninvested outside the U.S. As
of March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, the amount ofimelated unremitted earnings from the Company'sifm subsidiaries was
approximately $0.1 million, $33,000, and $0,
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respectively. Determination of the amount of ungired deferred U.S. income tax liability is noagtical due to the complexities associated
with the hypothetical calculation.

The Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $1l&m $0.7 million, and $0.6 million as of Mar@1, 2015, 2014 and 2013. As of
March 31, 2015, if recognized, the unrecognizedoiexefit of $1.8 million would affect income taxmense, before consideration of any
valuation allowance. The Company does not expectititecognized tax benefits to change significamilgr the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoefntinrecognized tax benefits was as follows (wugands):

Balance at March 31, 20: $ 33¢
Additions based on tax positions taken during tieent perioc 22¢
Additions based on tax positions taken during tterperiod 30
Reductions based on tax positions taken duringtioe period —

Balance at March 31, 20: 597
Additions based on tax positions taken during tieent perioc 367
Additions based on tax positions taken during tterperiod 46
Reductions based on tax positions taken duringtioe period (279

Balance at March 31, 20: 73t
Additions based on tax positions taken during tieent perioc 1,00¢
Additions based on tax positions taken during tterperiod 84
Reductions based on tax positions taken duringtioe period (2

Balance at March 31, 20: $1,82¢

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiessrbtatunrecognized tax benefits within the incomeexpense line in the consolidated
statement of operations. Accrued interest and gieadlave not been material for the fiscal yeagedrMarch 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8rtain states, Ireland, UK, and Spain. All of the years, from the date of inception,
are open for examination for foreign jurisdictio@arryover attributes beginning March 31, 2008 rienopen to adjustment by the U.S. and
state authorities.

12. Net Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividinglogt by the weighted-average number of common sharnstanding during the period,
less shares subject to repurchase, and excludedilatiye effects of employee share-based awardsiarrants. Diluted net loss per common
share is computed giving effect to all potentidlitive common shares, including common stock iskuapon exercise of stock options, and
unvested restricted common stock. As the Compadynbalosses for the fiscal years ended March 31522014, and 2013, all potential
common shares were determined to be anti-dilufihe. following table sets forth the computation ef loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted (in thousands, xoer share amounts):

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Numerator:
Net loss $(50,149 $(40,22%) $(22,547)
Denominator
Weighted average shares used to compute net loshg@ee attributable to common
stockholder, basic and dilut 25,29( 15,59¢ 15,09¢
Net loss per sha—basic and dilute $ (1.99 $ (2.5¢) $ (149
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The following outstanding options, unvested shamasrants, and convertible preferred stock werdugbad (as common stock
equivalents) from the computation of diluted nessiper common share for the periods presentecmseffect would have been antidilutive (in
thousands):

As of March 31,

2015 2014 2013
Convertible preferred stock — 21,35} 21,35%
Options to purchase common stc 9,42 6,92: 4,49(
Common stock reserved for issuance in connectioim agquisitior 12¢ — —
Restricted stock unit 72% — —
Warrants — 49 49

10,27« 28,32¢ 25,89¢

13. Employee Benefit Plar

The Company has established a 401(k) tax-defeereidgs plan (the “401(k) Plan”), which permits p@pants to make contributions by
salary deduction pursuant to Section 401(k) ofGbde. The Company is responsible for administratogts of the 401(k) Plan and may, at its
discretion, make matching contributions to the &pHlan. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2@1®& Company made contributions of $1.4
million to the 401(k) Plan. No contributions werade to the 401(k) Plan for the fiscal years endedcki 31, 2014 and 2013.

14. Revenue by Geographic Locatiot

The following table shows the Company’s revenug@éggraphic areas, as determined based on theglaliidress of its customers (in
thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 2013
United States $ 73,41¢ $43,90: $21,26¢
EMEA 21,04: 10,82« 4,57:
APAC 8,732 4,57¢ 2,261
Other 7,20( 3,87: 1,56:
Total revenue $110,39: $63,17- $29,66¢

Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived asseere attributable to operations in the UnitedeStas of March 31, 2015 and 2014.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountasion Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has carried out an evaluation thdesupervision and with the participation of otinpipal executive officer and
principal financial officer, of our disclosure coois and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-E5(@)15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchang
Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) &diseoénd of the period covered by this Annual Repor=orm 10-K. Based on such
evaluation, our principal executive officer andngipal financial officer have concluded that aswth date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assutawvel.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

A control system, no matter how well conceived apdrated, can provide only reasonable, not absasgteirance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Because of inhereiitialiions in all control systems, no evaluation ofittols can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues, if any, within an organizatitewve been detected. Accordingly, our disclosurdérotsiand procedures are designed to provid
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the mgigcf our disclosure control system are met asdset forth above, our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have condkd, based on their evaluation as of the end gb¢hied covered by this report, that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effecty@dvide reasonable assurance that the objeativesr disclosure control system were met.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes to our internal control éimancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by Rules 13a-
15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that o@aituring the quarter ended March 31, 2015 that haaterially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

The Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeport of managememstassessment regarding internal control over fiahneporting
or an attestation report of our independent reggdt@ublic accounting firm due to a transition pdrestablished by the rules of the SEC for
newly public companies.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information called for by this item will be detth in our Definitive Proxy Statement for thelZBAnnual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fisgahr ended March 31, 2015, or our Proxy Statenaet is incorporated herein by reference

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information called for by this item will be getth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporatecen by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information called for by this item will be detth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporatecen by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa&ns, and Director Independence

The information called for by this item will be detth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporaterein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information called for by this item will be getth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporatecen by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of thisal Report on Form 10-K:
(1) Consolidated Financial Stateme

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listéderfIndex to Consolidated Financial Statementsier Part Il, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedu

All financial statement schedules have been omlitsthuse they are not required, not applicableprestent in amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or the redunformation is shown in our Consolidated FinahStatements or Notes
thereto.

(3) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibitdrdre filed, furnished or incorporated by refeeeas part of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&if(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedregistrant has duly caused
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its Hdthathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

New Relic, Inc.

Date: May 28, 2015 By: /sl Mark Sachleben
Mark Sachleben
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
and Duly Authorized Signaton

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below copstémid appoints Lewis Cirne and Mark Sachlebeneantl of them, as his or her ti
and lawful attorney-irfact and agent, with full power of substitution aedubstitution, for him or her and in his or hante, place and stead,
any and all capacities, to sign any and all amemdsri® this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file same, with all exhibits thereto, and
other documents in connection therewith, with teeuities and Exchange Commission, granting untbatorneys-in-fact and agents, and
each of them, full power and authority to do andgren each and every act and thing requisite amessary to be done in connection
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposesi@®r she might or could do in person, herebyyiatif and confirming all that said attorneys-in-
fact and agents, or any of them, or their or hisstitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done iby& thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigeed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant in the capecaind on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Lewis Cirne Chief Executive Officer and Director May 28, 2015
Lewis Cirne (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ Mark Sachleben Chief Financial Officer May 28, 2015
Mark Sachleben (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s Peter Fenton Chairman and Director May 28, 2015
Peter Fenton
/sl Peter L.S. Currie Director May 28, 2015
Peter L.S. Currie
/s/ Sarah Friar Director May 28, 2015
Sarah Friar
/s/ Adam Messinger Director May 28, 2015

Adam Messinger

/s/ Dan Scholnick Director May 28, 2015

Dan Scholnick
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Exhibit Index
Incorporated by Reference Filed
Description if Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit File Date Herewith
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe X
Registrant
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regist S-1  333-20007¢ 3.4 November 10, 201
Form of common stock certificate of the Registr: S-1/A  333-20007¢ 4.1 December 1, 201
Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreemenhdya S-1  33320007¢ 4.2 November 10, 201
among the Registrant and certain of its stockhs|d#ated
as of April 17, 2014
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig  S-1/A  33320007¢  10.1 December 1, 2014
and each of its directors and executive offic
2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and refatea S-1/A  33320007¢ 10.2 December 1, 2014
agreements
2014 Equity Incentive Plan and related form agregm S-1/A  333-20007¢  10.3 December 1, 201
2014 Employee Stock Purchase P S-1/A  333-20007¢ 104 December 1, 201
Offer Letter between the Registrant and Chris Cdaked S-1  33320007¢ 10.5 November 10, 201
as of June 14, 201
Offer Letter between the Registrant and Hilarie Kop S-1  33320007¢ 10.6 November 10, 201
McAdams, dated as of November 29, 2C
Offer Letter between the Registrant and Patrick dior S-1  33320007¢ 10.7 November 10, 201
dated as of October 7, 20!
Offer Letter between the Registrant and Mark Sdmhie S-1  33320007¢ 10.8 November 10, 201
dated as of February 4, 20(
Offer Letter between the Registrant and Robin Buecan, S-1/A  33320007¢ 10.9 December 1, 2014
dated as of November 7, 20:
Office Lease by and between the Registrant and3%95 S-1  33320007¢ 10.10 November 10, 201
Oak, LLC, dated as of June 15, 2012, as amer
Office Lease by and between the Registrant andSi&tar S-1  33320007¢ 10.11 November 10, 201
Street LLC, dated as of July 13, 2012, as amer
Form of Change in Control and Severance Agreen S-1/A  333-20007¢ 10.12 December 1, 201
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Description if Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit File Date Herewith
10.13+  New Relic, Inc. No-Employee Director Compensation X
Policy
21.1 List of subsidiaries of Registrat S-1 333-20007¢ 21.1 November 10, 201
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent regix X
public accounting firm
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature pafgihis X
report).
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo X

Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Sectio
302 of the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuao X
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Sectio
302 of the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1(1) Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifipal X
Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section(,35
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxl

Act of 2002.
101.INS  XBRL Instance Documer X
101.SCF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum X
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X
Documenti
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase X
Documenti
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum X
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X
Document

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonyoplarrangemen

(1) The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1amepany this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuarit8&dJ.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062, and shall not be deemed “fildnly the Registrant for purposes of Section 1
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenddtiedExchange Act, and are not to be incorporayecference into any of the
Registrant’s filings under the Securities Act 0B39as amended, or the Exchange Act, irrespecfisaygeneral incorporation language
contained in any such filiny



Exhibit 3.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
NEW RELIC, INC.

L ewis C IRNE hereby certifies that:

ONE: The original name of this corporation is New Relits. and the date of filing the original Certifieaof Incorporation of this
corporation with the Secretary of State of thee&tdtDelaware was February 20, 2008.

TWO: He is the duly elected and acting Chief Executific@r of New Relic, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

THREE: The Certificate of Incorporation of this corporatis hereby amended and restated to read as follows

The name of this corporation is New Relic, Ince(ttCompany”).

The address of the registered office of the Compiautlye State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Stre¢y, @iWilmington, County of New
Castle, Zip Code 19801, and the name of the regibt@gent of this Corporation in the State of Dalanat such address is The Corporation
Trust Company.

The purpose of the Company is to engage in anyulaaett or activity for which a corporation may brganized under the Delaware
General Corporation Law @GCL ™).

V.

A. The Company is authorized to issue two classetookdo be designated, respectivelfGdmmon Stock and “ Preferred Stock”
The total number of shares that the Company isoaizibd to issue is 110,000,000 shares. 100,00G08fks shall be Common Stock, each
having a par value of $0.001. 10,000,000 shardsts®referred Stock, each having a par valueDddChL.

B. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to timene or more series. The Board of Directorseisehy expressly authorized to
provide for the issue of all of any of the sharethe Preferred Stock in one or more series, arfik tihe number of shares and to determine or
alter for each such series, such voting powerkpfulmited, or no voting powers, and such destgpm preferences, and relative, participating,
optional, or other rights and such qualificatidimsjtations, or restrictions thereof, as shall kegesd and expressed in the resolution or
resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors mimg for the issuance of such shares and as mpgioeitted by the DGCL. The Board of
Directors is also expressly authorized to increasgecrease the number of shares of any seriesguibst to the issuance of shares of that
series, but not below the number of shares of sedks then outstanding. In case the number oéstudrany series shall be decreased in
accordance with the foregoing sentence, the sltarestituting such decrease shall resume the dtaditishey had prior to the adoption of the
resolution originally fixing the number of shardssach series.



C. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stoak be increased or decreased (but not below thib@uof shares thereof then
outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holdef& majority of the voting power of the stocktb& Company entitled to vote thereon,
without a separate vote of the holders of the IPredieStock, or of any series thereof, unless a ¥btay such holders is required pursuant ti
terms of any certificate of designation filed witspect to any series of Preferred Stock.

D. Each outstanding share of Common Stock shall eriti# holder thereof to one vote on each mattgrgsly submitted to the
stockholders of the Company for their vote; prodideowever, that, except as otherwise requirecitwy holders of Common Stock shall not
entitled to vote on any amendment to this Certiéiaaf Incorporation (including any certificate afgignation filed with respect to any series of
Preferred Stock) that relates solely to the terfrtne or more outstanding series of Preferred Sifaitie holders of such affected series are
entitled, either separately or together as a dlattsthe holders of one or more other such setiegote thereon by law or pursuant to this
Certificate of Incorporation (including any certéite of designation filed with respect to any seaePreferred Stock).

V.

For the management of the business and for theuobiod the affairs of the Company, and in furthefinition, limitation and regulation
of the powers of the Company, of its directors ahids stockholders or any class thereof, as tlse caay be, it is further provided that:

A. Board of Directors.

1. Generally. The management of the business and the conduoe afftairs of the Company shall be vested in itarBaf
Directors. The number of directors that shall cibatgt the Board of Directors shall be fixed exchaty by resolutions adopted by a majority of
the authorized number of directors constitutingBloard of Directors.

2. Board of Directors.Subject to the rights of the holders of any sesfeBreferred Stock to elect additional directordem
specified circumstances, the directors shall baldd/into three classes designated as Class Is G@lasd Class lll, respectively. The Board of
Directors is authorized to assign members of thar@of Directors already in office to such classethe time the classification becomes
effective. At the first annual meeting of stockhersl following the initial classification, the temf office of the Class | directors shall expire
Class | directors shall be elected for a full teritthree years. At the second annual meeting aksimders following the initial classification,
the term of office of the Class Il directors sheadpire and Class Il directors shall be electedafbull term of three years. At the third annual
meeting of stockholders following the initial cld&sation, the term of office of the Class Il daw@rs shall expire and Class lll directors sha
elected for a full term of three years. At eachceeding annual meeting of stockholders, directbadl be elected for a full term of three years
to succeed the directors of the class whose texpiseeat such annual meeting. Notwithstanding tredoing provision of this section, each
director shall serve until his or her successaiuly elected and qualified or until his or her @artleath, resignation or removal. No decrease i
the number of directors constituting the Board o€Btors shall shorten the term of any incumberdaior.

3. Removal of Directors.Subject to the rights of any series of PreferratiSto elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, neither the Board of Directors myriadividual director may be removed without cauSebject to any limitations imposed by
applicable law, any



individual director or directors may be removedhngause by the affirmative vote of the holders®2@% of the voting power of all then
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Compantigled to vote generally at an election of dioest

4. VacanciesSubject to any limitations imposed by applicable &End subject to the rights of the holders of agyes of Preferred
Stock, any vacancies on the Board of Directorsltiegufrom death, resignation, disqualificationpreval or other causes and any newly cre
directorships resulting from any increase in thmhar of directors, shall, unless the Board of Divexdetermines by resolution that any such
vacancies or newly created directorships shalilleel foy the stockholders and except as otherwiegiged by applicable law, be filled only by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the directdhen in office, even though less than a quorutheBoard of Directors, and not by the
stockholders. Any director elected in accordandé tie preceding sentence shall hold office forrdmainder of the full term of the director
for which the vacancy was created or occurred antifl such director’s successor shall have beerntedeand qualified.

B. Stockholder Actions.No action shall be taken by the stockholders ofGbenpany except at an annual or special meeting of
stockholders called in accordance with the Bylafdszance notice of stockholder nominations for theeon of directors and of business to be
brought by stockholders before any meeting of theldholders of the Company shall be given in themea provided in the Bylaws of the
Company.

C. Bylaws.The Board of Directors is expressly empowered twpgcamend or repeal the Bylaws of the Company. ddhyption,
amendment or repeal of the Bylaws of the CompanthbyBoard of Directors shall require the apprafaed majority of the authorized number
of directors. The stockholders shall also have pawadopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Camppprovided, however, that, in addition
to any vote of the holders of any class or seriestark of the Company required by law or by thext@icate of Incorporation, such action by
stockholders shall require the affirmative votdtaf holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting poefeall of the then-outstanding shares of the
capital stock of the Company entitled to vote galhgin the election of directors, voting togettasra single class.

VI
A. The liability of the directors for monetary damagésall be eliminated to the fullest extent undepliapble law.

B. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable léhne Company is authorized to provide indemnificatdd (and advancement of
expenses to) directors, officers and agents o€tirapany (and any other persons to which applidaiepermits the Company to provide
indemnification) through Bylaw provisions, agreensawith such agents or other persons, vote of siders or disinterested directors or
otherwise in excess of the indemnification and adement otherwise permitted by such applicable laapplicable law is amended after
approval by the stockholders of this Article Viaothorize corporate action further eliminatingioriling the personal liability of directors, th
the liability of a director to the company shallddaminated or limited to the fullest extent pen®it by applicable law as so amended.

C. Any repeal or modification of this Article VI shalhly be prospective and shall not affect the sgittprotections or increase the
liability of any director under this Article VI ieffect at the time of the alleged occurrence of artyor omission to act giving rise to liability or
indemnification.



D. Unless the Company consents in writing to the sieleof an alternative forum, the Court of Chancefyhe State of Delaware shall
be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any defxatction or proceeding brought on behalf of tlen@any; (ii) any action asserting a clairr
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any directofioafr or other employee of the Company to the Camypa the Company’s stockholders;
(iii) any action asserting a claim against the Camypor any director or officer or other employedtaf Company arising pursuant to any
provision of the DGCL, the Amended and Restatedif@ate of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Coamy; or (iv) any action asserting a
claim against the Company or any director or offimeother employee of the Company governed byriteznal affairs doctrine.

VII.

A. The Company reserves the right to amend, altengshar repeal any provision contained in this @eate of Incorporation, in the
manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute,paeprovided in paragraph B. of this Article \Ahd all rights conferred upon the
stockholders herein are granted subject to thisrvesion.

B. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Céctife of Incorporation or any provision of law timaight otherwise permit a lesser
vote or no vote, but in addition to any affirmativate of the holders of any particular class oreseof stock of the Company required by law o
by this Certificate of Incorporation or any cedte of designation filed with respect to a sevieBreferred Stock, the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting powealbbf the then-outstanding shares of capital smfdkhe Company entitled to vote generally in
the election of directors, voting together as gleirtlass, shall be required to alter, amend czakpfrticles V, VI, and VII.

* %k k%
FOUR: This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponatas been duly approved by the Board of Directdithis corporation.
FIVE: This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponatas approved by the holders of the requisitalmer of shares of this
corporation in accordance with Section 228 of tli&dD. This Amended and Restated Certificate of Ipocation has been duly adopted in

accordance with the provisions of Sections 2422kl of the DGCL by the stockholders of this corpiora

N Ew R ELiC , | NC . has caused this Amended and Restated Certificdteofporation to be signed by its President an@{CHExecutive
Officer on December 17, 2014.

New Relic, Inc.

/sl Lewis Cirne
Lewis Cirne
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 10.13

N Ew R ELIC , | NC.
N oN -E mPLOYEE D IRECTOR C OMPENSATION P oLicy
A DOPTED: M AY 6, 2015
E FrECTIVE A PRIL 1, 2015

Each member of the Board of Directors (tHgdard ") of New Relic, Inc. (the ‘Company”) who (A) is a non-employee director of the
Company and (B) is not then affiliated with an igtonal or venture investor of the Company (eaabh member, aNon-Employee Directol
") will receive the compensation described in tn-Employee Director Compensation Policy (thRifector Compensation Policy) for his
or her Board service.

The Director Compensation Policy will be effectag of April 1, 2015 (the Effective Date”’). The Director Compensation Policy may be
amended at any time in the sole discretion of tharB or the Compensation Committee of the Board.

A Non-Employee Director may decline all or any pamtof his or her compensation by giving noticette Company prior to the date cash is tc
be paid or equity awards are to be granted, asabe may be.

Annual Cash Compensation

Commencing at the beginning of the first calendaarter following the Effective Date, each Non-Enyale Director will receive the cash
compensation set forth below for service on ther8oa@he annual cash compensation amounts will lpalga in equal quarterly installments
arrears following the end of each quarter in whitd service occurred, pro-rated for any partial themf service. All annual cash fees are
vested upon payment.

1. Annual Board Service Retain:

a. All Non-Employee Directors: $30,0(

2. Annual Committee Member Service Retai:

a. Member of the Audit Committee: $9,0
b.  Member of the Compensation Committee: $9,
c. Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governarma@ittee: $3,00!
3. Annual Committee Chair Service Retainer (in lielCoimmittee Member Service Retain:
a. Chairman of the Audit Committee: $18,0

b. Chairman of the Compensation Committee: $18

c. Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Govern&mamittee: $6,00

Equity Compensation

Equity awards will be granted under the Compan@$£Equity Incentive Plan or any successor equitgmtive plan (the Plan”). All stock
options granted under this policy will be Nonquelif Stock Options (as defined in the Plan), witeran of ten years from the date of grant anc
an exercise price per share equal to 100% of threMeaket Value (as defined in the Plan) of the eriging common stock of the Company on
the date of grant.



(a) Automatic Equity Grants.

(i) Initial Grant for New Directors. Without any further action of the Board, each perstho, after the Effective Date, is electer
appointed for the first time to be a Non-EmployaeeEtor will automatically, upon the date of hishar initial election or appointment to be a
Non-Employee Director, be granted (A) a Nonstatutaige® Option to purchase a number of shares of comstmck having an Option Value
(as defined below) of $80,000 (thdritial Option Grant ) and (B) restricted stock units RSUs”) with an RSU Value (as defined below) of
$80,000 (the ‘Initial RSU Grant ” and, together with the Initial Option Grant, thénitial Grants "), multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of days that will elapse betwire Non-Employee Director’s date of initial apptaient or election and the first
anniversary of the date of grant of the Companydstmecent Annual Grants (as defined below) andlémominator of which is 365. Each
Initial Option Grant and Initial RSU Grant will viesn August 158hfollowing the first anniversary of the date of grafthe Company’s most
recent Annual Grants, subject to the Non-Employgedior’'s Continuous Service (as defined in thenPtarough such date.

(i) Annual Grant. Without any further action of the Board, at these@f business on the date of each Annual Meetithgwfing
the Effective Date, each person who is then a Bmployee Director will automatically be granted @Nonstatutory Stock Option to purch
a number of shares of common stock having an Optadoe of $80,000 (the Annual Option Grant”) and (B) RSUs with an RSU Value of
$80,000 (the ‘Annual RSU Grant” and, together with the Annual Option Grant, th&rihual Grants”). Each Annual Grant will vest on
August 157 of the calendar year following the year in whiclelsdnnual Grants are made, subject to the Non-Eyegl®irector’s Continuous
Service through such date. Notwithstanding thegoireg, any Non-Employee Director who served onBbard prior to the Effective Date,
shall not be awarded any Annual Grants until therlaf (A) the first Annual Meeting in calendar y&816 and (B) the first Annual Meeting
occurring at least three years following the daighsNon-Employee Director commenced his or heriseron the Board.

(b) Vesting; Change of Control.All vesting is subject to the Non-Employee Dire&dContinuous Service” on each applicable vesting
date. Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting schesiulor each Non-Employee Director who remainsontiuous Service with the Company
until immediately prior to the closing of aChange of Control’ (as defined in the Plan), the shares subjects@hher then-outstanding equity
awards that were granted pursuant to this polidybgicome fully vested immediately prior to thesiltg of such Change of Control.

(c) Calculation of Option Value and Value of a Resicted Stock Unit Award. The “Option Value” of a stock option to be granted
under this policy will be determined using the samethod the Company uses to calculate the graetfdatvalue of stock options in its
financial statements, except that no provisionldfemade for estimated forfeitures related toiserbased vesting. TheRSU Value” of an
RSU award to be granted under this policy will letedmined based on the Fair Market Value per shratbe grant date.

2



(d) Remaining Terms.The remaining terms and conditions of each stotlonwr RSU, including transferability, will be ast forth in

the Companys standard Option Agreement or form of RSU Awarde®gnent, as applicable, in each case in the fooptad from time to tim
by the Board.

Expenses

The Company will reimburse Non-Employee Directardadinary, necessary and reasonable out-of-pdcketl expenses to cover in-person
attendance at and participation in Board and cotemineetinggprovided, that the Non-Employee Director timely submittie Company

appropriate documentation substantiating such esgeeim accordance with the Company’s travel anémsg policy, as in effect from time to
time.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegjion Statement No. 333-201024 on Form S-8uwfreport dated May 28, 2015,
relating to the consolidated financial statememftdaw Relic, Inc. and subsidiaries appearing is #hnnual Report on Form 10-K of New
Relic, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2015.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
May 28, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lewis Cirne, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of New Relic, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céoirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 28, 2015 By: /sl Lewis Cirne

Lewis Cirne
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Sachleben, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of New Relic, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céoirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 28, 2015 By: /sl Mark Sachleben

Mark Sachleben
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lewis Cirne, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $&ctl350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 obérbane®©xley Act of 2002, that th
Annual Report on Form 10-K of New Relic, Inc. faetfiscal year ended March 31, 2015 fully compligth the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 thad information contained in such Annual Repaertfrorm 10-K fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and ltssaf operations of New Relic, Inc.

/sl Lewis Cirne
Lewis Cirne
Chief Executive Office

Date: May 28, 2015 By:

I, Mark Sachleben, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.€ct®n 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@iteabarbane®xley Act of 2002, th:
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of New Relic, Inar. fhe fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 fully caesplvith the requirements of Section 1:
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1884 that information contained in such Annual Repn Form 10-K fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and ltesaf operations of New Relic, Inc.

Date: May 28, 2015 By: /sl Mark Sachleben

Mark Sachleben
Chief Financial Office




